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PREFACE.

To prevent as far as possible the history of Rockton from
being lost to coming generations, has been the chief motive
in writing this book. Aside from the information obtained
from various records, the author is greath' indebted to a num-
ber of old settlers, who have furnished very ma}' facts which
would have been lost to the next generation. To all such the
author would return very grateful thanks, especially so to

V William Halle3% W. F. Packard. Mrs. Jesse Blinn, Seely Perrj-,

Mrs. David Carpenter, Mr. and Mrs. W.F. Merrill, E. J. Chase,
T. M. Coons, Geo. Royden, E. W. Martin, N. B. Kincaid, Mrs.

S. Stevens, J. J. Clover, E. J. Veness, W. H. Farmer, D,

Newell, J. C. Truman, Leonard Thurston and many others.

To gather all this material from a great variety of sources,

has tak(Mi much time and some expense, but it has been un-

dertaken more as a labor of love, than from any pecuniary
benefit the author may derive from the sale of the book.

If the citizens of Rockton and those who have formerly

4ived here appreciate the effort to faithfully preserve the his-

^orj' of the town and its people, the autlior will l)e very thank-

ful.

Respectfull}' sul)niitt(-'d,

Edsox I. Cakk.
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HISTORY OF ROCKTON.

Rockton, one of the northern tiers of townships in Winneba-
go county, Illinois, is beautifully located in the famous Rock
river valley, and unsurpassed foritt fertiiit}" of soil and the in-

telligence and integrity of its inhabitants. Litile was known
of this desirable section of the country, prior to the Black
Hawk war of 1832. After the close of that war in 1833, the men
who had composed the army of some 3,000 soldiers, mainly
drawn from the southern part of the state, ver3^ readil}- ac-

quainted their neighbors of the rich and desirable lands of the
north part of the state, and quite an emigration thereto was
stimulated, and also from the eastern statt s.

Previous to this time this section had o ily been visited by
some enterprising Indian traders, who could See quite a busi-
ness speculation in trafficing with the natives for their rich
products of furs. The best known of these Indian traders in
this vicinit)' was Stephen Mack, who on the advent of the first

white settlers in 1835, lived with his Indian wife with a tribe

of Winnebago Indians in the grove about two miles down the
river, which was sul)se(piently known as Bird's grove, on lands
now owned by Caleb Bentley, Esq., of this town. The remains
of the old fire-places where this tribe was encamj)ed so man\'
j'^ears are still distinctly visible.
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The following paragraph was kindly contributed by Corne-

lius Buckley, Esq., of Beloit, who has made the early history

of Rock river valley a study for years:

"There are excellent reasons for believing that what is now-

called Bird's grove, on the left bank of Rock river, was know^n
to, or at least was visited by white men very early in the 18th

century, and prior to 1720. K. W. Martin informed me that in

1875 he was present and took the dimensions of several old su-

gar maples, which had been felled in the grove, the largest of

which—162 rings from the outer bark—bore evidence of having
been tapped for maple syrup. Several oi tiie trees showed ev-

idence of having been tapped when quite 3 ouiig. The tapping

was done with a chisel and gouge, leaving a cavity near the

heart of the tree which the natural outer growth had covered
and entirely concealed. This cavity was so concealed by an out-

er growth of 162 rings, demonstrating according to the usual
method of reckoning the age of trees, that the chisel and gouge
had been used 162 years prior to 1875, or as long ago as 1713.

Several trees bore similar evidence of age and tapping. Of
course no Indian in these parts as long ago as the first quarter

of last century, possessed such instruments. This could be
easil}^ demonstrated, when we pause to consider that Ft. St.

Louis, now Starved Rock, near Utica, on the Illinois river, v.'as

less than eighty miles distant, and it was occupied as a fortress

as late as 1718, and even later, we can at least intelligent!}^

comprehend how a band of roving Frenchmen may have made
maple sugar there before 1728."

STEPHEN MACK.

Stephen Mack the Indian trader had the honor of being the

first w^hite man who settled in Rockton township, and proba-
bly in Rock river valley. He was born in Poultney, Vermont,
in the month of February, in the latter part of the past century.

He attended Dartmouth college, in New Hampshire, for a time,

but seemed to have left the college before he graduated. He
came west to Detroit with his father's family, soon after the
close of the war of 1812, where his father held some position
under the government, and might havehad some connection
with the fur trade business. Ambitious to start out in life for

liiinself, and prompted by his love of adventure, Stephen Mack
joined a government expedition, around the lakes from De-
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troit to Green Bay. While there he came in contact with some
fur traders, and learning from them that the Rock river coun-

try would be a good place to establish a trading post, he ac-

cordingly struck across the country with an Indian pony, and
arrived on Rock river near the place where Janesville was af-

terwards located. He then followed down the river until he
came to an Indian settlement then known as the Turtle village

near the present Beloit junction. Here he learned of the Indi-

an camp at Bird's grove, and started out to lind it from such
directions as he could gather from the tribe, but taking the

wrong trail he went on down the river until he finally reached

a Pottawatomie village at Grand Detour. Here he located and
for two or three years traded with the Indians there, taking

their furs in exchange for his articles of traffic, and carrying

his merchandise to and from Chicago on the backs of Indian

ponies.

Mack's relation with this tribe was not productive of the

best of feeling; and although he had taken the chief's daught-
er, Ho-no-ne-gah, for his wife, still his life was in danger, be-

cause he refused to sell firearms and liquor to the tribe. Du-
ring one of his trips to Chicago with three of his ponies, a plan

was fully matured to dispose of him on his return and take

possession of his effects. His Indian wife learning of their in-

tentions, was on the lookout for her husband's return, and
meeting him far out from camp, apprised him of his danger.

It was quick work for her to mount one of the ponies, and to-

gether they started out for the Winnebago tribe at Bird's grove,

virhere they were gladly w^elcomed and promised protection.

It became their fu4;ure home for a number of ^''ears.

His Indian wife was a very faithful and devoted w^oman. She
was largely absorbed in the care of her home and children,

save when sickness of the early settlers called for her kind
and skillful care and attention. Then with her supply of na-

ture's remedies which the Great Spirit had so kindly spread
out all around her, she would seek out the afflicted and bring

sunshine and relief to many a suffering one who fell a prey to

the ills of a new^ country. The high tribute of respect to Mack's
Indian wife was genuine and sincere, and although of a dusky
hue, she possessed a noble soul and did all she could to make
those around her comfortable and hapj)}'.

Not onlv in sickness were her many virtues shown in a mark-
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ed degree, but the poor and destitute around her incident to

the struggles of many an early settler, shared of her provisions

in a generous manner. She delighted in doing good. Onl^^ once

\^as she knownto assume the garb of her pale-face sisters, and
then it was by great solicitation; but she felt so ill at ease, and
afraid to make herself conspicuous, she soon laid it aside and
for ever after "was content with the costume of her tribe. Mrs.

Jesse Blinn vsrho was a near neighbor, says of her: 'She was
very skillful in ornamenting her clothing. She made herself

for extra occasions an Indian dress of fine blue broadcloth,

•with a border five inches deep all around it, worked with vari-

ous colored ribbons; her taste in blending colors to have a pleas-

ing effect was very fine, and her needle work almost perfect.

Many articles about her home bore T\dtness of her skillful

handiwork. Being a Pottawatomie, she like her tribe, felt a-

bove the Winnebagoes in skill, and showed much ability in

fashioning many articles of merchandise."

Mrs. Mack's relatives from Grand Detour, often came to visit

her, and on such occasions she would array herself in her best

garments, visit their tents and for a brief time be a child of

nature again. She died in July, 1847, leaving a child about a

year old. She was the mother of eleven children, two of whom
died in infancy.

Mack Avas living in peace and quietude with the Indians

at the breaking out of the Black Hawk war. After the battle

of Stillman Valley, when that renowned chief visited this

tribe to induce them to follow him on his journey northward.

Mack used his influence against such a movement; and
although Black Hawk was very angrj^ with the wdiite trader,

the little tribe remained on their old camping ground, and
the great chief marched on without them.

It is said that the feeling was so strong against Mack during

the visit of Black Hawk, that the chief of the tribe advised him
to go aAvay for a time for personal safety. Accordingly he pri-

vatelj^ went to an island in the river, now known as Webber's
island, where he was supplied with food by his faithful wife

until it w^as safe for him to return. This may bean actual

fact or a romance, but it is given for what it is worth.

In accordance \vith a treaty made with Gen. Scott, in Kock
Island in the fall of 1832, the Indians were to be removed from
the state in 1833, which was officially done b}' the war depart-
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ment at a cost to the government of $50,000. In speaking of

this outlay of government funds, Mack used to say that he
could have done the job for $10,000. Several roving bands of

Indians remained in the state for years afterwards, but they
had no fixed place of abode.

With the indications of a speedy settlement of Rock river

valley, Mack conceived the idea that the bluff at the mouth of

the Pecatonica river would be a good place to locate a town
in view of river navigation, and w^as in correspondence with a

Mr. Bradstreet, of Albany, N. Y., on the advent of the first

white settlers in 1835. It w^as then considered that the Peca-
tonica river was a .navigable stream for one hundred miles
from its mouth, and Rock river one hundred and fifty miles
up into the territorj^ of Wisconsin. With this large* prospect
in view, the mouth of the Pecatonica river was a very desira-

ble location for a town.

Accordingl}^ Mack took possession of this tract of land in

the fall of 1835, and permanently resided there until his death
in 1850. The place took the name of Macktown, which it still

retains, although the once flourishing settlement has entirely

disappeared, save the substantial farm house which he built

there in his lifetime.

Mack had his town platted as he owned all of section twen-
ty-three south of Pecatonica river and sold many lots. In the
height of his prosperit\^ he valued a corner lot near his store

at $1,000. When told that his land was too uneven for a town,
he said "it is far better than Milwaukee."
He established a ferry across Rock river about 1838, and it

was run for a time by William Hulin, who afterwards became
quite a prominent man in the county. This ferry w^as then
bought ])y Jesse Blitin and carried on bjMiim till the building of

the Mack bridge, and licensed under the regulations of the
countj^ commissioners' court, which allowed the ferryman to

charge for wagon and two horses, 621/2 cents; single wagoi/i and
one horse, 37I/2 cents; man and horse, 25 cents; and each foot-

man 6V4 cents. A ferryman w^ho exceeded these charges was
liable to have his license revoked for which he had paid $10.

About 1842-3 Mack built a bridge in the place of the ferr^-,

mostly at his own expense. This w^as the first bridge across

Rock river in the state. After going through various stages
of repairs from damages b}- ice and floods, it was entirely car-
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ried away in the great freshet Sunday morning, June 1st, 1851,

and w^as never rebuilt, as another bridge had been previously

established a inile farther down the river which so changed
the course of travel and Macktow^n w^as left so far to one side

of the road to neighboring tovs^ns that its growth was greatly

retarded. As Rockton with its developed water power began
to grow, Macktown correspondingly began to decline in pros-

perit3^. Many buildings were taken down and moved across

the river to add to the general growth of Rockton.

Mack was a man who had received a good education, and
possessed a large share of executive abilit}^ He took an ac-

tive part in the formation of the new county and its develop-

ment. By Indian treaty stipulation with the government,
half-breed children had a certain amount of land or its equiva-

lent in money. By a settlement with a government cotnmis-

sioner Mack received about $5,000 on account of his chikiren

by an Indian mother. This amount of money at tliat earl}' day
enabled him to employ men and make a good deal of improve-
ment, and to possess himself of a large quantity of land. He
also loaned money to many an early settler to enter his land. At
the time of his death he owned besides his large Macktown
farm, land in section twenty-six, and all of section twentj^-eight

south of the Pecatonica river, amounting in all to about one
thousand acres. On the latter tract he built a house and es-

tablished a dairy farm which was in charge of a man by the

name of Stocker. A son of this man married Mack's daughter
Mary.
Mack kept the first store and was patronized by the first set-

tlers as well as by the Indians, bringing his goods from Chi-

cago on Indian ponies before the advent of wagons. This traf-

fic must have been very remunerating in those earl}' times,

especially so with his Indian customers. In later j^ears he
associated his cousin, Merrill E. Mack, \vith him in his store.

Although Mack had taken his squaw wife under the Indian
form of marriage, but to j:)ut to rest any question of legality

on this point and make his children full heirs-in-law he and
his wife were remarried September 14, 1840, by William Hulin,
justice of the peace.

Mack was elected associate justice in 1819, and held the of-

fice as long as lie lived. He was a]:)pointed the first township
treasurer of the school fund, and at this time Wait Talcott,
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Henr}' O. Brown and William Hallej^ were township trustees.

On the adoption of township orgaization in 1850, Mack was a

candidate for the first supervisor, and was only beaten bj^ a

few votes by his popular rival, Sylvester Talcott.

Some time after the death of his Indian w^ife Mack mar-
ried a Mrs. Daniels, of Harrison, for a second wife. The
marriage was performed in Beloit. He died very suddenly on
the 10th of April, 1850, and was buried on his own farm beside

his Indian wife who had been his faithful companion for so

many years.

Mack had eleven children b}^ his Indian wife, two of whom
died in infancy- The oldest living child was Rose, a mute,
who was sent to the deaf and dumb as3dum at Jacksonville,

She afterwards married a mute and became a teacher there.

Mar3'^ married Charles Stocker.

William married Julia Stocker, sister of Mary's husband, and
had two children before he left Macktown. He assisted in set-

tling up his father's estate and showed considerable business

talent. He carried on a brick 3'ard for a time in Macktown, in

connection with his brother-in-law Charles Stocker.

Louisa attended the Kockford Female Seminary for a time,

but confinement was too much for her free, untamed, nature.

Whenever she took a notion to come home, she would start off

without giving notice, and walk the whole distance. She mar-
ried L. L. Curtis. They now live at Glenn Flora. Chipawa Co.,

Wis.
Thomas and Ed\vard are the names of two other bo3's. There

was one b3^ the name of Henr3% who died in 1847, about nine

3'ears of age.

Matilda and Caroline were the 3^oungest of the famil3\ Car-

oline was but a babe when her mother died, and about four

years of age at the death other father. Matilda had a part of

section twent3'-eight allotted to her on the settlement of her

father's estate. This tract was subsequently platted and is

now known on the assessment book as "Matilda Mack's sub-

division." Shorth' after the settlement-of their father's estate,

the children all left Macktown, some settling in Minnesota and
some in Wisconsin, where the3" now reside.

The remains of Mack and his Indian wife were buried on a

part of his farm and the lot surrounded with a fence. Thirty

vears after ^vhetl the graves were sadh' neglected, the3' were
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removed to the Phillips cemetery, near Harrison by some of

Mack's old friends. The following extract from the Rockton
Herald, of May 21st, 1880, will explain this transaction:

"The remains of Mack and his Indian wife were removed on
Wednesday from where they were buried on the Mack farm

over thirty years ago, and interred in the Phillips cemetery

in district No. 3. The bones were in a good state of preserva-

tion, even the hair and comb of Mrs. Mack were little changed,

but the coffins were so badly decaj^ed as to easily' crumble to

pieces when disturbed. It is intended to ei^ect a suitable stone

to commemorate their remains. A glass bottle vt^as deposited

with the remains containing a printed paper as follows:

"If in the course of time this paper should meet the eye of

any person, be it known that the remains buried here are those

of Stephen Mack and his Indian wife, Ho-no-ne gah.

"Stephen Mack was born in Poultney, Vermont, Februar3^

1799,* and settled in this county about 1822 as an Indian trad-

er, and continued as a resident until his death in 1850. Mrs.

Mack having previously died.

"At the time of Mack's death he owned all of section twen-
ty-three in this township south of the Pecatonica river, and
resided thereon at the time of his death. He was buried not

far from where he lived by the side of his wife on his own
land. Soon after his death, his children sold the land and
went to Minnesota with their mother's friends, and at this

time there are no relatives of Mack here.

"The place where he was first buried being in a large field,

and the land under cultivation over his remains, the under-

signed friends of Mack and his wife in their lifetime, have
moved the remains to this place, and placed a tombstone over

the same. This is done out of respect and friendship for our
departed friends.

"Stephen Mack was the first permanent white inhabitant of

Rock river valley. He was a good citizen, a generous friend,

a gentleman in deportment and an honest man.

J. R. Jewktt,
William Halley,

Rockton, May 19th, 1880. R. H. Comstock."

Henry Lovesee, now of Roscoe, tells when working for Mack

*Soinc think this is not correct, for he must have been from ton to fii'teen years older when
he died than this date would nialie him.
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in the fall of 1837, of taking a load of corn with an ox team to

lake Koshkonong to Thiebeau, an Indian trader, and returning

with a load of furs. There was only one settler on the entire

route. On his return the weather became extremelj^ cold, and
his onl}^ provision some corn bread was frozen so hard that he
had to break it up with a hatchet into small bits and thaw it

<:ut in his moutli. Tired, cold and hungry he arrived at Mack's
late at night.

Here we close the brief life sketch of Stephen Mack. In

man^^ respects he was a remarkable man. Born of sturdj^

New Kngland parentage, cradled among the green hills of the

old Green Mountain state, his youthful spirit struggled for a

larger scope than the narrow environments of his humble
home. What could have prompted a man of his abilit}^ to hide

away so many years from civilization may never be known.
One has it that death had robbed him of the idol of his man-
hood's cherished affections, and he sought for solace away
from the scenes which had brought him so much sorrow.

Others say an insidious appetite ^vas creeping in upon him,

when he arroused himself and fled from the haunts of civiliza-

tion, choosing rather the home of the children of nature. And
again through a keen foresight he may have caught a glimpse
of the wonderful development of the w^est. and Avanted to be
first to see the rising sun of civilization and prosperity spread

all over the great prairies. How far his great aspirations

w^ere realized cannot be told, ^et he succeeded in being a man
of prominence in his time, and his name will be handed down
in the annals of Rockton as a man of man^^ virtues, of strict

integrity and of unquestionable honesty of purpose.

8TKPHEN MACK'S WILL.

Know all men b3" these presents, that I, Stephen Mack, of

Pecatonic, Winnebago county, and state of Illinois, being of

sound health in body and' mind at this time, but knowing the

uncertainty as to a continution of these blessings, and believ-

ing it the l)ounden dut}' of ever3' man of family so to settle and
arrange his worldl3' affairs as to render needless all litigation

and contention about his estate after his decease, as well as

a supreme lawof God antl Nature, that the father shall provide

to the l)est of his abiHty for his offsprings.
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Therefore be it known, that I do hereby revoke all former

wills and that I do now and forever will and decree, that when-
ever it shall please the Almighty God to recall my spirit from

its earthly tenement, my funeral charges shall be paid, that

all just debts be paid, and that all property of which I may die

possessed, and that shall remain after the above-mentioned

payments are made, shall be equally and equitablj^ divided a-

mong my wife and children, ^vhose names are as follow^s, viz:

My wife Ho-no-ne-gah, my children Rose, Mary, Willi-am, Lou-

isa, Thomas H. and Henry C. Mack, to each and everj^of them
an equal share, or one-seventh of the whole, and that should

any one or more of them die before attaining to maturit}^ his

or her share shall be equally divided among the survivors.

I do furthermore will and decree, that my administrators, if

not appointed by me before my decease, shall be appointed by
the proper court of probate, and they shall be appointed with

a view of their acting as guardians to my children during their

minorit3^ or until some one of them shall be competent to act

for him or herself, at which time the administrators and guard-

ians shall account with him or her for all the property they

may havereceived from my estate, reserving to themselves a

fair remuneration for their services as guardians and admin-

istrators, and that the child, be it he or she, first attaining to

competency and receiving the property from the administra-

tors as above designated, shall froin that, time become the sole

guardian for the others, and shall apportion to each and ever}^

of the others, brothers and sisters, their equal and just share

as fast as they become competent to manage for themselves.

It shall be the option of my wife at anytime to withdraw her

share from the rest and conduct for herself or to leave it in the

hands of the guardians with the children. It is furthermore

iny will that my children be well educated and that their

guardians pay particular attention to this subject, also that

they have all reasonable support and allowance during their

minorit3^

From a probabilit}^ of many changes in my propert}^ from

sales and purchases, &c., I refrain from designating any por-

tion of it at this time, but a reference to my deeds and to the

records will show in part of what mj^ propert3' consists, the bal-

ance is known to my wife.

I hereby ajipoint the Rev. William Adams and Merrill E.
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Mack, both of this place, my executors and administrators, and
sfuardians of my children; and I require of them a true and
faithful fultillment of all and every part of this my last will

and testament, should thej'^ survive me. Should I survive both
or either of tliem, or should I have other causes to alter this

part of my will by the appointment of others in their stead, I

shall do it with a codicil appended hereto. Should the place of

guardians to my children become vacant by decease or other-

wise, after my decease, the court of probate will appoint suit-

able persons to fill the vacancies.

Now therefore, praying that the Great Ruler of this vast uni-

verse may prolong my days in peace and haj^piness, and that

he may continue his watchful care over my wife and children

forever; that he maj^ never suffer them to depart from the path
of rectitude, truth, honor and integrit3\ and that he may lead

them in the path of the true religion of Jesus Christ, I in the
presence of God and the subscribing witnesses hereunto set

my hand and seal, at Pecatonic, Winnebago county, and state

of Illinois, this foui-th day of April, A. D. one thousand eight
hundred and forty. - Stephex Mack, [seal]

Witnesses:

Merrill E. Mack,
Jesse Blinn.

Codicil.

By the decree of God, changes having taken place in ni}'

family since signing and sealing the above will, I do hereby'

make the following alterations, namelj^: Whereas three addi-

tional children have been born to me since the making and
signing the above, viz: Edward, Matilda and Caroline, and
whereas Henry C. has departed this life without issue, there-

fore, I do now will and decree that all of my children now
eight in number, shall share equalljMn all the property which
I may leave at my decease, and all under the form and manner
set forth in the foregoing will; and whereas my former wife,

Ho-no-ne-gah, having departed this life, and I having taken
to myself Isabella, m^' present wife, the said Isabella shall stand
in all respects in the manner and have the same interest that
m^' former wife, Ho-no-ne-gah, would have had, had she sur-

vived me. I do hereby apjioint as my executors of this my last
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will, David Jewett and
Stephen Mack, [seal)

Pecatonic, Feb. 14, 1849.

John M. Hulett and Bela Shaw\^ere appointed administrat-

ors by the probate court.

FIRST SETTLERS.

The first permanent white settlers of Rockton, with the ex-

ception of Stephen Mack, were William Talcott and his son

Thomas B. Talcott. They came from Rome, N. Y., and made
the journey all the way with a horse and Avagon. Arriving

at Chicago they concluded to make a trip to Milwaukee, and
look over the country in that direction. On their journe}^ to

Milwaukee Thomas B. Talcott commenced to keep a journal

of each day's adventures, and this he continued to do until the

time they arrived on Rock river. Through the kindness of

J. A. Merrill, we found this valuable record among Mr. Tal-

cott's old papers, and give it here entire just as he wrote it,

as follows:

"Friday, July 10th, 1835. Left our Indian tavern this morn-
ing after breakfast. Had about four miles of prairie and then

came into timber land. The timber is of various kinds such

as oak, Avalnut, beech, maple, ash, elm, basswood, etc. Came
to Root river about twenty miles south of Milwaukee. After

crossing the river and going afew miles w^e came to bad go-

ing. Our horse got mired and "we had to loosen him from the

wagon and help him out, and then got out the wagon the best

way we could with handspike, etc. Went about two miles and

got fast again in the mud, and had to go through the same
process to get along. After aAvhile we came to where the

woods were more open and the road rather better, and had

some hopes of getting there by night; but the road was so bad

we \srere yet obliged to walk all the wa3^ We passed over

several hills where the Indians had formerly raised corn. The
shape of the hills remained but w^ere covered with grass and

bushes. We came to Milwaukee a little after sun down, turn-

ed out our horse on the commons, got some pt)rk and l)read for

supper and went to bed.

"Saturday, July 11th. Rose this morning not much refresh-

ed, for we had to sleep on the floor. Pork and l)read again for
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breakfast. We stopped on a point of land that ran down into a

marsh to the river where the Menonionee conies into Milwau-
*

kee. We crossed the river and went up ahont half a mile to

the principal village. In the spring there was not a frame

house here; now there is a store at the mouth of the river, one

at Walker's point, two at the upper village, besides an Indian

trader and a grocery, and several other frame buildings. Went
up the river about two and a half miles to a saw^ mill; here is

the first falls on the river, and boats of considerable size can

go up to the inills. About three miles farther up is another

saw mill, but the falls at either place are but a few feet. Com-
ing down the river from the mills we ranged off a little in the

woods between the river and the lake, found the land rather

rough and ston3\ The river runs along parallel with and about

three miles from the lake for t\vent3^-five miles. Took
up our quarters this evening three-fourth of a mile up the river

at Paul Bvirdick's, Had passable fare and a bed to sleep on.

"Sunda3^ July 12th. Kained last night and continued rain-

ing most of the forenoon. Went down to the meeting, had
preaching in the forenoon and bible class in the afternoon.

The minister is a j^oung man wdio was sent out on a mission

among the Indians at Green Bay, but left there and came here

on account of his health. He is a little tinctured with the

spirit of speculation.

"Monday, Jul}' 13th. As yet we have had no news from
home. Concluded to stay here till Wednesday evening wait-

ing for mail. Was a little disappointed in the place. Did not

expect to find such an extensive marsh about the mouth of

the river. There are several hundred acres of wet marsh, all

in one body covered with high grass, and so wet that a person
cannot travel through it from Walker's point about a mile froin

the mouth of the river. It is seven miles to walk around the

marsh to get on the other side while it is only two miles across.

'Tuesday', July 14th, There are three important points on
the river, at least deemed so by those who have claims on dif-

ferent points. Walker's point is occupied by Juno, and on the

opposite side of the river by Cleveland &c Fowler. There are

not more than three of the claimants who have been on them
long enougli to have a pre-emption right to the land at the

minimum price, but the}' are forming a combination to protect
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and defend each other in their claims against anyone bidding

on them.
"Wednesday, July 15th. Think the place will eventually be

a place of considerable business, but will notgrow^ up as rap-

idl}^ as Chicago. At present the inhabitants think of nothing
but speculation. Not one in the vicinity of this place thinks

of raising anything on the land, but make claims as fast as

they can by going on and cutting a few trees, spade up a lit-

tle ground, and perhaps plant corn. The}'- are just as likeh" to

plant now as at the proper season. The mail came in this eve-

ning without any letters for us. We Avrote home and conclud-

ed to start in the morning.

"Thursday, July 16th. After breakfast commenced looking

for our horse. Found it about eleven o'clock, and started for

Jombeau's, twenty-five miles up the lake towards Chicago.

Found the traveling bad, our horse poor, and had to walk all

the way, arriving there about nine o'clock in the evening very

much fatigued. Our Potawatomie landlady prepared some
supper for us, and w^e ate and retired to rest to dream out
whether we should go to Prairie village or to Chicago.

"Frida}^, July 17th. Swapped awaj' old sorrel this morning
with our landlord for a roan horse and paid $7.50 to boot. Con-
cluded we would go to Chicago, leave our wagon, buy another

horse, and then go to Rock river on horse back. Started after

breakfast and had to cross a very large prairie, traveled all day
w^ithout seeing any inhabitants, arriving ai Sunderland's be-

fore sundown, and put up there. There were nine horses and
fourteen pair of cattle put out here to-night. Had to sleep on
prairie feathers.

'•Saturday, July 18th, Started this morning for the Des
Plaines river across the prairie through high grass without
any trail, intending to cross it and go to Mancel Talcott's. We
traveled about five hours before we came to the river, part of

the way through wet prairie and part of the way through tim-

ber, and then came to where a man by the name of C00I3' had
made a claim on the river, apart of which was the best bottom
land I ever saw. He w^as mowing grass almost as high as his

head. Where we crossed the river the water was so high that

it came into our wagon. We went down the river about three

miles and stopped at Mr. Steels', and had some bread and milk

for dinner. After baiting our horse we started on. We had
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sixteen miles to go and calculated to reach there about sunset,

and did not hurr}^ much; hut about five o'clock the heavens
began to show indications of a shower, which finally' came up
and gave us a good ducking before we got here.

"Sunday, July 19th. Stopped at Mancel Talcott's and found
them all well. * * * Elder Walker, a Methodist man was
expected to preach at a neighbor's house. Went over about

eleven o'clock, but he did not come, consequently there was
no meeting,

"Mot(da3
, Juh' 20th. Went to Chicago to purchase a horse

and apparatus for going to Rock river. Found our Rome
friends here, and received a letter from home, the first since

w^e left, containing pleasant ne\vs. * * * Succeeded in get-

ting a horse and rig for our journey, and shall leave town in

the morning.
"Tuesda3^ Jul}' 21st. Crossed the wet prairie between Chi-

cago and the Des Plaines, arriving at Mr. Talcott's a little be-

fore noon. After dinner we went out hog hunting, and after a

three mile ride succeeding in shooting one, wdiich was taken

home by attaching a rope to one of the horses and drawing the

hog. We had fresh pork for supper. * * *

"Wednesday, Jul}' 22nd. Started this morning for Rock riv-

er, crossing the prairie west of Mancel TakH)tt's to Barnes'

grove seven miles, then struck across another five miles, came
onto an Indian trail to Fox river, Avhich we supposed was
about twenty miles from where we started in the morning. We
traveled till six o'clock without finding any house, and then

found no one at home. We crossed the river and went down
a mile and a half looking for inhabitants, for we did not like to

lie out as we had nothing to eat. We took only a small piece

of cake \vith us in the morning, expecting to find plenty of in-

habitants on Fox river. We turned about and recrossed the

river, hoping to find some one at the house by this time. When
we got there we found two men, but they did not belong there,

and w^ere going across as they lived a mile and a half up the

river from the ford. We went home with them and found that

they came from \''irginia to settle here.

"Thursday, July 23d. Filled our pockets witli provision

expecting we sliould have to camp out one night, and then we
shovild come to Kishwaukee river where there were inhal)it-

ants. About noon we caught a young grouse tangled in the
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bushes so he could not fly away. Picked off the feathers and

carried it along for supper. Passed three inhabitants in the

forenoon on a beautiful prairie of first rate land. Made our trip

a little before night, built a fire, roasted our grouse and with

raw pork, and biscuit made our supper. Mosquitoes were

troublesome.

"Fridaj^ July 24th. Left our camp about five o'clock after

taking our breakfast of raw pork and biscuit. Most of the

forenoon we traveled through, l)ur-oak openings. About nine

o'clock we came to a beautiful little lake and an old Indian

village, called Big Foot lake and village. There were no Indi-

ans there for most of them were \vandering in the woods to-

wards Chicago, to be read}^ for their paynient from the govern-

ment, which comes next month. We were here somewhat
puzzled to find the right trail as there were so many which
put out from the village. We finally made up our minds to go

west south-west, but found the trail bearing to the south, fol-

lowed on and came to a small creek meandering through a

fine stip of bottom prairie which looked like the bed of some
ancient river that was very large. The weeds and grass high.

It was no^v nearly' night and no signs of inhabitants, and it

looked like showers. We came to an old Indian camp* and
made us a shelter of barks and poles, struck up a fire and ate

our pork and bread.

"Saturday, July 25th. After we stopped last night we saw
several Indians cross the flat and one came over to us to beg
some whisky. He was a Pottawatomie, and we learned from

him that there were white folks within a few miles. We took

his directions and started along, crossing the stream again.

When we had got down a little wa3' we came to a large river

which an Indian had just crossed. We saw where he went out

and started in after him. Soon found the water so deep tliat it

came up almost to our horse's back. We turned around and
tried again, found shallow water, crossed and went up onto the

l)luff to a camp of Indians, but could not understand them
much. One of them took a tin kettle and started and motion-

ed for us to follow him. We did so, came to the river and ford-

*To a person acquainted with the location ot the land he can readily see that this Indiiin

caiiip was the I'urtle \ ilhij:e deserle<l in Black Hawks »ini", and by recrossiiig- the Turtle

creek and lolhjwiny down its south bank, (uir travelers would soon come to Itock liver, which

Ihey crosricd to the liiyh l)aii!<s on tlu! west side. The Indian they I'oilowed tuok Iheni down
to the (ioodwin Hnd and thence to Mack's in liird's grove.
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ed it again, crcssed a small prairie, went into the woods and
came to Stephen Mack's Indian trading establishment, and
once more put up with a white man who had a squaw wife.

Found we were on the bank of Rock river, two miles below the

mouth of the Pecatonica and six miles south of the line of

Wisconsin territory. We also learned that there w^as no de-

pendence to be placed on our maps. Our inap placed the mouth
of the Pecatonica twent^^ miles south of Wisconsin, when it

was but four miles. Rock is a beautiful river, said to be naviga-

ble 150 miles above this place, and the Pecatonica 100 miles.

Tlie land is very good and at the mouth of the river is in the

hands of Mack and Bradstreet, of Albany, N. Y., w^here they
calculate to lay out a town, and I think the prospect is fair for

a large place to grow up here. There are no buildincs at pres-

ent.

"Sunda}', Julj^ 26th. Slept last night on the floor ^vith blank-

ets under us. Shall staj^ with our friend Mack to-da^^ There
are no inhabitants in several miles except the Indians, w^ho

come around and Mack trades with them to-da}^ as much as

any dny. All da3's are alike to the children of the forest. Mack
is in the employ of the American Fur Company, and has been
id! his life tiine. The Indians have confidence in him and he
has no trouble."

This is the end of the diary, but a little later Mr. Talcott

further adds: "We staj^ed with Mack and went out and looked

the ground over and concluded to locate here and made our
claims. Father \vas rather looking for water power, and
thought that by cutting across the bend in the river, it

would give a pretty good water power, and to test it, he made
a trough to hold water for a level, and made his straight edges
with his jack-knife and took a level across the bend, and it did

not vary but a trifle from the government surve\' that was
taken a year later.

"We made our claims, and then went to Chicago and pur-

chased oxen, \vagon, plow, and the necessary inij>k'ments to

commence a bachelor's hall. Came back and
BUILT A SMALL LOG CAIJIX

on the ])oint between the two rivers, and for a while had it all

to ourselves and the Indians; but during the summer and fall

others came and we had neighbors. George Stevens, fohn F.

Thayer. John Lovesee, and a Mr. Kobei'tson located on the east
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of Rock river opposite the mouth of the Pecatonica. Robert

J. Cross located in the bend of the river below the Bradley
grove. The Adamses, Mr. Fox and brother Henry came in Oc-
tober, but there "were no ladies. We were a nice lot of bache-

lors and all keeping bachelor's hall, doing our own cooking
and house -work of all description."

The following beautiful lines from the gifted pen of Mrs.

Mary (Hooker) Streckewald, describes this stage of Rockton's

history in an able manner:
" 'Twas yenrs ago, when the wild glowing- west,

Wore brig-ht-hued blnssoms on her emerald vest.

When dusky Indians roamed the forest glades,

Or built their wigwams 'neath its leafy shades;

There came one evening, just at set of sun,
'

Two travelers, a father and a son.

Here were the level prairie's fertile brim,

Kissed by the waters of your rippling streams.

Fringed its lair banks wiih tali and stately trees,

'1 hilt waved their branches to the gentle breeze.

While ihickets of the plum and bending willows

Surged here and there, their softly swelling billows.

Green plumes and banners mixed with gleams of silver

Revealed the winding pathway of the river.

Here sail ihe father let us settle down.
Send for the rest andfound a I'ALCOTT town. ,

They made their claim and built a cabin small.

With logs and clay to form its solid walls.

With a rude window and a ruder door

And roof of bark over its hard clay floor."

Thomas M. Coons visited Rockton this same year. He with
four others started out with a team from Joliet in harvest time
to make a trip i|ithis direction to see the countr3^ They came
as far as Rock river and stopped and took their dinner about
where the guard locks are now situated. Three of the party

were opposed to going an}' farther, so they returned to Joliet.

They did not see any one while here, either white or red men.
Mr. Coons did not settle in Rockton till some years later.

The summer and autumn of 1835, closed with the follow-

ing settlers who had come to Rockton:

Isaac Adams, Pearley P. Burnham, George Stevens,

Darius Adams, C. J. Fox, Thomas B. Talcott,

David A. Blake, John Kilgore, Henrj' \V. Talcott,

Ellison Blake, John Lovesee, John F. Thayer.

William Talcott went back east to settle up his l)usiness be-

fore moving his family out here. Mack had moved from Bird's

grove to the bluff at the mouth of the Pecatonica river, and
Robert J. Cross, who had located a claim down the river which
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he had purchased of a Frenchman h^^ the name of Lavec, was

livMng in Mack's old house in Bird's grove. A few settlers

who had come with Cross located in Roscoe.

On January l(3th, 183o, the legislature passed an act to create

the county of Winnebago. The boundaries then given embrac-

ed all of the territory of Boone and AVinnebago counties, and

two tiers of townships from the east side of Stephenson coun-

ty. A subsequent act reduced the county to its present size of

sixteen townships. The county was'named after the Indian

tribes who inhabited its territor3\ This Indian word means a

tribe of "fish eaters," or a people who lived njostl}' on fisli.

With the geat abundance of fish in Rock and Pecatonica rivers,

the red men of the vicinit3' could draw largely from these riv-

ers for their suppU' of food.

The first election held in the county was on the f rst Mon-
day in August of this year. Germanicus Kent, of Rockford;

Joseph P. Briggs, of Cherry Valle}'; and Robert J. Cross, of

Roscoe, were appointed judges of election. All voters scatter-

ed over a territory of 1152 square miles, had to go to Rockford

to vote. At that election one hundred and twentj' votes were

polled and the voters from Rockton were: Isaac Adams, David

A. Blake, Pearlej^ P. Burnham, Daniel Fairchild, John Love-

see, Thomas B. Talcott, Henry W. Talcott, and John F. Thayer.

Thomas B. Talcott was elected one of the county commission-

ers. Of all the men who met that day and voted to put the

local machinery- of government in motion sixty-two years ago,

probabl}^ not one of them is living now.

The first official act of the county commissioners was to di-

vide the count3Mnto election precincts. Rock river precinct

embraced the present town of Manchester, in Boone county,

and the towns of Roscoe, Rockton, Shirland, Harrison, and the

north half of the towns of Harlem and Owen, in Winnebago
county. Going to election in those early times ment some-

thing, and most of them undoubtedly nuide a full daN' of it.

The county' commissioners ordered an election to be held in

each precinct to elect justices of the peace and constables,

which was held in Rockton. Aug. 27th. Sylvestet Talcott and

Robert J. Cross were elected justices of the peace-, and John P
Parsons and David A. Blake constables.

The location of the countv seat was fixed by a commission
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appointed by an act of the legislature, composed of Robert
Steven^, andRezin Zarlej^ of Cook county, and John Phillips*

of Jo Daviess count3\ The place was known in that early day
as Winnebago, and situated on the west side of the river about
two miles north of the present courthouse. Thirtj^ acres were
set aside for the county buildings. The location of the county
seat did not give general satisfaction, and it was the subject of

an exciting contn)versy in the count}" for several 3"ears, until an
act of the legislature gave the people the right to settle the

question by vote, which resulted in its present location.

The presidential election in this precinct was held Nov. 7th,

in Isaac Adains' house. The judges of election were Robert

J. Cross, Stephen Mack and Isaac Adams. The names of the

twenty voters on that occasion were:

Isaac, Adams, John Langdon, Ariel Robinson,

John Allen, Samuel P. Langdon, S^dvester Talcott,

Frederick Bird, John Lovesee, Thomas B. Talcott,

E. Lee Bird, Stephen Mack, Henry W. Talcott,

Klijah H. Brown, Chauncey Mead, John F. Thayer,
Pearley P. Burnham, William Mead, C. W. Williamson,

Robert J. Cross, George Patterson.

The political complection of these voters showed their pre-

vious training and convictions, and nineteen whigs and one
democrat very forcibly told how party lines \vere shaped. Mr.

Williamson might have felt a trifle lonesome as the solitary

follow^er of Andrew Jackson, but we presume his neighbors did

not tr3' to bo^^cott him on account of his j^olitical convictions.

The same political sentiment has predominated in Rockton
from that early date to the present time.

Thk Polish Claim.

Another important event which had a great influence on the

future destin}^ of Rockton, transpired this year. This was
known in those early days as the Polish claim. In 1834, con-

gress granted thirty-six sections of unclaimed western land

to a colon^^ of Polish exiles, and the agent of this colon}-, Gen.
Klopiski, came to Rockton in 1836 with the purpose of locat-

ing his claim on lands in Rockton, Owen and Rockford. He
was informed that this locality was not unclaimed public

land, and therefore he could lay no claim here. He promifeed

to go awa}^ and locate his claim elsewhere, but he did not do
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SO, and held to his claim on a part of Rockton and other towns.

After about seven years effort, and after congress had been

frequentl}^ petitioned, the claim of the Polanders was set a-

side by the act of April 14, 1842. During this stay of years to

get a title to the land then occupied, many came here to locate

on account of its superior natural advantages, but learning

the condition of things, went away and settled elsewhere.

Some of the people who went to Beloit came here first, and also

James Thompson, who built a woolen factor}^ in Roscoe; but

finding that no one could sell them land or water power and

give a clear title, they did not sta}'. How much Rockton suf-

fered in developement from this unjust claim cannot be told.

Tiie news had flown eastward that "Pecatonic," with its navi-

gable waterwaj^s and splendid water power was likeh' to be a

second Cincinnati, hence the tide of emigration that turned

this way. Had all of the conditions been favorable it is hard

to imagine what might have been the destiny of Rockton as a

great industrial center.

We quote from a communication b}" Williain Hulin, publish-

ed in the Winnebago Forum, of 1843, for further particulars

on this subject: "Suffice it to say, thatafterthe settlers had by

their petitions, for several successive sessions, called the at-

tention of congress to the subject, an act was passed and be-

came a law on the 14tli of April, 1842, removing the incubus

and authorizing the entry of the lands in these two townships,

(Rockton and Rockford,) by pre-emption, like other govern-

ment lands.

"In the midst of our rejoicings over the most righteous re-

sults, let us not lose sight of the important fact that our busi-

ness might have been buried beneath the mass of unfinished

congressional matter for years to come, but forthe kindness of

tlie Hon. O. H. Smith, of Indiana, the Hon. Robert J. Walker,

of Mississippi, and the Hon. Richard M. Young, of this state,

senators in congress, who well informed of the facts in the

case, and satisfied of the justice of our cause, most generously

gave us the benefit of their efficient aid, b}" which the affair

was finally disposed of to the satisfaction of all parties, as well

as ourselves, and ample provision was made forthe benefit of

the real exiles from Poland, and these unfortunate and merito-

rious countryinen of Kosciusko had no occasion to question

tlie honor and good faith of a government which some of the

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found
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most illustrious patriots of Poland had bled to establish."

The land in the township was surve3'ed this 3^ear, by Don
Alonzo Spaulding. He w^as elected count3^ survej^or the same
year. Part of the land in Rockton did not come into market

and subject to entry till 1844, for the reason before given.

Sylvester Talcott came Feb. 26, of this 3^ear, finding his wa}^

over the trackless prairie by the aid of a pocket compass, and

crossed the rivers on the ice. In the fall of the same 3^ear he

was elected the first justice of the peace. He also had the hon-

or of performing the first marriage ceremon^^ in town. The
contracting parties were Robert Logan and Miss Eliza Blake,

and the date of marriage was Jul^^ 19th, 1837.

Mr. and Mrs. David Carpenter came to Rockton this 3"ear,

performing the journe3" from the state of New York with horses

and wagon, arriving July 15th, late in the da3^ just as a big

shower was coming up. They found shelter in the log cabin

of George Stevens, near where the Osgood stone house was
afterwards built on the flat opposite Macktown. The cabin

gave them protection from the storm for a time, but when the

sod chimney, after being soaked with rain, caved into the lire

place, the smoke became so unbearable that the inmates had

to leave the cabin, preferring the downpouring of the rain to be-

ing suffocated with smoke. It was a dismal night for our trav-

elers, and no doubt the3^ thought of the comfortable homes
the3^ had left in the east and wished the3^ had sta3'ed there.'

Finding they could not sta3' there with any degree of com-

fort, they got up their team and started for some other habi-

tation. They were guided to the humble home of Isaac Ad-

ams, situated near the south-east corner of Main and Bridge

streets, where they found a shelter for the night.

As Mr. Carpenter could not find ain' land the next da3' in the

vicinit3^ but what had already been claimed, he hired Mr. Ste-

vens at the expense of a dollar, to ferry them across the river

to the Talcott cabin between the rivers, and there the3^ lived

for four weeks until Mr. Carpenter could build a log house on

his claim west of the river.

It was a lonel3^ time for Mrs. Carpenter in those earl3^ da^s,

as she was the first and onl3^ white woman in the new settle-

ment, and frequent spells of being homesick would force them-

selves upon her. Thomas Talcott would read one of Dr. L3-

man Beecher's sermons on a Sunday to make the da3' seem



HISTORY OK ROCKTOX. 27

less lonesome and dreary; while Sylvester Talcott would try

to say encouraging words, telling her that she would soon hear

the glad sound of the church bell, and not many j^ears would
pass before a railroad would come this wa}", but to these

l)right prospects she would only sorrowfully say, "Not in my
day, not in my da3\"

How little did she then realize that fourteen 3'ears hence,

the church bell would be a reality, or only a few 3^ears later

that the shrill notes of the iron horse would electrify the whole
country with its beneficent results.

When left alone in her humble home she was in constant

fear of the lawlessness of the roving bands of Indians that

2)assed near them. One day a companj^ of them came along

and o-ie of their number rode his horse as far into the house

as possible, demanding some whisky. She was nearly fright-

ened to death, and only had strength of voice to say there was
none. When the Indian saw how he had frightened the lone

woman he was greatl}^ amused and quietly departed.

One rainy day in the fall of the 3^ear when Mr. Carpenter

was at home, four Indians returning from a duck hunt, walk-

ed into his house and took possession of his stove to cook their

ducks on. Their manner of cooking was most repulsive, and
when thej' got through wdth their meal, the top of the stove

and the feathers on the floor was a sight to behold. Mr. Car-

penter scolded but they only laughed at him. When they de-

parted the3" laughingh^ made their bows by wa}' of thanks

and went a^va3^

Mr. Carpenter felt the need of a boat as he frequentl3^ wanted
to cross the river, so he bantered an Indian for a nice black

walnut canoe. He held up a dollar and indicated with three

lingers that he would give three dollars for it. The Indian in

turn held up live fingers as the price of the canoe. A compro-

mise was effected by the Indian holding up three fingers with

one other turned down at the middle joint. Thus the canoe

was purchased at the cost of $3.50. Ever3' Indian respected

tile ownership of the canoe, and not one of them molested it.

For three months Mrs. Carpenter stood the great strain of

pioneer life with the haunting fear that she might be killed

by the Indians at an3' moment, until Mr. Carpenter concluded

to take her back to Chicago and stay there until such times as

other women caiUe to settle near them. Thev planned to start
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the next morning when just at night a team forded the river

and came to their house for a night's lodging. It took but an

instant for Mrs. Carpenter to discover that the travelers were

her father, Dea. Luman Pettibone, and his famil3^ Of course

the contemplated journey to Chicago was at once given up.

Although their house was only large enough for two, the grim

old logs seemed to possess remarkable elastic properties when
called upon to enfold an additional family of seven. Mrs.

Carpenter's gloomy fears soon passed away in the care of her

enlarged household, and in the consciousness of being sur-

rounded by her relatives.

Mr. Pettibone stayed there through the winter, and in the

spring located a claim on a part of the Goodwin place, to which
he removed.

One of the gang of prairie bandits b}^ the name of Baker,

who like his comrades in crime, was a terror in those earl}^

days, came to Mr. Carpenter's one day wlien he was away from

home, and wanted their canoe to cross the river as he was in

a great hurry. Mrs. Carpenter could not let the canoe go, so

she was obliged to set him across the river. He offered no pay
for her kind act, and not even thanks. It turned out after-

wards that this man had stolen a gold -watch from Thomas
Grout, of Shirland, which accounted for his great hurrj^.

Mr. Carpenter brought mone}^ enough with him to enter his

land, but as he had to wait nearly eight ^^ears to do so,he loan-

ed his money until such time as he might need it. The invest-

ment proved to be a total loss to him by the death of one party

and the bankruptcy of the other; and he was obliged to hire

$300 at a high rate of interest to enter his land, which by the

strictest economy tcok him seven 3'eais to pay up.

Mr. and Mrs. Carpenter lived on their farm west of the river

from 1836 to 1865, when their son Luman Carpenter bought

a place for them in town after he came home from the war, to

which the}^ soon reinoved.

This place was first known as the "mouth of the Pecatonic."

Some cut the name down to "the mouth," while on the other

hand the majority adopted the simple word "Pecatonic," or

more proj^erly Pecatonica, which by common consent became
the name of the tow^n for several 3^ears, until it was changed

to Rockton by an act of the legislature of the session of 1846-7.

The name was suggested by Thomas B. Talcott. It may be
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interesting to know why such a musical name as Pecatonica,

was discarded. Its Indian meaning is crooked or winding river.

Those acquainted with the sinuous course of the river will

readily see that the name was ver^^ appropriately applied. The
impression had gone forth in those early times that it was verj''

unhealth3^ along the Pecatonica river, and as the tow^n was
named after the river, the inference to outsiders would very

naturalh^ he that the town was in an unhealthy localit3^ To
counteract such a wrong impression, the natne was changed
b}' a petition of the citizens to the legislature. At the same
time the location of the public park was changed from block

twenty-seven to block twent^^-live. A few years later, an en-

terprising to\vn sprang into existance several miles up the

Pecatonica river, and they very wisely adopted the name for

their town which Rockton had ceased to honor.

Some increase was made in the number of settlers during
this year, which materially enlarged the area of settlers'claiins.

A few additional log cabins were erected, and some effort was
made to cultivate the soil, The wants of the settlers were fe^v

and simple and communication with friends limited. Thus the

year of 1836 closed down on the little settlement of Rockton.

The first tax levied and collected was under the order of the

county commissioners, March 7, 1837. No real estate was then
assessed as the land had not come into market, except the town
lots of the first town of Winnebago. The land on which these

lots were located had previously been sold as it was an Indian

reservation or "float." The order for the levy read as follows:

"That one-half per cent, taxes be levied on the following de-

scription of propert}^: Town lots, horses and mares, neat cat-

tle above three 3'ears old, watches, carriages and wagons; and
it is like\vise ordered that one-fourth per cent, be levied on

slock in trade."

Under the first constitution of the state, the county treasur-

er was the assessor and the sheriff was the collector. Robert

J. Cross, the first county treasurer, tnade the com])lete counts-

assessment in fifteen da3's, for which he receivetl $30. The
sheriff, Daniel S. Haight. did the collecting. The whole a-

mount of taxes collected on personal property was $289.29, and
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on non-resident lots $264.30. Thus it will be seen that the first

tax ever collected in the county amounted to $553.59.

The first jury for the county was selected at a rneeting of the

county commissioners' court, April 20, 1837. Of the twelve

jurymen selected, two were form Rockton, David Carpenter
and David A. Blake. The jurors then received sevent3'-five

cents a day for sevices.

Capt. William Talcott moved his family from the state of

New York to Rockton this 3^ear. After making his claim in

1835, he went back home, settled up his business, and then
brought out his family. They built a house on the south-west
corner of block sixteen, ^vhich was at that tiine the most sub-

stantial dwelling house in the little settlement. It was built

of logs, but when they got the sawmills running, a framed ad-

dition was joined to it. Some traces of the old cellar and well

are yet visible, but the best land mark is a large tree growing
there, which was planted when a mere twig under the

buttery window by Mrs. F. W. Packard when a j^ounggirl. It

would seem very appropriate for the descendants of William
Talcott to put up some durable mark on that corner to tell

where the father of the town first lived. A large boulder with
the name of Talcott cut on it would be very appropriate and
lasting. This famil}" made quite an addition to the place, as it

Avas the third w^hite familj^ to settle here. The}' were soon fol-

lowed by a number of others.

A government commissioner this year located "floats," or

land set apart for the benefit of half-breed children, on sections

27, 28 and 30, along the south side of the Pecatonica river. A
Frenchman by the name of Hamel, who had a squaw wife f e-

cured section 27. S. and A.Gibson had a claim on section 29,

and induced the government commissioner to pass them by
and not take their claim for a float. It is said that the Gibsons
had a political pull on the commissioner. Dr. Lippitt who set-

tled in ShirlandjCame west in 1830, and bought a claim on sec-

tion 30, paying for it a pair of horses, $80 in cash and gave his

note for $40. When he brought his family here the next year,

he found his claim worthless by reason of a float having been
laid on the section. He then crossed the Pecatonica river and
made his permanent licnne in the town of Shirland.

Rev. William M. Adams came to Rockton at the solicitation

of William Talcott, in Se})tember, 1837. He organized the
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Congregational church here, March 23(1, 1838, and for four 3'ears

he preached in l-Jockton and Beloit. He organized the first

Congregational church in Beloit, in 1839. He built the first

framed dwelling ht)use in Kockton in 1838, and moved his

family into it as soon as it was enclosed. This building form-

ed a part of the house now occupied by F. \V. Packard. Mrs.

Packard, a daughter of Rev. Adams, has lived in this house
just sixt}^ years, and never enjoyed the luxury of house hunt-

ing br moving. We doubt if there is another such case in the

town or county even. Rev. Adams had a claim on land which
has since been known as the Winsor farm. He also had a tim-

ber claim on the. north side of the Pecatonica river, which has
since become a part of the Blodgett place, but this claim was
"jumped" b^' other parties and he lost it.

After his four j^ears of ministerial labor in Rockton and Be-
loit, while suffering manj^ of the privations of frontier life, he
went to Mineral Point, Wis., where he labored in church work
for about a 3^ear. During this time his family remained in

Rockton, but he had made arrangements to move to Mineral
Point, when he was taken sick and died there March 12th,

1842. His widow lived in the same house in Rockton until her
death which occurred Sept. 11th, 1869. The claim on the Win-
sor farm was lost with but little compensation to the family-,

by unjust dealings of grasping land grabbers.

John G. Ta3dor was one of the pioneers who came this year
with his mother and step father, Mr. Ackerman. After a time
he settled on section 20 and owned 240 acres of it. He enlist-

ed in the union arm3% Sept. 30, 1864, in company D, 74th Illinois

volunteer infantry, and was honorably discharged June 10th,

186."). He was an industrious and prosperous farmer. Dec. 23d,

1881, while attempting to board a train at Rockton station to

go to Rockford, he slipped under the wheels while the train

was in motion, a;nd both legs \vere crushed below his knees.

He was taken home where botli legs v/ere amputated. He died

the following Monday.
Rev. George R. Rudd, a brother of Mrs. Luman Pettibone,

preached the first sermon in Rockton. The meeting was lield

in C. J. Fox' house, in 183(5.

A ferry was established across the river near where the Car-

jxMiter bridge was afterward built, by a nuiii b}' the name of

Jones in 1837 or 38. There was a ford farther up the river.
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During the month of April of this year, the first steam boat

came up the river as far as this place. The name of this pio-

neer steamer was "The Gypsy." Stephen Mack heard the

steamer's whistle as she came around the bend in the river,

and hurried doAvn to the shore to drive a stake for them to tie

up to on his side of the river. George Stevens, just across the

river, heard the steamer also, and seeing what Mack was doing,

hurriedly drove a stake on his side, and Avas greatl}'' pleased

to have the boat tie to his stake, which the steam boat men
thought was the best landing place. The boat went still far-

ther up the river, and some think as far as Janesville. A. T.

Hart tells of riding on this steam boat from Janesville to Jef-

ferson where they could not go any farther up the river on ac-

cout of the dam already built across the river. On their re-

turn they got stuck on a sand bar within ten miles of Janes-

ville, and Mr. Hart hired a team to take hiin home.

It was then thought that the steam boat trade was going to

build up the river towns, and the mouth of the Pecatonica c s-

pecially. The coming of this boat created considerable inter-

est, and some money was subscribed by the river towns to buy
a steam boat for local trade. It was understood that such a

boat was purchased, but it never came up the river as far as

Rockton.

David Jewett came to Rockton this 3'ear and was part owner
of one of first saw inills built on the water power the next 3^ear.

He w^as connected with the mill for about five years and com-
menced to build a house in Macktown, when he sold out his

property here and located in the town of Harrison, where he

lived the remainder of his life. He laid out the village of

Harrison in 1848.

During the summer of 1837, Hiram Bellows and L. B. Fisher

came through from Chicago with an ox team. They stopped

two or three weeks with George Stevens, until they could look

around and locateclaims. They were induced to come here by
Martin P. Ormsby, who had already settled in Rockton. Mr.

Bellows made his claim on the south-east quarter of section

thirty-one, and Mr. Fisher located his claim in the town of

Owen.

After Mr. Bellows had built a small log house on his claim,

he and Mr. Fisher went back to Chicago after Mrs. Bellows
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and a five or six year old sou of Mr. Fisher. Mr. Fisher's wife

had previousl}^ died in Ohio.

During the winter of 1837-8, Bellows and Fisher, with true

Yankee enterprise, went to work to manufacture ox sleds

and what tlie3' termed hollow ware, which consisted of peck

and half bushel measures, for which they found a ready sale.

Ivike nian}^ other of the lirst things that we claim forKockton,

this most certainly was the first sleigh and measure manufac-

turing establishment in Rock river valley. Mr. Fisher was a

genius in the niechanical line. He made a rude steam box to

facilitate the bending of the hoops for his measures, which he

had carefully shaved out by hand. The bottoms of the meas-

ures were prepared in the same rude way, wdiich must have

taken considerable time, but as close coinpetition was then an

unknown ciuantit}^ it helped to while away the long hours of

winter, and add something to the depleted exchequer of the

establish inent.

In 1841 when a mail route was established from Rockton to

the Mississippi, it ran by Mr. Bellows' house and on through

Lee's grove, so he was appointed postmaster, and the name of

tile office, which was kept in his house, was called Leesburgh.

This office he held for about two 3'ears and then gave it up as

it did not pay him for the trouble to attend to it.

Mr. Bellows worked at his trade as a moulder, in vSt. Louis,

during the summer of 1844. He went to California in 1860, and

returned in 1864. He sold his farm to Jesse Blinn, except

ten acres which he sold to Capt. Urquhart, and moved in-

to town, buying a stone house on the south side of the river of

Caleb Bentle}^ which he lived infora number of years. It is

now the property of Martin Kelley.

After the death of his wife a few years ago, Mr. Bellows went
to Winnebago to live with a niece, where he at piesent resides

in his 93rd 3'ear, and is as active as most men at sixt3^

Mr. Bellows and Mr. Fisher built a log house for Mr. Orms-

^

by on the south side of the river. It was located near where the

Penman house was afterwards built, west of B. B. Gates' res-

idence.

Mr. Fisher built a dam from the island below Macktown
to the south shore for the purpose of a water power, and

put in a current wheel, but it did not develope power enough

for any practical purpose. He wanted a power for cutting out
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barrel staves and turning ^wooden holloTv ware, but his wheel
would not run the necessar3^ machinery. He also had another
project which was never developed.

He proposed to build a boat to float down the river, and ex-

pected the motion of the boat would furnish power to run a

lathe. With this lathe he was going to turn out wooden but-

ter bowls as he floated down the river, and when his supply
of timber gave out to stop and cut some more along the bank
and then go on. By this clever little scheme of his fertile

brain, he expected to arrive in St. Louis with a w^hole boatload

of butter bowls, all perfected by this newl}' developed motive
power. He abandoned this undertaking on the advise of his

friends, but still he claimed it could be done.

After living in Thayer's part of the town for several years,

he went to Omaha with his son and died there.

Samuel Gibson and his wife came to Rockton, from New-
bury, Vt., in Sept., 1837. They made their home with George
Stevens for three or four weeks until they could locate a claim

and build a house on it. He made his claim on the south-west

quarter of section thirty-two, which is now owned by the Bates

family. His brother Alexander Gibson came with them and
made his claim on land now owned by H. W. Conklin. To-

gether they made a claim on all of the north half of section

tw^enty-nine south of Pecatonica river.

The following letter from Mrs. Ann Gibson Ruger, the oldest

child of Samuel and Catherine Gibson, is so full of interest

that we have concluded to give it to our readers, as follows:

*T was born in a log house across the road from where the fam-
ily of Erastus Bates now lives, Jan. 22, 1839. The house is not

there now. There were large oak trees all around it. Mr. Bel-

lows was our nearest neighbor, Mr. Urquhart next, and then

Thomas Farmer. Across the prairie and in sight, ^was Mr. Fa-

vor, Mr. Thompson, Mr. Hulett and others.

"The Indians were friendly and often came to our house, and
my mother would alwaj^s give them something to eat. I re-

member Stephen Mack and his squaw wife, and of seeing the

Indians about there, and Mrs. Mack giving them loaves of

bread. The house is still there that Mack built. There was a

large barn but is was burned a good while ago.

"Mr. Mack had a store in a log building along the road past

his house, and beyond it Mr. Whitman had a store in a log
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building. It was afterwards used as a dwelling house. Mr.
Whitman built the stone store and house that is just up on the

road from the river, where the first bridge was built by Mr.

Mack. There was only a ierry across the river when my father

first came to Rockton.

"Mr. Henry Bates lived in Macktown across the street from
Mr. Mack's house. He had a nice framed house and shop and
made boots and shoes. There were steps cut in the bank to

get down to a spring. They used to come to our house, and
would take me home with them for a visit. The3^ ^^^d one
daughter, Satina Bates, and two sons, Erastus and Jonathan
Bates.

"I have been across the river to Rockton to school with Sati-

na Bates and Rose and Mary Mack. Rose w^as deaf and dumb,
but I could talk with her. I have been in a canoe on the river

and seen the dead Indian hanging in a tree top—buried they
called it—where he could look out on the river from the edge
of the bluff.

"A little south of Mr. Mack's house was the Merrill E. Mack
house. It vv'as a nice house similar to the one built by Stephen
Mack. I have been there and remember Mr. and Mack and
their little girl, Virginia. Mr. Mack died in an early da}".

Across the road from this house was the first school house
with a great stone chimne}^ and fireplace. I have been there

to school.

"M3' father used to draw his wheat to Chicago or Galena,
andget twenty-five cents a bushel for it. Other people did the
same, and in going Galena, the Talcotts and others would stop

at our house as it was on the way, and have dinner or supper,
or rest or visit. People were not in such a hurry as they are

now. The}' were sociable and would go a long way to visit

each other.

"John Gibson, a brother of ni}- father, went to California

in 1S49, wiih Mr. Gitcheil and others. He was killed by the
Indians in 1860. Edwin G. Higby, a cousin of ours, was in

the war, and died while in service at Nashville, Tenn., Dec. 7,

18(32. He was a son of Adeline Gibson Higby, my father's

sister, who married Seth High}', in Rockton, April 14, 1841.

She died and Mr. and Mrs. Bellows brought Edwin up.

"We moved from the farm and lived in the Merrill E. Mack
house, until our house was built in Rockton, which was about
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the same time they built the stone church. Tliomas Farmer
did the mason work and J. B. Peterson, the carpenter work.

My brother John Gibson, was bora Aug;. 7, 1848, while we lived

in the Mack house.

"My father went to California in the spring of 1852, in com-

pany with Jacob H3^att and Noah Carpenter, and their fami-

lies. He returned from that trip, but when he went the second

time he remained there until his death.

"The first school house in Rocktoa -was built on the common,
opposite the stone church, which is now the park. The first

teachers that I remember were Mary Ann Bradle3^ Caroline

Bradley and the Misses Teed. Adeline and William Talcott,

Fannie and Mary Hooker, Lucy and Mary Peterson, Ann and

Janet Gibson were some of the scholars who attended. Later

on the school house was moved down town and used for other

purposes.

"About 1854 and '55, my sister Janet and I went to Rockford,

to the Female Seminar3\ Fannie Hooker was there at the

time. I married John B. Holmes Jan. 28, 1858. and in the spring

of 1860, -we went to Pikes Peak, and were six weeks on the road.

In the spring of 1861, I came back a widow, just as the war
broke out, and came through with the mail coach in six daj^s

to St. Joe, Mo. I reached home in safety. I was married to

Capt. H. T. Kuger,in Rockton, Jan. 1, 1874. He died in the

spring of 1890. I have lived in Chicago more than twenty

years.

"My brother John Gibson had a store in Rockton, and at one

time was town clerk. He closed up his business on account

of failing health and went to California. He stayed there with

his father three years, and then return to Chicago, where he

died Aug. 21, 1892.

"My sister Janet Gibson married Caleb Bentlej', in Rockton,

in the fall of 1860. She was born June 13, 1840. and died Janu-

ary, 1864, My sister Abby Gibson was born Aug. 21, 1842, and

died August, 1870. My mother died May 19, 1896, aged eighty

one years. She was buried in Rockton cemeter}-. M^- brother

Rumse}" Gibson and myself are all that is left of our family-

He has been in Chicago since 1871."

Alexander Gibson sold his farm to Mr. Bronson and moved
to Rockton. He had a lumberyard for awhile. He built a

fine residence on Center street, which he sold to C. \V. Rob-
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ertson in exchanjs^e for land in the south part of the state. Tliis

house is now^ occupied by Dr. Cole. Mr. Gibson died in Mis-

souri a few 3'ears ago.

Skttleks' Claims.

In the earl3" days of the settlement of this section of the

country-, the first settlers were free to take any unoccupied

land for a claim to hold until such time as it came into market
To protect themselves from greedy land grabbers, who want-

ed more than their share of the public domains, the3^ formed
themselves into an association, or as it was then called, a "Mu-
tual Claim Protective Society." A book of records was kept,

and claims were dul}^ recorded at a cost of twenty-five cents

each.

At a meeting oi this society', at the house of Thomas B. Tal-

cott. Ma}" 12, 1837, the following executive committee was ap-

pointed: William Mead, David A. Blake, Elijah H. Brown,
Franklin Able, George Stevens, John K. Holmes, David Nog-
gle, Luman Pettibone, Martin P. Ormsb}", Henr^^ Able and
David Carpenter.

The commitee on b^'-laws and regulations was appointed as

follows: Robert J. Cross, S^dester Talcott, Thomas B. Talcott,

Stephen Mack and Walter Warner.

We cop3' a few of the records of claims: George Stevens, the

north-east quartes of section twent3"-three north of Rock river,

and north-west c[uarter of section nineteen.

Stephen Mack; section twent3'-three south of Rock river, and
\vest half of section t\vent3"-six.

John F. Th3"er; south-east quarter of section twent3'-six, and
a timber claim on section twent3^-eight.

Daniel Fairchild; south-east fractional (piarter section twen-

ty-one st)utli of Pecatonica river, and north-west quarter of sec-

tion twent3'-six.

K*(>bert Logan; south half of section eleven, and the north

half of section twelve.

Thomas B. Talcott; north-easi (piarter of section twenty-two,

and north-west fractional (pxarter of section twenty-three.

William Talcott; south half of section fourteen.

Henr3' W. Talcott; south-west quarter of section thirteen.

David Carpenter; north-west (juarter of section fourteen.

R. C. Smith; south half of section twent3'-five.
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With the advent of this ^-ear active preparations were made
to make a busy year of it in the growth of the town. The work
of digging the mill race and preparing timber for the mills to

be erected, called for all the labor that could be procured, and

during the summer months the little settlement was a bee-

hive of industry. The mill race was completed in the fall and

terminated at the Talcott grist mill site. The race to the Phoe-

nix paper mill, the old r^^e mill and the Webber reaper works

Avas made years later.

As soon as the water was let into the race, which was simplj^

an inflow from the river without any dam, the Talcott saw
mill near where the first grist mill was built, was finished and

ready to run; and two other saw mills farther up the race,

soon followed.

The two upper saw mills went through various changes as

the demands of the times increased. At first large quantities

of lumber were cut from the heavy growth of timber along

the banks of the Pecatonica river. The principal lumber was
oak, ash, basswood and black wahiut. The latter was
largely used for furniture and finishing lumber for the many
dwelling houses which rapidly sprang up as soon as lumber

could be procured. From saw mills the power was changed to

machine shop, chair factory, carding machine, and number of

other industries.

This was the first water power developed on Pock river, and

to-day with its dam and enlarged race, it is the best one, and

has the greatest fall of water. Rockton got an immense start

of other towns on account of its water power and the various

articles it manufactured, which were sent to a number of sui-

rounding towns.

Samuel Adams had a chair factory and made other furniture

as early as 1845, which was the first establishment of the kind

in Rock river valley. People in other places in want of such

goods had to look to Rockton for their supply. E. L. Stiles, one

of our early settlers, tells of setting up house keeping in Rock-

ford, in the spring of 1846, but had to come to Rockton to buy
his furniture, as nothing in that line could be found in Rock-

ford.

The village of Rockton, or so much of it as was embraced in

the first survey, covers the most of the north-west quarter of
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secti<)n twenty-four, and was laid out into village lots thisyear

b}^ Capt. Willian Talcott, but the jilat was not tiled for record

until May 30, 1844, on account of the title of the land.

In the rush and excitement of a new^ country the people did

not forget the school and church privileges they had enjoyed

at their old homes, and accordinglj^ put forth every effort that

their limited means would allow to secure such benefits. The
Congregational church was organized this year and a school

Avas soon started in a little board shanty near the north-w^est

corner of block sixteen. The first teacher, or one of the first,

was Mary Pettibone. Other teachers followed and the school

from such small beginning had a vigorous growth.

George Stevens' family' came in '38. He w^as postmaster aboiit

1840, following after Mack in the office. It was kept in his log

house down on the flat this side of Mack's ferry.

Mr. Fox put up a comfortable log house not far from where
the present brick house now stands. There was a very beau-

tiful grove around it, extending from the river on the north

ncarl}' down to the mill race.

The Maine Colony.

During the summer of 1838, a colon3' of about thirty came
to Kockton from the state of Maine. The3" were under the

leadership of Ira Herse3% \vho had visited this section of the

country the j'ear before, and on his returs to his old home, so

impressed his neighbors with the grandeur of the west, and
especially' of the Kock river valle}' countr3', that a colon3' was
formed the following spring, and he accepted the position to

lead them in their western journe3^

The part3' came b3' what was then termed the southern
route. From Portland they came to Boston, then b3' rail to

Providence, and from there to New York and Philadelphia b3'

water. The3' crossed the state of Penns3dvania b3' railroad,

the train being helped over the AUeghenies b3' means of a

stationer3" engine, which drew the train up one side of the
mountain 1)3' a cable, and let it down on the other side. In due
time our travelers arrived at Pittsburgh. On their wa3' down
the Ohio, the3' stopped at Cincinnati and purchased wagons
and a good suppl3' of provisions for their future use. Their
further journey down to the mouth of the Ohio, up the Missis-

sippi to the Illinois river, and then up that stream as far as Ot-
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tawa, was performed without any accident to mar the pleasure

of the trip. A short stay was made at Ottawa to purchase

some oxen and a few cows.

Then began the overland journey to Rockton. The women
and children with their provision and other articles, exausted

tae carrying capacity of the four or live wagons which formed

their train, so the men folks had to jog along on foot, but it was
not a serious task to keep up with their ox teams.

The little colony arrived in Rockton in good order without

any serious mishaps by the way, having been about four weeks

on the road since they left their eastern homes. Although

wearied with their long journe}^ they were delighted with the

country, and immediately set about to locate their claims.

The colony consisted of Ira Hersey, wife and five children.

Silas Austin, wife and two daughters, and his son Henry S.

Austin with wife and two children; also F. W. Packard, who
lived with Silas Austin. Ira Cummings and wife. P. L. Ellis,

^wife and brother. Samuel Hersey and brother Hiram. Tiiey

were nephews of Ira Herse3^ A man by the name of Cole and

his sister Hannah Cole. She married Samuel Herse}^ in Be-

loit, Sept. 2, 1812. David Briggs and his brother Samuel
Briggs. Job Packard and a man by the name of Ordway; and

also one by the name or Harding.

Ira Herse}^ did not locate a claim for himself and famil3^ as

he soon settled in Beloit, and when the Goodhue grist mill

was built, he took charge of it for a number of years.

Samuel Hersey and P. L. Ellis first located claims on the

road between Rockton and Beloit, on the north half of section

seven, then included in the township of Roscoe. This tract

is now mostly embraced in the Harding farm. Later on they

deeded land in the south-west quarter of the same section,

which is now largel}^ included in the farm owned bj'^ George

Gayton.

Silas Austin and Ira Cummings located claims on the south

west quarter of section seven, but evidently did not enter the

land, as we find Ellis and Hersey in full possession of the same
tract a few years later.

Henry S. Austin claimed the south half of the south-west

quarter of section seven, and he and his father also had a claim

on the north half of the north-east quarter of section eighteen,

now forming the Enos farm and a part of the Shaw farm.



IIISTOKY OF ROCKTOX. 41

After living on their claims a year or so, H. S Austin and Ira

Cuinniings moved into Rockton. Cummings purchased lots

now owned l^y George Royden and Charles Shufelt. He built

the Shufelt house and lived there until quite recentl}'. He
worked at his trade as cooper for several A'ears, and had his

shop across the street where George Curr^^'s house now^

stands. After this he w^ent to work in the grist mill, which
business he followed for a number of 3"ears. He died in Rock-
ford only a few years ago at the home of one of his children.

Mr. Austin moved his framed house from his claim onto the

lot now owned by Thomas Harper, where he lived for a 3'ear

or two until he moved to Shirland in 1841. While in Rockton
he carried on the boot and shoe business, and had a shop
on Main street on the drug store corner. The house he lived

in was t)ne of the first trained h(uises in town. It aftewards
was burned down. Job Packard worked \vitli him in the shoe

shop. Mr. Austin died on his farm in Shirland a few years

ago.

David and Samuel Briggs located a claim on the east half of

section nineteen, now included in the town of Shirland. They
married daughters of Dea. Luman Pettibone. David married
Mar^' Pettibone and Samuel married Almira Pettibone. These
brothers owned sawmill property in Rockton for several 3'ears.

They finally settled in the lumber region of Wisconsin.

Job Packard married Hadassah Austin, daughter of Silas

Austin, Xov. 10, 1840, and located a farm in JShirland. He kept

a luml^er 3'ard at Shirland station for a number of years before

he died, which was cpiite recently.

Mr. Ordway located a claim west of Rock river on the south
east quarter of section ten, which is now owtied in part by E.J.
Yen ess. Mr. Harding seemed to have settled in some other

locality'.

P. Ij. HUis, like many of his neighbors, knew by actual ex-

perience of the privations of first settlers, and often was in

want of many comforts which make life desirable. In those
early days, hauling wheat to Chicago was the only way to get
many of the necessities of life, and in bad weather many
would lindly get enough for their loads of choice wheat to pa}'

the expenses on the road. Mr. Ellis has told the writer many
interesting stories of the privations of those early times, one
of which is given here. He was obliiied to iro barefoot all one
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suttiiner for want of means to buy a pair of shoes or boot, so

-when he took his first load of wheat to Chicago that fall he

had great expectation of securing the much needed footwear.

But like many others, his trip barely paid expenses and no

boots could be procured; and to futher add to his disappoint-

ment, a cold spell came on while in Chicago, and he was oblig-

ed to wrap soine grain sacks around his cold feet and come
home in that sorrowful plight. Mr. Ellis is one of the few^ now
livingof the Maine colony, and at present resides in Cam-
bridge, Furnas county, Nebraska.

Loring Loomer and his son Darius Eoomer catrie to Rockton

in the summer of 1838. After staying here a short time, they

went to Belvidere, where they lived until 1841. Daring this

time Luther Lawrence married one of Loring Loomer's

daughters. In 1841 they all settled in Rockton; Loring Loom-
er and his family, Darius Loomer and famiU^ and Luther
Lawrence and wife. Loring Loomis settled here and built the

McConnell house, where he lived a great many ^^ears, until

the death of his wife Oct. 31, 1875. He then went to l;)wa to

live ^vith one of his sons, and died there the next year, at ihe

age of eight3^-five j^ears.

Darius Loomer was a miller and worked in the Talcott

grist mill for a few 3^ears, after this he settled in Mayville,

Wis., where he died about 1853. He had two sons in the war
of the rebellion, Charles and James, who went throtigh the

sevice without a wound. His only daughter married John
\V. Hudson.
Luther Lawrence made Rockton his permanent liome, and

was engaged iti the grist mill a number of ^^ears. He died

at a good old age respected by all who knew him, March 27,

1891. He owned at the time of his death, an eight}^ of land,

which is now the property of F. M. Coons, and a house and lot

in town.

John R. Jewett came to Rockton in 1838. lie was a black-

smith by trade and made the heav}" irons for the three saw
mills and the grist mill. He made a claim west of Rock river,

which he soon sold for $150. In the summer of 1839 he built

the cellar walls for Stephen Mack's large house, which was the

first cellar with stone walls in town. In the fall of 1839, he

went back to his old home in Conneticut, but returned the

following spring. He was one of the petitit)ners with Stephen
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and Merrill E. Mack to the legislature for a charter to build a

bridge across Rock river, and superintended the construction

of the bridge in 18i3. This bridge was built t\vo ^'^ears before

the3^ had a bridge in Rockford. In 1845 he settled in Harrison

and entered an eighty of land, Avalking all the way to the land

office at Dixoii, to enter it. This farm \vas then his home as

long as he lived. He \vas justice of the peace for a number
of years, and also held other town offices. He assisted in re-

moving the remains of Stephen Mack and his Indian wife

from Macktown to the Phillips burying ground in 1880, and
was instrumental in procuring funds to properl}^ tit up the

graves. Mr. Jewett died at his home in Harrison a fe\v years

ago, respected by all w^ho knew him.

William Halle^^ came to Rockton in 1838. He lived in the

vicinity till the fall of 1839, when he went to Galena to the land

sale, and stayed there a part of the winter, returning to Rock-

ton in February of 1840, where he built a small shop on Main
street where the post office now stands. He worked at his trade

at tailoring in this shop for a nuinberof years, and had petty

stead3^ work, but there was not much mone3^ in circulation

then. About 1847, he bought a stock of cloth and trimmings,

and was the only tailor to keep such goods in this C()unt3\ After

a time he took in Robert Penman as a partner, and they did a

successful business in merchant tailoring, hats and caps, and
boots and shoes until 1859. In 1857 Mr. Halley was one of the

compan}^ that manufactured the Fountain reaper. In 1860 he

moved to the town of Owen, and has since been extensively

engaged in farming. He has also represented the town of

Owen on the board of supervisors. During his residence in

Rockton of over twenty' ^ears, his sterling qualities as a busi-

ness man and good citizen ^vere duh' appreciated bA^ our peo-

ple, and he was honored b^^ being elected at different times to

most of the offices in the gift of the town. When the town
\vas organized under the township system in 1850, he was
elected to the office of town clerk, and was town clerk when
the town bonds were issued to aid in the coiistrution of the

Racine and Mississij)pi railroad. He subse(|uently held the

offices of assessor, justice of the ju'ace and townshij) trustee

of schools. By industry" and goixl management in business,

he has actjuired an abundance of tliis world's goodt^, and is now
happy in the enjoyment of the fruits of a well spent life in the



44 HISTORY OF ROCIvTON.

80th year of his age. Mr. Halley, W. F. Packard and Miss

Eliza McConnell, are the only persons now living in this vicin-

ity who came here in 1838.

William M. Thomas was one of the 1838 settlers of Kockton.

He located a farm on the north-west quarter of section thirty-

one, and made it his residence for man}^ A^ears. He and his

wife raised a family of six children and lived to celebrate

their golden wedding, Nov. 13, 1878. Thej^ had two sons in the

war of the rebellion, who enlisted in 1862, and served until the

close of the war. No braver men ever defended the grand old

flag than they. Both were broken down in health by the

hardships they endured while in the service, and never full}'

recovered from the injurious effects. Mr. Thomas bought the

Springer place on Center street, and moved into Kockton in

the fall of 1881. He died of apoplexy, July 5, 1882. His sudden

death fell with a crushing weight upon his aged wife who had

walked by his side through all the joys and sorrows of life for

lifty-four years. He was a man of sterling worth, but of few
Avords. An honest, upright citizen, whom all respected for

his simple, straight forward treatment of his fellow men. One
of his old neighbors said of him: "He was such a good man,

he did not need to belong to a church." Mrs. Thomas died June
4th, 1892.

In the fall of 1838, Wait Talcott came to Rockton with his

w^ife and child, reaching this place on the 12th day of October,

after being on the road from the state of New York, for al)out

six weeks in an emigrant wagon. Miss Eliza McConnell, a

dear friend of Mrs. Talcott, came witli them, and remained as

one of the family as long as Mr. and Mrs. Talcott both lived.

She now resides with her niece, Mrs. A. N. Mellen, in Kockton.

Mr. Talcott erected a dwelling hovise on Main street, at the

south-east corner of block sixteen, which is now the j^roj^erty

of James Wall, and it was his residence as long as he lived in

Kockton. He was one of the original incorporators of I^eloit

college, and the Kockford Female Seminary, and was a mem-
]ier of the board of trustes of the college during liis life.

He took an active part in the religious, educational and in-

dustrial interest of the town. In 1854 he was elected as state

senator, and represented the counties of Winnebago, Boone,

Ogle and Carroll, in the legislature four ^a^ars. During his

term in the legislature, he secured a charter for a lailroad up

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found
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Rock river from Rockford to Rockton and thence to the state

line. Routes were surveyed on both sides of the river and stock

solicited, but nothing more was done about it, until the Chi-

cago, Milwaukee & St. Paul railway compan3'^ took the naatter

up twenty-five years later, obtained a new^ charter, and built

the road on the \vest side of the river in 1881.

Mr. Talcott was an active business man and had large con-

tracts in building the Racine and Mississippi railroad from
Rockton to Freeport. In 1854, he with his brother Sylvester

Talcott, formed a copartnership with John H. Manny, Jesse
Blinn and Ralph Emerson to manufacture the celebrated Man-
ny reaper, which subsequently became one of the largest man-
ufacturing industries in Rockford. He was collector of intern-

al revenue for this congressional district under President
Lincoln. His devoted and faithful wife died Aug. 7th, 1873,

and after a well spent life full}^ rounded out with 3'ears of use-

fulness, he departed this life, Dec. 7th, 1890.

Mr. Talcott had an eventful life, and in all the various rela-

tions he has sustained of both a public and private capacity,

has showed the active and noble traits of character which will

endear his memorA- in the hearts of the people. Rockton will

cherish his name in grateful remembrance for the many acts

of kindness bestowed on her citizens; the substantial aid to the

church of ^vhich he was a member, and more especially so, for

the generous gift of their fine library building, which will be

an enduring monument of his love for the cause of education

and moral advancement of inankind. So lived, and so died

one of nature's noblest men, and may his worth3' life serve ^fts

an example to be imitated b}- coming generations.

John B. Peterson was one of the 1838 settlers. He was a

carpenter b}' trade and built many houses in Rockton includ-

ing the Cong'l church. He first lived in a log house just east

of the Fisher place. Then he built a house on the corner op-

])osite the old shoe factory about 1840. This house was burn-

ed ten or twelve years later. The site is now owned by I). Xew-
ell. Mr. Peterson built the T. B. Talcott house and lived in it

for a number of years. He also had a claim near the Goodwin
farm in an early day. He was an active business man in his

time and had considerable property. He was elected one of the

first justices of the peace under the townshi]^ system of 1850,

and was sworn into office b^- Stephen Mack, which was about
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the last official act he did before he died. Mr. Peterson went

into the war as a carpenter and bridge builder, and by some ac-

cident had one of his legs broken so badly that it had to be am-

putated. For want of proper care he died from its effect about

1865. He had three daughters now Mrs. Joslin and Mrs.

Church, of Elgin, and Mrs. William Kinsley, of Beloit, Kansas.

Benjamin F. Fletcher was one of the settlers who located in

Rockton in 1838. Before coming here he was in the employ of

the noted Fairbanks Scale Co., of St. Johnsbury, Vt., for sever-

al years, and traveled quite extensively for that company to

introduce their scales. He was born in Vermont and came
here when twenty-seven years of age. He had considerable to

do in building and fitting the machinery for the first mills

built on the water power, and at one time had an interest in

one of the saw mills with George Stevens and Charles Kane.

He was a general master mechanic and built several houses

about town. He built the Johnson house near E. S. Waite's,

and the one north of the Baptist church which he lived in

when he died. He also built the Veness store in connection

with N. B. Kincaid in 1867. He at one time made wagons, built

furniture, and had a shop on the race for turing bedstead posts

and broom handles. He assisted J. Herva Jones in starting

up the corn planter business. He was a man of great energy,

and was respected by all for his integrity and
.
purity of life.

He died March 7, 1879. at 68 years of age. His widow now re-

sides in Jeffrey, N. H.

Benjamin Phillips came in 1838 and located a quarter sec-

tion of land on section thirty-two. The west half of the quart-

er he let his father have, keeping the east eighty for himself,

which he entered. He resided on this farm during his life

with the exception of five years he lived in Rockton when he

held the town offices of collector and constable. While living

here in 1857, he was one of the building committee that erected

the Methodist church. He labored at mason work in conection

with his farming for a number of years. While building a

stone house on the Henry Thayer farm, a large stone fell on one

of his feet, crushing it so badly that he had to have it ampu-

tated. After a time he procured an artificial limb which ena-

bled him to get a round almost as well as he could before this

misfortune, and save a slight limp in his walk no one would

know that he labored under such a difficulty. He was a man
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highly respected 1)3' all wlu) were acquainted with him. He
died May 31, 1895. His widow now lives in her comfortable
home in Rockton.

John Morse who settled on the west side of the river, was
one of the pioneers of 1838. He located a claim on tlie north-

east quarter of section ten and part of this land has ])een in the
possession of the family since that time. He was a stead}', in-

dustious man, and was highly res})ected by all of his neigh-

bors and friends. He well knew the hardships of a pioneer
life, but lived to enjoy many of the comforts that came in after

3'^ears. He held the office of commissioner of highways to the
entire satisfaction of the people for a long time, He died at

the age of fift^'-nine of liver difficult^', Feb. 21, 1885.

Rowland C. vSniith was one of the 1838 settlers. He located

the south half of section twent3'-five, and until ([uite recenth',

part of the land was in the possession of the faniih'. He first

lived in the block house in the town of Owen, but later occu-
pied his own place until his death which occurred about 1857.

He had quite a large famil}- which are greath' scattered in the

Avest. William Smith is the only one of his children now liv-

ing in Rockton, and even the old place has been sokl to other
parties. He was an enterprising man of his da3', and had his

life been spared, would in all probal)ilit3', have acquired a
large quantit3' of land. He was assessor of the town in 1854.

Frank I^ackard, as he was familiarl3' called, sjicnt his first

winter in the west, that of '38 and '39, up the Pecatonic with
Mr. S. Austin, \vho was engaged in logging. The next sum-
mer, though but a bo3', he commenced his trade as a builder,

witli Mr. l^eterson. his first work being on Mr. Peterson's house
which stood on the corner of Main and Green streets. The lot

is now t)\vned by Mr. Xewell. The house was burned some
3'ears later. His school da3's were few, but being a natural

artist, and accurate in figures, after a few 3a'ars as a common
workman, he took up the stuch' of architecture, and with the

aid of such l>o()ks and papers as he could procure, tliough with-

out a teacher, mack' rapid advancement in his chosen lousi-

ness. He has drafted and built a large numl)er of the build-

ings. l)oth public and private, now standing in town, as \\v\l

as those of Mr. Moody, Mr. F^helps, Mr. (r. H. jiollister, now own-
ed 1)3' Mrs. (rleasman, Creo. (rleasman, and other fine residences

in the country. He built and re built tlu' Hra<lner, vSmith |)a-
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per mill, being the mechanic for the company for seventeen

years. He also built the Keeney paper mill. He was three

years in the employ of the old Galena and Chicago railroad

company as a contractor. During this time he superintended

the building of the first railroad bridge in the state.

He erected a large steam saw mill at Manistee, Michigan,

and has done contract building in Chicago, Racine, Rockford

and Beloit. He owned for a number of years the house which

is now the property of Mr. McCue. He united with the Con-

gregational church during the ministration of its first pastor,

W. M. Adams, in 1840, and was married to his daughter. Miss

Julia Adams, June 1, 1852. He served six years as constable,

and one term as a member of the village board.

There was an early settler by the name C. Vroman, who had

land in section thirt^^-six, embracing considerable timber land.

The tract which has since been known as Webber's grove, was
first called Vroman's grove. He must have left the covintry

in an early da3^

In the fall of 1838, after navigation had closed, it was found

that there was a short suppl3^ of salt in Chicago, and no chance

to get anj^ more until spring. This condition made a st)rt of

a salt famine in the little inland settlements, and especially

so in Rockton. A man in Macktov\'n had ten barrels of salt on

hand, and he made the people's necessity his opportunit3^ He
held his salt at $11 a barrel, and readily sold it at that price be

fore it could be procured from other sources ia the spring. At
that time nails were 121/2 cents a pound, molasses $1.50 a gal-

lon, and other articles in like proportion in price. An effort

was made to boil down the.juice of pumpkins to make s^-rup,

but it was not a success and when made was of a very poor

quality. Some maple sugar was made from the maple trees

along the river. Robert J. Cross had a large grove of maple

trees down the river, which before his time was used by the

Indians. He tried the maple sugar business, but soon aban-

doned it as it did not pay for the trouble.

The salt famine in Rockton had its counterpart in Rockford

in the winter of 1836 and '37, but they were short on tobacco

and not on salt, and their chances to get a suppy from Chicago

were very limited. A story of tobacco suppl}' was told of Simon

P. Doty, who was the pioneer settler of Belvidere. The tril^e

of Indians living on the north side of the river had but recent-
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1}^ lost their chief. Big Thunder, when Mr. Doty settled there.

This chief was buried according to his directions, on the top

of court house hill, in a standing position with his face to the
east, so he could see w^hen the white folks came and give the

war whoop to ralh' his people. His grave was surrounded by
a rude stockade, and a plentiful supply of Indian tobacco left

on the grave for the use of the old chief while dwelling in the
happy bunting ground where all good Indians are supposed to

go. Doty's supply of tobacco soon ran out and he longingly"

wished for some of old Big Thunder's useless suppl3\ So one
dark night with no fear of ghosts before his e3'es, he visited

the old chief's grave and borrowed some of his kinnikanic. The
tribe seeing tVie tobacco was diininishing, verj' proinptly kept
up the supp3^ This state of things greatl}^ pleased the pioneer
settler, and man}^ a long winter evening w^as whiled away
smoking the pipe of peace to the memor^^ of old Big Thunder
and his loyal tribe.

Martin P. Ormsby was one of the earl}^ settlers of Rockton,
coming as earl}^ as 1838, and probably earlier. He was inter-

ested in building one of the first sawmills on the race in 1838,

which he subsequently sold to a man b}- the name of Stokes.

He bought land on the south side of the river of Mr. Mack, and
lived there while he remained in Rockton. His house was a

log structure just west of the residence of B. B. Gates. He
was the step-father of Russell Jones and Eliza Jones. Mrs.
Ormsb}^ was a sister of Mrs. Merrill E. Mack. Mr. and Mrs.

Ormsby \vere both members of the Cong'l church, until thej^

were dismissed by letter June 13, 1847. Mrs. Ormsby had the
honor of being one of the original fourteen Avho formed the

church. vSusequently Mr. Ormsby started for California going
by way of the istlimus of Panama, but died on shipboard and
was buried in the Pacific ocean.

Russell Jones came here with his step-father, Mr. Ormsl)}-,

when a young man. He went to Galena in 1840, and soon got
into some profitable business. He purchased land on the

south side of the river, and laid out an addition to the village,

which is know as "Russell Jones' addition to Rockton." This

I)lat was filed for record in the recorder's office in Rockford,

June 2. 1855. Being a friend of GeneralGrant while in Galena,

he secured the appointment of U. S. marshal under Grant's

administration, and after that a government appointment to
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some foreign couiitr3\ In later 3"ears he has become a leading

man in the street railwaj^ business in Chicago.

Jay Ambrose Wight was here as early as 1838, walking all

the wa}^ from Chicago. He kept the first store in Rockton,
with the exception of Mack's. He first located his store near
the upper race bridge, on the road from Macktown to Beloit,

but soon after built a store on the lot now occupied by Mrs.

James' store. This building has since been moved and is now-

occupied by Jason Newell as a store house for paper rags.

While living here, Mr. Wight married Miss Cai"oline E. Adaius,

a daughter of Rev. William M. Adams. In 1841 he disposed of

his store and moved to Rockford, where he remained a couple
of years. He studied law and was admitted to the bar in

Springfield. He started a newspaper in Rockford, called the

Winnebago Forum, in February of 1842. After conducting
this paper for about six months, he sold out the concern to

A. Colton, and accepted the position as editor of the Pruirie

Farmer, of Chicago, whicli he filled for about sixteen years.

He afterwards joined the ministry of the Presbyterian church,

and served in that capacit}?' until his death, which occurred in

Bay City, Mich., Nov. 13, 1889. Mr. Wight was one of the

fovindersof the Cong'l church in Rockton. His brotlier Tim-
othv Wisfht was enoracfed with him in the store for some time.

The principal event of this 3^ear was the building of the

Talcott gristmill, which was completed and ready for busi-

ness in the fall of the year. As this was the first gristmill

built in Rock river valle}", it sooh liad an immense custom
trade, for people came long distances to get their milling done
here, even from Ft. Winnebago, Wis., one hundred miles awa3^
People would come with a load of wheat to be ground, and oft-

en would have to stay a week or so before the}' could get their

grists ready to return home. Of course this nuide it profitable

for those Avho could provide keeping for the far-awaj^ patrons

of the mill.

The first hotel in Rockton was Iniilt b^' Jacob FT 3'att, on the

south side of Main street, in 1839, and was carried on b}' him
for quit a number of years. The Aviiig part of the building was
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occupied b}' A. H. and F. W. Merrill for a store ^vhen they
tirst commenced business in Kockton as early as 1843. This
buildino- is now the residence of S. L. Jenkins. One of the first

deaths in town occurred in this hotel. The decease \vas a

young man b}" the naine of Hopkins. Mr. H^^att was at one
time engaged in carrying the mail. He moved his family to

California in 1850. where he died at Pett Hill, Cal., Sept. 13th,

1878, in the 74th year of his age. Mrs. Hyatt is now living

with her daughter, Mrs. Byron Graham, in Rockford.
Dr. Harlej' Hooker who was born in Hartford, Ct., Dec. 9,

1792, came to Rockton in 1839. His object point in coming west,

was Marshaltown; Mich., but finding so much sickness there,

he pushed on to Illinois. First he came to Beloit, which was
then composed of a few shanties, and then on to Rockton,
w^hich they reached at set of sun, and found a hospitable shel-

ter in the log cabin occupied by Dea. Luman Pettibone and
family, on the Goodwin farm, which was their home for the

first three months. Dr. Hooker was the pioneer physician of

Rockton, and had an extensive practice for a long period of

years. He v^^as highly respected by all who knew him. He
was a member of the Cong'l church, possessing strong reli-

gious convictions and adorned his profession by his daily walk
and conversation. The memory of a life of purit3^ such as his,

is a sacred heritage to his children. He died March 16, 1869.

The home he occupied so long in Rockton, is now the residence

of Messrs. Thompson and Baker. His wife's last j'ears w^ere

spent with her daughter, Mrs. G. H. HoUister, \vhere she clos-

ed a most useful life, Ma}^ 25, 1877. They had a family of six

children, and lived to see them all attain to man and woman-
hood, occupying honorable positions in society', illustrating

the value of wise and virtuous parental precept and example.
Thomas Farmer was one of the 1839 settlers of Rockton. He

secured land on the south-west quarter of section thirty-one,

which Mr. Halley had previously located, and a part of this

laud with a tract in Owen, remained in his jjossession as long

as he lived, He was born in Scotland, July 10, 1815, came to

this countrN' in 1836, first to Vermont and then to Rockton. He
was a stone mason by trade and built several stone buildings

in town, among which is the residence of K. j. X'eness, the

T. B. Talcott h(nise, the Henry Talcott liouse, the school house,

the library buildin<r. the Gibson house, and the residence of



52 HISTORY OF KOClvTOX.

Miss Susan Griffith, which he built for himself and lived in

it until he settled on liisfarni in the town of Qwen. In 1875

he moved to Rockford, where he died Oct. 9, 1880. He was
noted for his jovial' spirit and lively disposition, and a more
cheerful man than he would be hard to find; and he was always

the happiest when at his own fireside, with his children and

grand children gathered around him. Mrs. Farmer, whose
maiden name was Margaret Halley, a sister of William Halley,

died in Rockford in 1887. Their nine children are: Mrs. Mary
Clark, of Owen; George and William Farmer, of Rockton; Mrs.

Fred Gleasman, of Rockton; Henry Farmer, of Salt Lake City,

Utah; Chester Farmer, of Rockford; Charles and R. B. Farmer,

of Ivos Angeles, Cal.; and Stanley- Farmer, of Sever}^ Kansas.

Henr}' W. Conklin was born in Damascvis, Penn., June 24th,

1827, came \vest with his mother and nine children in 1839.

They started on their journey from the east June 4th. and ar-

rived at Rockford, July 12th. Although but a boy of twelve

years of age, he soon had to learn to struggle with the stern

realities of frontier life. He soon secured work to aid in the

support of the famil3^ his first job was driving a l)reaking team
at $12 a month. His first purchase of land was in the town of

Harrison, in 1854, but this property was lost by reason of the

mortgage he put on it to help build the Racine and Missis-

sippi railroad. He married Miss Alvalina Grover, in Juda,

Wis., Nov. 28, 1856. In 1865 they went to the state of Oregon,

crossing the plains and climbing over the mountains. They
had an eventful journey" as it was the year of Indian hostili-

ties, but fortunately they reached their destination unharmed.
After staying there a 3^ear, they returned to Rockton, coming
by the way of the isthmus. Mr. Conklin then purchsed the

farm on which he now resides, which was first settled by Al-

exander Gibson. In connection with his farming, he has been

quite extensivel3^ engaged in keeping bees, whicli has been an

important source of revenue to him. He held the office of

town collector for two years, and has held otlier town and

school offices. He enjo^'s the respect and esteem of his fellow

men. He is kind to his neighbors and friends, and generous to

those who need a helping hand. The children born to Mr.

and Mrs. Conklin are: Dorsej^ Ta^dor, born in Harrison, Oct.

16, 1857; Lemi Henry, born in Harrison, March 8 1859; James
B., born in Harrison, Aug. 12, 1863; Rose K., born in Oregon,
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Oct. 17, 1805; and Kva E., l)orn in Rockton, Jan. 25, 1874.

KJcbard Griffith, wlio was born in England, came to Rock-
ton in 1839. He learned the trade of wagon maker of Jes.se

Blinn, and then worked for a time for William Goddard who
built wagons on the Beloit road. He soon after set up in

business for himself, in a shop where the Baptist jjarsonage

now stands, and there carried on wagon making until some
time later he moved his works to Beloit. While doing business
in Beloit, he emplo^^ed John Thompson in his shop, \vho has
since become a prominant manufacturer in that city. After
being in Beloit a few years, he Avent to Freeport, and in con-

nection ^vith George Stiles, engaged in the business of manu-
facturing fanning mills up to about 1860. He made this busi-

ness very profitable. He loaned all the mone^^ he could spare
from his business at a good rate of interest, which together
with the profits on his manufacturing industry, enabled him
to accumulate in about twenty 3'ears, the sum of a hundred
thousand dollars. He also invested in land and acquired about
500 acres. During the war he located in Rockford, and lived

there until about 1873, \vhen he disposed of his property' and
went back to England, where he now resides, surrounded with
all the luxury that his wealth accumulated in this countr3^

can procure.

Elder James Veness \vas born in England, Sept. 30, 1800, He
was apprenticed to a linen-draper in London, to learn the lou-

siness, and liesides giving his time for a term of 3'ears, his

father had to bu^- the [)osition b^- the paA^ment of £150. He
came to Rockton with his family in 1839, l)ut only sta3'ed here

a short time, and then went to Round l^rairie, in Boone coun-
ty, Avhere he lived for a number of vears. During his stay

there he devoted his time to farming and traveling over the

count}' as often as possible, doing the work of a pioneer

l)reacher of the liajotist church. He was the first, or one of the

first, to preach in the Belvidere court house. He returned to

Rockton in 1851, and for about three \-ears was engaged as

clerk in the store of Talcott iS: Co., where Harjoer Brothers
now have their gorcer^' store. In 1854 he set up business for

himself where J. J. Crawford «S: Co., have their meat market.
His stock consisted of groceries and books. This was the first

attenipt to have a l)ook store in town. In 1855 he moved his

store to the west end of the stone lolock, where in 185(5 he took
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his son, E. y. Veuess, into partnersliip. This firm continued

the business till 1861. when he sold out to his partner and re-

tired from business. His faithful wife died Oct. 8, 1862, which

was the overshadowing trial of his life. He died Jan. 22, 1881,

after a busy life of eighty years, doing what he could to better

the condition of his fellow men.

Dr. Joseph G. Veness was born in England, Ma}' 18, 1823,

and came with his parents to Rockton in 1839. Later he lived

in Boone county for a number of 3^ears, where he married Miss

Katherine J. Butler, Aug. 12, 1848. After this event, he moved
to Roscoe, and built houses there. One of them was the grout

house which Dea. Norris lived in for a good manj^ years. He
moved to Rockton after living in Roscoe for a time, and work-

ed with his brother, J. W. Veness, at mason work. He studied

medicine and practiced as a physician to the end of his life.

He held the office of justice of the peace for several years, also

the office of village trustee. He was an efficient member of

the Baptist church, and also an energetic worker in the tem-

perance cause. He was a member of the Good Templars and

Temple of Honor as long as he lived. He was also instrument-

al in starting the first free circulating library. He died Feb.

4, 1893.

Dea. James W. Veness was born in England, May 22, 1825,

came to Rockton with his parents in 1839. He went with them

to Round Prairie, Boone county, where he lived until 1852,

when he returned to Rockton. He married Miss Susannah

Legge, in Boone county, Feb. 3. 1852. vShe was born in Cana-

da, Oct. 18, 1829. He built the wing part of his house when
he first came to Rockton and lived in the same place until his

death. He followed the trade of a mason, and performed a

great deal of work in that line about town. He held the office

of justice of the peace for several years, also served several

years as village trustee and president of the village board. He
served four years as postmaster. He was a deacon in the Bap-

tist church for a considerable time, and took a prominent ])art

in the work of the church and Sunday-school. He was highl}'

respected by all who knew him. Fie died August 16, 1896, in

his home in Rockton, in the 71st year of his age. The names
of the children born to Mr. and Mrs. Veness are: William How-
land Veness, born Dec. 22, 1853, was drowned in the race, Jul}^

24, 1866. [. WelHngton X'eness, l)orn Sej^t. 24. 1855. FVanklin
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Ambrose Veuess, Ijorii Dec. 17, 1857, died May 15, 1863. Harry
Ernest Veiiess, born March 31, 18(50. Charles Otis Veness,
born Oct. 17, 1862. KoUen Samuel Veness, born Oct. 10, 1867,

died Nov. 22,1868. Lily Veness, born Nov. 16, 1869. Violet

Veness, born August 27, 1871, died Sept. 10, 1871.

E. J. Veness was born in Oneida county, N. Y., Jan. 21, 1837.

He was but two years of age when his parents lirst came to

Kockton. After living in Boone county for twelve 3'ears, he
returned to Rockton with his parents in 1851, He \vent into

business ^vith his father in 1856, and bougbt out his father's

interest in the store in 1861. He then formed a copartnership
with E. S. Waite and A. C. Josh'ii, under the firm name of

Wniess, Waite & Joslyn, which firm carried on business until

1865, when Messrs. Veness and Waite sold out their interest

in the store to Mr. JosU^n, Mr. Veness went to Pikes Peak in

l!^60, and made tlie journey from vSt. Joe, Ma., to Denver, in

fort}'-two (hns. He came back in the fall of the same 3'ear.

In 1865 he went to Racine, Wis., and engaged in the tannery
business till the fall of 1867, when he sold out his interest there

and returned to Rockton, and commenced business again ^vith

Mr. Waite. The}' had a stock of dry goods, groceries and drugs,

and carried on their business in tiie store now occupied I)}'

\"eness iS: vSon. This firm continued the store until April 7th,

1880, when Mr. Waite retired.. Then Mr. Veness took in as

partner, Cj. W. >[artin, a former clerk, and X'eness & Martin
carried on the business for a few years. Since Mr. Martin re

tired from the firm, the store has been conducted b}' E. J. Ve-
ness & Son. Mr. Veness was elected supervisor of the town
in the sj)ringof 1879, and gave the town a continuous service in

that cajjacity for nine 3'ears, seven years of tliis time he \vas

chairman of the board of supervisors. He has been an active

member of the Haptist church, and given it a liberal support.

He married Miss Mary Sterns, daughter of Lloyd and Mar^'

Sterns, Xov. 5,1862. She was born in De Kalb count}^ Feb. 3,

1841.

Claims.

In early times before the land came into market, the setters

\\^oul(l stake out their resj)ective claims, ^vhich were generally

respected by other settlers, for they all had a common interest

to be secured in the peaceful possession of their land Some-
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times a man would make a prairie claim and a timber claim

and try to hold them both at the same time. This practice

was not in high favor w^ith men seeking claims and it often

led to w^hat was termed "jumping claims," or in other words,

taking possession of one of these double claims w^ithout leave

or license. If the man forcing his claim had a sufficient back-

ing of friends or relatives, he generally succeeded in Jiolding

onto the land; but on the other hand, if the other part}- could

muster a greater force, the "jumper" would have to vacate the

preinises and seek some other locality.

A case of this kind occurred up the Pecatoriica, on section

twenty-two. Calvin Comstock, a settler of 1838 or '39, "jump-

ed a timber claim," and proposed to hold it as the other party

alread}^ had a prairie claim of a quarter section. He was duly

notified to leave this land, but he made up his mind to sta}",

and accordingly proceeded to make his claim more secure by

erecting a log house thereon. This did not settle matters.

Hearing b}" some of his friends that a party of settlers would

wait on him on a certain da3^ and take prompt measures to

drive him off. So accordingly he prepared for war and waited

the attack. When the day arrived he secured a half dozen

of his friends with loaded guns to repel any assault, and his

wife anxious to bear a part filled all tlie kettles with water and

had them in good scalding trim.

Soon the attacking part}^ arrived in cosiderable force, and

ordered him off the premises. With his little garrison in re-

serve in the log cabin, he appeared at the door and cooly in-

formed the outside crowd that they might go to thunder with

their demand. A "man's house was his castle," and he should

hold possession, and if he was molested several loaded guns

and kettles of hot water would be used to defend his home.

This state of things was unlooked for by the attacking party,

and being powerless to enforce their demand, finall}^ conclud-

ed to leave the right of possession to be decided by Judge Nog-

gle, and quietly withdrew from the bloodless battle field.

It is needless to say that the right of possession was never

decided by Judge Noggle, and Mr. Comstock remained in

peaceful possession, and a year or two later he sold his claim

to Darivis Adams and luoved to Wisconsin. Mr. Adams trans-

ferred his title to S. K. Blodgett in 1842, and this land has since

been in the possession of the Blodgett family. It is now owned
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1)3' S. K. Blodgett, son of the ptirchnser of the hind of .\danis.

Mr. Conistock died in Iowa a nuniher of ^^ears a<:;o.

Kichard H. Conistock was born in Middlesex count}^ Conn.,

June 14, 1815, learned the trade of a carpenter and joiner, when
a young man. He helped to huild the first railroad station in

Ann Arbor, Mich. He drove an ox team from there to Kock-
ton in 1839, making the journey in fourteen daN's. He located

a claim on section twenty-one which land he held for a number
years. He lived with his brother, Calvin Conistock for a short

time wdien he first came here. He helped to build the first

^varehouse in Morris, Ills., and \vhile there, married Hannah
Horton, Jan. 10, 1848. She was born in Jefferson county, Ind.,

March 21, 1828. Pie owned laud in section twenty-six, which
was his home for over forty years. During the latter years of

his life he had the tiiisfortune to lose one of his arms b}- being
caught in a corn sheller. He ^vas a man of positive convic-

tions, examplarj^ in his dail}^ life, and liighh^ respected by his

and friends. He died Jan. 18, 1894, leaving a wife and three

children and a host of friend to mourn his loss.

Ax Indian Dkath and Bukial.

In the summer and autumn of 1839, an Indian by the name
of Billy Walk-knife was sick with consumption. All that the

Indian doctors could do for him did not arrest the progress of

the disease. The Indians then resorted to a sacrifice, or burnt
offering to appease the anger of the Great Spirit. Accordingly^

a large white dog was selected and gail}' decorated with color-

ed ribbons, and then slain for the offering. The body was put
upon a rudely constructed altar and a fire kept burning until

it was entirely consumed, and during this strange scene vari-

ous Indian ceremonies were performed to makr the rude cus-

tom more weird and impressive.

Walk-knife finally died in big wootls on the noitli side of the

Pecatonica river near the mouth of Coon creek, and the l)urial

was consumated on the high bluff across the river. Mr. Mack,
a Frenchman by the name of Ilemel, and R. H. Conistock wit-

nessed the solemn scene on the south bank of the river.

Mr. Conistock, in relating the incident, said there was a

blanket hanging from the limb of a tree on the north side, and
several canoes drawn upontlic bank. in a short time the

Indians came out of the woods to tlie number ot two hunch-ed
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or more, and all marched under the depending blanket. Four

were bearing the remains of the dead Indian done up in an en-

casement of bark. They all crossed the river, some in ca-

noes, some on horse back, and those who could find no other

means,swam across. When all had landed, they marched to the

brow of the hill in a grave, dignified manner, bearing the

corpse in front, followed by a feeble old squaw, the mother of

the decease, who was supported by two women.
When all had assembled around the newly made grave, the

corpse was laid on the ground beside it, and the people with

bowed heads were addressed for a few minutes by one of their

number. It was a most solemn occasion for these children of

nature. They were about to consign a 3a)ung man in the prime

of his life to the tender care of mother earth. The venerable

mother was standing at the foot of the grave in all the agony

of desolate mother-hood. The sober countenances of her

friends around her attested their deep sj'^mpath}^ and love

But no one could tell how severely' that mother's heart was
tried, or how great was her suffering for the loss of her darling

boy. He was a gift of the Great Spirit. She had pressed

him to her breast, cradled him in her arms, and protected him
from harm with all a mother's devotion and love. Poor, grief-

stricken mother, well might she ask wh}^ had the Great Spirit

wounded her so deeply, and cut assunder ever^^ tie that bound

her to her kindred and tribe.

Said Mr. Comstock in relating this sad account, "I was nev-

er more deeply impressed at any funeral in m^- life."

A box was brought forth containing the dead man's personal

effects, which were hung on a pole supported b}^ two crotched

sticks driven in the ground. A mark was put on a tree and

the young Indians were allowed to shoot at the mark, and as

often as they hit it, thej^ could take their choice from the arti-

cles hanging on the pole. This was kept up until all of the

things were gone. Having thus settled the dead man's estate

in his own presence, the body was then placed in the shallow

grave and tenderly covered with earth. Then the ceremony' was
over and the crowd departed.

A week later as Mr. Comstock was passing along the trail

near tlie grave, he was attracted by hearing a deep, mournful

sound, and on going a little nearer, he found the aged mother

lying on her son's grave, and moaning as if her heart was
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broken. The mother love \vas as strong and al)iding as in

the white races.

For 3'ears after an oak plank marked this Indian's grave, but

now the exact location is unknown. There were two other

graves on the same hill in early times, but all trace of them is

now lost.

Ansel Comstock was an early settler in Rockton. He was
born in Conn., May 24, 1817. Atone tiine he had a mill on the

water power for sawing stone for window caps and sills and
for other building purposes. This industry did not last long

as it failed to be remunerating. He married Miss Mary L.

Willard Oct. 14, 1847, and soon after built the Dr. Waite house,

which was destroj^ed by fire March 14, 1895. He moved to

Warren, Ills., about 1852, and six year after he returned to

Kockton. He was interested for a spell in a planing mill on

the water power. He was to\vn collector for one or two
3^ears. In 1861 he secured the appointment as postmaster

which he held to the time of his death, March 31, 1863. Mrs.

Comstock was appointed his successor, and held the office un-

til 1873. She first came to Rockton in 1841, and taught school

for a number of 3^ears. During the last years of her life she

made her home with her sister, Mrs. Thomas Talcott. She
died in Rockton, Aug. 16. 1895.

First Births.

Ann Gibson was the first white child born in Rockton town-

ship. She was born Jan 22, 1839. She is now Mrs. Ann Gib-

son Ruger, and resides in Chicago, Ills.

Lucy \V. Peterson was the first white child born in the

village of Rockton. She was born Sept. 2, 1839. She is now
Mrs. Lucy W. Josh^n, and resides in Elgin, Ills,

William Ariel Talcott was the first white male child born in

the village of Rockton. He was born Sept. 28, 1839. He now
resides in Rockford.

First Deaths.

1st. Miss Cummings, a sister of Ira Cummings.
2nd. Walter Wight, a son of J. Ambrose Wight, who died

Jan. 24, 1842, and buried near the guard locks in that part of the

present cemetery.

3rd. Thomas Stokes who was drowned in the river.
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4th. A young man died at Jacob Hyatt's tavern by the name
of Hopkins.

Macktown.

In 1839 Mack built the large two story house which is now
the sole survivor of that earl}^ settlement. At the time of .its

erection, it was the best house west of the lake, and but few e-

qualed it in Chicago. It was built on a good stone foundation,

the first in the place, and when completed ^vas painted, v^hich

was a luxury rarel}" indulged in during those earh- times. He
occupied this house until his death. He built other liouses,

but they did not involve such an outlay of money.

The first one built west of Mack's house was a frame struct-

ure, and a storj^ and a half high. The lower part was occupied

for several years by Sylvester Stevens, as a furniture room and

work shop. The upper story was reached by stairs on the out

side, and was first used for a school house for Mack's children

and such others as lived in the vicinit3^ Some Indian child-

ren were induced to attend for a time, but all the effort put

forth to educate them was comparatively labor lost. The dif-

ferent teachers were paid almost wholly by Mr. Mack. This

school w^as kept up until he built his school house in another

part of the place. After the chamber ceased to be used for

school purposes, it was rented for a dvv^elling. S. K. Blodgett

tells of going to this school when quite j^oung, but the most
marked feature that he vividly remembers was on the occasion

of the building being on fire. The teacher and scholars were

greatl}' frightened, but prompt help soon put out the fire. One
of the teachers of this school was Miss Jane McDowell. This

building was taken down after Mack's death and moved over

to Rockton, where it was put up again. It is now the residence

of Thomas Jordan.

Still farther west was Mack's store. This was first carried

on by Mack, but after a few years he took in his cousin, Merrill

E. Mack, as a partner, which continued until the hitter's

death, March 25, 1844. After Stephen Mack's death, the nice

black walnut counters of this store were sold to a Shirland

inan, and a lady of that place has now a wardrobe made from

that material, which she prizes very highly.

Farther west still, and across the street running in a south-

westerly direction to the Daniel Fairchild place, now owned
by Fred Gleasman, was the double log lu)use built by Mack,
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and first occupied b}' Eli Hayes. B3' reason of his willingness

to entertain travelers in the newly settled countr}-, it was dig-

nified by the name of "tavern." Thus Hayer's tavern was one
of the distinctive features of the early days of Macktown. Mr.
Hayes and his wife Sophronia Hayes came to Macktown from
Indiana, and were among the original fourteen members of the

Congregational church. They kept this house till 1838, when
it passed into the hands of Jesse Blinn. Mrs. Hayes died March
2i, 1839, and Mr. Hayes soon moved aw^ay.

Mr. Blinn came from Toledo, Ohio, and arrived in Macktown
with his wife and infant son, Juh" 13, 1838. He occupied the
Ha3''es house until 1843, and run the Mack ferry until the
bridge was built, then he moved down to Tha3'^er's part of the
town, and wdiile living there built the Griffin house, and worked
at wagon making. He had his work shop in a stone builing

near the Webber grist mill. He held the office of justice of the

peace for a number of 3"ears. Both Mr. and Mrs. Blinn were
members of the Cong'l church. The3^ moved to Rockford in

1851, where he engaged in the hardware business. He subse-
quentl3'' \vas interested in the manufacture of reapers. He
died in Rockford in 1879. While living in Macktown, Mrs.

Blinn was in constant fear that her little bo3" would get lost

in the woods, or fall into the river and be drowned. One day
she missed him and started out \vith all a mother's anxiet3'^ to

find him. Being directed 133^ Mr. Mack, she sought the Indian
camp, and soon found her child in the hands of the Indian
boys. They had painted his face, fixed up his hair with feath-

ers, and St) transformed him into an Indian bo3^, that his own
mother could hardl3' recognize him. It was but the work of a

moment, to grasp hiin in her arms and take him home to be

her own little bo3' again.

Mr. Whitman, who had settled in Macktown in 1841, next

occupied the log tavern until he built the stone building, now in

ruins, about 1840. He used it both for a store and dwelling:,

until about 18r).3, when he moved to Rockford, and alxnita 3'ear

afterwards died there of consumption. The old log tavern

has long since disapj^eared.

Farther along the road from the old tavern house to the Fair-

child place, on the river side of the road, was the log house of

a Frenchman bv the name of Pelke3', who lived with a stjuaw
wife. He was an educated man of line appearance, and could
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speak five different Indian languages. Another Frenchman
by the name of Beaudine, living with a squaw wife, had a cab-

in near the old tavern. A Frenchman b}^ the name of Hemel
secured the possession of section t\venty-six, which ^vas an In-

dian float, by reason his squaw wife. He had an interesting

daughter whom he was desirous of marr^^ing to some white

man, and made the following offer to Sylvester Stevens, then

a young man in Macktown: "You takes my daughter," said

the old Frenchman. "I gif him section land, bushel dollar,

horse and vagon, forty pony and fifty hog." This marriage

portion was more tempting than the dusky half-breed daugh-
ter, but both were declined with thanks.

There was a frame house w^est of Whitman's store, on the

river side of the street, which was built by William Shores in

1842. He and his \vife Anna Shores, who were the parents of

Aaron Shores, lived there a few^^ears until Mr. Shores' death.

The property was bought by Sj^lvester Stevens \vhich was his

residence until he moved over to Rockton in 1853. Some of

the ruins of this house are still to Ue seen.

Along west of the William Shores house, and on the same
side of the street, was the residence and shop of Henr^' Bates,

who was the shoemaker of the settlement. He died in that

house. Every trace of the location of the house and shop
are now entirely gone. Still farther west in the same line,

were the log huts occupied by French trappers with Indian

wives.

On the west side of the street running south from Mack's
bridge, and well up the hill, was the residence of Merrill E.

Mack, which was quite a building for those times. He died

in that house. Both he and his wife, Vienna D. Mack, were
members of the Cong'l church. Across the street from this

house was the Mack school house, built about 1846, and was
used for both schools and meetings. Both of these buildings

have since disappeared. Miss Mary D. Frost was one of the

first teachers in this school house. She afterwards became
Mrs. Thayer. She lived with Mrs. Isaac Adams for a nvimber

of years, and died Aug. 18, 1895.

Farther south of the school house was the cemetery. There
Stephen Mack and his Indian \vife were buried, and one of

their children. Several other children and some older persons

^vere also buried there. The remains of Mack and his first
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wife have been removed, and some others, but there are some
buried there still. The site of tlie cemetery is now in a plo^v-

ed held, and all traces of the remaining graves are wholly ob-

literated.

Aaron Shores was born in Ontario count}^, N. Y., June 2, 1806.

He married Jane Horton, in Bradford county, Pa. He came
west with his famil}^ and settled in Macktown in 1844, where
he purchased .a lot and built a house south-east of the Whit-

man stone store. He was a carpenter by trade and built the

present barn on the Mack place, for which he received forty

dollars in cash, which sum in those early da3"s, seemed quite

a small fortune to him. Mr. Mack advised him to invest it in

land, but he did not do so, which he regretted, in later years.

His house was destro3'ed by fire in 1851, when he moved over

to Rockton and built the stone house which he lived in until

his death, which occurred Sept. 23, 1893. He was heartily en-

gaged in the temperance work and was a member of the vil-

lage board of trustees. He was a man of many virtues and
was respected by all who knew him.

William Hulin was one of the earl}" settlers of Macktown,
living first with Mack and tending ferry, but when Mr. Blinn

came he made his home with Mr. Blinn's famiU'. The people

soon learned that he was a man of ability, and elected him to

the office of justice of the peace in 1840. He was elected count}^

recorder in 1843, and county clerk in 1849, and was a very effi-

cient count}" officer. He got out an edition of the school law
with proper forms, which was a great lielp to school officers,

This might have suggested to Haines his "Township Organi-

zation Forms." He had an addition to Rockton laid out on the

south side of the river in connection with George W. Rudd,
which was filed for record, Jul}' 10, 1856. Mr. Hulin owned the

the nortli-west tpiarter in section twenty-five for a number of

3'ears. He married the widow of Merrill K. Mack, in 1855.

They both died in Rockford.

Sylvester Stevens was born in England, in 1820, came to

this country with his parents when (piite young. He learned

the trade of a cabinet maker. He came to Macktown in 1838,

and soon started a cabinet shop. He also worked at carpenter

work in connection with his other business. In an early day
he made a trip up north and l)uilta sawmill at Steven's Point,

Wis., for a man by the name of Stevens, who called the place



64 HISTORY OP ROCKTON.

after himself. He married Miss Louisa Shores, Nov. 11, 1851,

and after living in Macktown until 1853, he moved over

toRockton, where he lived the remainder of his life. He work-

ed a good while in the Rockton chair factory, and a number of

years in the corn planter shop for Jones & Randall. He was
a great reader and was well posted in matters of history. He
also took a great interest in studying works on religious sub-

jects. He derived great pleasure in accumulating a valu-

ble collection of curious and rare old relics which he highly

prized, but these were nearly all destroyed by a fire a few years

ago. After that occurrence he seeined to have lost heart in

trying to make any further effort. He died Nov. 27, 1892.

Hiram Lefhngwell was an early settler of Macktown. His

wife was a sister of Mrs. Jesse Blinn. He located on a farm

in the south part of township, which has since been known as

the Herrickfarm. It is now owned by William Halley. Mr.

Iveffingwell went to St. Louis in an early day, and held the of-

fice of cit3' engineer for a long time. While living there he

accumulated a handsome fortune. He died in Florida in 1897.

Daniel Fairchild settled in Rockton township as early as

1836, and secured the north- ^vest quarter of section twenty-six,

also that part of the south-east quarter of section twenty-two,

south of the Pecatonica river. On the latter place he built a

house and resided there a number of years. He died of con-

gestion of the lungs while living on the Flemings farm in the

town of Owen. After his death, Mrs. Fairchild moved into

Rockton and built the brick house now owned by Edward
Shotleft. Nov. 7, 1849 she married Thomas M. Coons. They
were married in Rockford by Bela Shaw, justice of the peace.

She was born May 24, 1819, and died in Rockton, March 2, 1896.

Mack's Bridge.

The following letter was written by Stephen Mack to Hon.

Robert J. Cross while he was in the legislature:

Pecatonic, Jan'y 24, 1847.

Eso'k. Cross, Dear Sir:

—

I am just informed that the people of Rockford are about to

present a petition to the legislature, for an act to make the

Rockford bridge a county charge. If this should be done, you

will readily see the injustice that would be done to other parts

of the coiinty unless other bridges are put on the same foot-

ing.
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Ydu will see by the charter granted to David Jewett, M. E.

Mack and ni3'self, to build a bridge across Kock river at this

place, it was intended that the bridge when built, should be

county property and so maintained; but when the bridge was
read}^ for inspection by the county coniuiissioners, they ob-

jected to the expense of rebuilding in case the bridge should

be destroyed, and have refused or neglected to this time to

have an}' action in the matter. It rests so at present.

This bridge, commonly called Mack's bridge, is the best one

ever built aci"oss Rock river, and the first one ever built across

said river in Illinois. It has a good draw about thirt^'-six feet

wide, and is as permanent as such a structure can be built of

wood; and it has more travel across it than ever^^ other bridge

combined, except the Kockford bridge. Now if the Rockford
bridge is to be put upon the county, this bridge (Mack's) must
be included, or the greatest injustice would be done to the

people of this part of the county.

If the count}' will take both bridges and maintain them, I

should be much gratified, but to take one which is half rotted

down and no draw, and reject one that has a good draw, and is

otherwise perfect, would be too gross an act for a legislative

bod}' to commit if they are sufficiently informed on the subject.

I commit this subject to you and Mr. Miller in full faith that

you will see justice done to us of the north in this matter.

The subject of the location of the lock in the Rockford dam
is creating much excitement in some parts of the county. I

can now repeat what I wrote you a few days since, that out of

Rockford the o])inion is unanimous that the lock should be in

the dam and not in the race. It is generally considered that

placing the lock in the race will be tantamount to declaring

Rockford the head of navigation.

Dome the favor to show this letter to friend Miller, and ac-

cept the best wishes for him and yourself of your humble ser-

vant. Stephk.v Mack.

The Pecatoxica Rivkw.

liY John (Jiuson.

Oh, rivor, caltnly, smoottily flowiiio-,

With rippling- waves the sandy siiallows o'er,

While overall tlie summer .sun is olowino-,

On thv hanks the Howers hlooiu once nicire.
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Upon thy lireast the snow-white lilies slumber,

Their frag-rant cups filled with moining- dew;

And from each tree-top, birds in countless number.

Their sweetest song^ are singing- unto you.

Like some fnir maiden, w^ho with downcast g-lances.

And timid footsteps as though half afraid,

Thy waters flow, recede and then advances,

In sunshine here; beyond in deepest shade.

The emerald setting of thy silver waters,

Sliifting the golden light and sliafiows there;

Proclaiming thou art, O, forest daughter,

Of all brig:lit streams, the fairest of th^' fair.

Thy solitary course will soon be over,

And l)y thy name we shall know of thee no more;

The hand of man will chain thee careless river.

Through dam and mill-wheel will thy waters roar.

No more idle wandering under sliady arches,

Cer rocky ledges and liy pebble shore.

Thy limpid tide will step to quicker marches,

When the united streams together pour.

Standing- beside thee where the aspens quiver,

A hope and wish is ours this summer day,

That we may be like thee, O, lovely river.

All nature''s mandates striving- to obey.

Farewell, () rivi r, may you surely find.

Far off that peace and rest you leave behind;

And when the ocean rolls beneath the tropic sun.

Thy weary work be over and thy task be done.

Before proceeding farther we will give a short sketch of some
of the first settlers previously mentioned.

David A. Blake was one of the very first settlers. He locat-

ed a claim down the river and built a log house very nearly

opposite the Indian encampment at Bird's grove, were he lived

a number of years, until he built a framed house on the north-

west quarter of section thirty^-one, in range two. This was his

residence until 1849, when he sold out his accumulation of land

to William Webber and went to Iowa. The house -was moved
over and formed a part of the W^ebber homestead, now the prop-

erty of Thomas H. Webber. The building was destro3'^ed by
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fire April 20, 1877. Mr. Blake was the first constable in Rock-
ton, being elected in the fall of 1836. His son Amos Blake,
bought of Heniel, the old Frenchman, the west half of section

twenty-seven, which property remained in the possession of

the family until 1880, when it was sold and the parties went to

Iowa. Fred Gleasman and Burdett Truman now o\vn most of

the land.

Darius Adams was born in Gilead, Maine, April 1, 1805. He
was a graduate of Bowdion college in 1830. In 1833 he came
to Illinois and settled in Ottawa. He came to Rockton in

September of 1835, witli his brother Isaac Adams. He made
his claim on the north-east c^uarter of twent3'-four, and a part

of this land was in his possession as long as he lived. He was
in company with the Talcotts for a short time while they were
building'the mill race and grist mill. In 1842 he was elected

to the state legislature and served one term. After this he
took but little interest in public affairs and devoted most of

his time to the cultivation of his farm. In 1848 he laid out a

part of his farm into village lots, which has since been know^n
as "Darius Adams' addition to the village of Rockton." He
was an excellent scholar, and had the reputation of being one
of the best informed men in the coinmunity. For a number
of years before his death, he was engaged in reviewing his ear-

ly studies, which labor afforded him a great de;il of pleasure.

Though ailing for some time before his death, he did not give

up until nearly the last. He attended the election on Tuesday
and died the following Friday morning, Nov. 5, 1880. He never
married.

Isaac .\dams \vas born in Gilead, Maine, July 23, 1813, came
west to Ottawa, Illinois, in June, 1835, and to Rockton in Sep-
tember of the same year, where he continued to reside until his

death, which occurred Aj^ril 15, 1883. He married in 1845, and
had one daughter, who lived to l)e sixteen years of age. He
was engaged in keeping store most of the time he lived here.

He built that i)art of the stone block, known as the "Adams'
store," now owned by Thompson &; Baker. He possessed a

very sj'mpathetic nature, and liis hearl went out in kindness
to those who needed a hel])ing hand. Many coulii rise up and
call him blessed, for the service he r<.;ndered them in bj'-gone

daj's, while passing through the dark hours of linancial trouble.

In their half-discouraired condition, he cheered them bv kind
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words and tiniel}' aid from his purse or provisions from his

store. He owned the house he lived in which has since been
purchased by George Ellis. He outlived his wife and daught-

er, and in after 3^ears journeyed on in his loneliness, but still

he was loved and respected by all his old neighbors and friends.

Charles J. Fox was another of the settlers of 1835. He was
born in 1818. He located his claim in connection with the

Adamses on the south-west quarter of section thirteen, and
the south-east quarter of section fourteen. The addition to

the village of Rockton known as the "Adams and Fox addi-

tion," was located on the first-named section, and was filed for

record Jul}" 17, 1847. Mr. Fox donated the lots on which the

Cong'l church and parsonage were built. He started a plow
shop in connection with Porter Bellows, about 1842, to make
steel plows that would scour. Before this establishment was
started, the farmers had to go to Grand Detour for such plows.

The business was afterwards carried on by Wright & Willett,

and later on by Willett & Vincent until 1858, when they moved
to Capron. After the plow business was removed, the old shop
at the cornor of Center and Franklin streets, was changed into

a tannery, I'nd was carried on by Fox & Manard as long as Mr.

Fox lived. He died in Harrison, of typhoid fever, January 30,

1873. The family is scattered and the old homestead is occu-

pied by strangers.

John F. Thayer was one of the 1835 settlers. He located his

claim on the west half of the south-east quarter of section

twenty-four. He married in 1838. He established a ferry a-

cross the river at his place about 1840, or perhaps a little later,

and built a bridge across the river, conneting with Bridge
street, about 1845. He laid out and addition to the village of

Rockton, called "Thaj^er's addition," which was filed for rec-

ord, May 2, 1844. He opened his house to entertain travelers,

hence it got the name of "Thayer's tarvern." One day he and
Sylvester Talcott were riding over the prairie, and seeing a

wolf they gave immediate chase. The wolf was finall}' run
down, and a blow over its head from the butt of Mr. Tha3^er's

heavy riding whip, effectually stunned the animal. He took

it across his horse and carried it home, t^nng it fast with a

rope to exhibit to his famil}' in the morning; but alas, for the

success of his private menagerie, the Avolf gnawed the rope

into, and like the traditional Arab, ((uietly stole away in the
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night. Mr. Thayer was one of the voters at the presidental

election in 1836. He sold his place about 1854 or '55, and went

to Iowa. He and wife visited in Kockton in the fall of 1890.

He carried a gold-headed cane which was presented to him at

their golden wedding in 1888. He died a few years ago in Min-

nesota.

Pearley P. Burnham was one of the 1835 settlers, and lived

in Rockton until about 1853, when he went back to his old home
in the state of Maine. He owned the place where Isaac Brown
now resides and kept a livery stable there in 1849. He also

owned the brick house where Charles Laman now lives. He
used to send his teams to the lake, hauling loads each way. He
owned land on the Pecatonica river and hauled wood into

town to sell. He became so crippled from hard work and ex-

posure that when he got so bad as to be unable to work, his

brother in the east came and took him liome.

Capt. William Talcott, who may be justl}^ termed the father

of Rockton, was horn in Hebron, Ct., March 6, 1784, He mar-

ried Dorothy Blish in 1805. He settled in Rome, N. Y., in 1810.

During the war of 1812, he served in the army under Gen. Win-
tield Scott, at Sackett's Harbor, and attained to the position

of captain of a volunteer company, and served till the war
closed. After making a trip to Rock river country in Illinois,

with his son, Thomas Talcott in 1835, he moved his family here

in 1837. He was instrumental in forming the Congregational

church here in 1838. He also developed the water power by
building the mill ra*e and saw mill the same year, and the

next year was followed with the building of a grist mill. He
first lived in a log house near the mill race, but in 1843 he built

a very fine residence on the site of the present Winnebago ho-

tel, which was his home until his death. He laid out the vil-

lage of Rockton, which plat was filed for record May 30, 1844.

He was deeply interested in the growth of the town, and assist-

ed largely in building the Cong'l church. When it was com-

pleted he donated the bell, which cost $700 and weighed 1400

pounds. He was identified with the anti-slavery movement
as early as 1844, and lived to see the causi' ho so nobly espous-

ed triumph in the freedom of the slaves. He died at the ripe

old age of 80 years, Sept. 2, 18(54, highly respected by the peo-

ple of Rockton atnl all whoknew him. Hi.- wif. died at the

home of her daughter, Mrs. vSaniuel Herse\-, Nov. 24, 1879, over
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ninety years of age.

Maj. Thomas Blish Talcott was born in Hebron, Ct., April

17, 1806, In 1831 he engaged in mercantile pursuits, in Horse-

heads, N. Y., and while living there received the appointment

of major in the state militia. He came west with his father

in 1835, as has been previously stated, and made Rockton his

home as long as he lived. He located a claim on the point be-

tween the two rivers, and built the first log house in the town-

ship. He was elected first county commissioner in 1836, which
office he held for five years. He Avas married to Miss Sophia

E. Willard, June 5, 1843, b}^ Rev. Dexter Clary. He was elected

state senator in the fall of 1849, and was in the legislature four

years, during which time the charter of the Illinois Central

railroad was granted. He was an active business man in Rock-

ton for a number of years, and held several town offices. He
donated to the Congregational church, of which he and his

wife had long been members, the Gates house ^vhich is valued

at $1500. He died Sept. 30, 1894, at the age of 88 years. His
wife died Dec. 25, 1888. She was born in Vernon, N. Y., Nov.

11, 1824.
.

S34vester Talcott was born in Rome, N. Y., Oct. 14, 1810. He
engaged in keeping store when a young man in Horseheads,

N. Y., until 1836, when he sold out his business and came to

Rockton. He was elected to the office of justice of the peace

in the fall of the same year, and married the first couple in town
in 1837. He married Miss Mary Westlake, June 10, 1841, and

soon after built the large dwelling house «sn Main street, now
occupied by his daughter, Mrs. Smith. He was actively en-

gaged in developing the industries of Rockton, and was al-

ways interested in any enterprise to help bviild up the town.

When the township organization was adopted in 1850, he was
elected the first supervisor, which office he held for five years,

two years of which lie was chairman of the board of supervis-

ors. He joined the Congregational church, March 16, 1851, and

was one of the trustees for a number of 3^ears, and kept up his

membershi]) as long as he lived. In 1854 he was interested in

the manufacture of the Manny reaper in Rockford, and was a

partner in that company for a number of years. He took an

active part in inducing the Racine & Mississippi railroad to

run their line through this town, and greatly assisted in build-

ing the road from here to Freeport.
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He was a zealous member of the Kepublican party and gave
it liis full support. Altliough past the age to do military duty
when the war of the rebellion broke out, he promptl}' sent a

substitute to represent him. He was a man of ver}^ generous
impulses and did a great deal to help the poor and need3\ He
died Jan. 19, 1885. His wife, Mrs. Mary Talcott, was born in

1820, and died Dec. 9, 1872.

Henry \V. Talcott was born in Rome, N. Y., Feb. 13, 1814,

came west and settled in Rockton in the fall of 1835. He made
his claim on the south-east quarter of section thirteen, some
of this land remained in the possession of the fainily to a very
recent date. He was one of the fourteen charter members of

the Congregational church, aud retained his membership un-
til April 7, 1765, when he withdrew from fellowship. He was
engaged with his brothers in the industries of Rockton, and
continued an active member until his death, \vhich occurred
Dec. 9, 1870. He married Miss Emeline McConnell, Oct. 1,

1845. They had nine children. She died August 25, 1894.

John Lovesee was one of Rockton's earlj^ settlers. He was
born in England in 1815. He came to Roscoe with R. J. Cross,

in August, 1835, and the same fall came to Rockton. He spent
his first winter with Mr. Cross, living in Mack's old log house
in Bird's Grove. He subse(juently settled in Roscoe on land
east of the railroad station, where he lived the remainder of

his life. He married Miss Permelia McCrady in 1840. She
was born in Canada, in 1821. and is still living in Roscoe. He
died Oct. 2, 1894.

Dea. Luman Petti bone was born in Orwell, Vt., Aug. 20, 1791.

He came to Rockton with his family' in October, 183(5. He lived

with David Carpenter west of the river the lirst winter, and
the following spring he located a claim on a part of the Good-
win farm, and built a log house near the present residence of

Mr. Shaw. He was one of the charter members of the Cong'l
church, and was elected the first deacon. He lived on his claim
until 1811, when he sold out to Chellis Hooker aiitl moved to

the village, and built the house now the residence of James
King. About 1840 he moved to Shirland and i)urcliase(l land

in that town, and while living there held the office of supervi-

sor of the town for four years. J-Ie returned to Rockton in 1S54,

an<l occu])ie(I liis former house until he sold it, then he lived

fur a time in the William Ct>wen house, which burned Aug. 23,
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1886. He represented the town of Rockton on the board of

supervisors in 1855-'o6, and was chairinan of the board one 3'ear.

His wife, Ahnira Pettibone, died in 1864, and after her death,

he lived most of the time wath his daughter, Mrs. Samuel
Briggs, of New London, Wis. He died in Kockton, at the home
of his daughter, Mrs. David Carpenter, April 2, 1880. He lived

a long and useful life of over 88 years, and his inemory will

long be cherished by his many friends. Said one of his ad-

mirers while extoling his many virtues: "He was a prince

among men." A noble tribute of praise to the memory of any

man.

Philander Bird was one of early settlers of Rockton, coming
here from Miwaukee, Wis., as early as 1837 or '38. He made a

claim on the south-west quarter of section nineteen, range two

which land is now owned by Edwin Martin. He was a mem-
ber of the Cong'l church, and was one of the first trustees. His

wife, Mary F. Bird, was also a member of the same church.'

After living in the log house on their farm for several years,

they moved into the village, and Mr. Bird built the house now
owned by H. S. Northrop. He devoted a good deal of his time

to raising fruit. The}^ moved to Cobden, Illinois, about 1856.

Mrs. Bird is now living Buffalo, N. Y.

Frederick Bird, a brother of Philander Bird, was also an

early settler, and located on the Roscoe road just beyond the

Drj' Run creek. His place was subsequently known as the

Bradley place. Bird's grove at the mouth of the creek, took

its name from Frederick Bird.

The land between the Dry Run and Philander Bird's farm

was claimed in an early da3^ by a man by the name of Dunn.

A Mr. Cooper also had some part in it, which in time passed

into the possession of Mr. Harding. Mr. Dunn had two sons-

in-law, Durham and Peters, who occupied his land with him.

The old log house recently pulled down on Caleb Benile3''s

farm,was the residence of Mr. Durham, and a log house farther

west was the residence of Mr. Peters. Mrs. Dunn died a few

years ago in the old house on the Peters place, which is now
owned by the George Gleasman estate.

Dugald Campbell was an early settler before the forties.

He located a claim on the north-east quarter of section twelve.

Both he and his wife were members of the Congregational
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chvircli. She died in December, 1842. Later he disposed of

his hind atid moved awa}'.

IS AO.

During the preceeding years of Rockton's growth, much had
been done to develope its latent resorces. The water power
had been improved, mills had been built, many houses had
been erected, school and church privileges were springing in-

to existence, and the hand-maid of industr\^ had invigorated

all around her with the touch of her magic wand. The future

grovvth of the little hamlet w^as an assured fact. Settlers were

slowly coming in, and the wave of occupation was quietl}^

spreading from the small beginnings that had nestled on the

river's side..

Of the settlers of this 3X'ar we can speak of onl}^ in part.

They virith those who have preceeded them ma}" well indeed

be called oic/ settlers, and deserve the reverence and lasting

gratitude of those who are now reaping the benefit of their

toil and hardships. That band of energetic pioneers are grow-
ing beautifully less as time passes on in its yearly strides.

Only four now remain in Kockton, to tell of their early com-
rades w^ho bore with them their part in the privations of first

settlers. The}" came with health, strong, robust and energetic,

and wrestled with the obstacles all along the line. They he-

roically performed their life work, and now Avith labor done,

the}" have gone to their long home. Unless the liinit is step-

ped ahead one decade the old settlers will very soon become
an extinct people.

ANTKjriTIES.

There are several remains in Kockton township of the work
of the mound builders. Whether that ancient race anti-date

the Indians in the possession of this country, is yet an unsolv-

ed problem. These curious shaped earth Avorks, undoubtedl}"

have an interested history, and some wise archeologists pre-

tend to tell us all about them, but at best they are only conjec-

tures; but gropingas they do in the hidden m^'steries of past

ages, a close observation has developed some striking features

which are worthy of note.

In most cases these ancient remains are found on high points

of land, which indicate that they might have l)een used as

look-out stations to siirht an cnenn' in the distance. Then
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their peculiar shape which have a fanciful resembleiice to

some animal forin, might have suggested the name of the tribe

or clan that built them. Others think they have in part been
iised as burial places for their dead, but onlj^ in rare cases have
human bones been found in these mounds. Many of these old

relics of untold ages are fast disappearing before the sacrili-

gious hand of the plowman and other agencies.

In the early settlement of the country these mounds \vere

strikingl}^ noticeable, and were often spoken of as land marks
to guide the traveler across the trackless prairie. There were
mounds w^est of Coon creek, north of the Shirland road, and
some farther south on the Moody farm. On the top of the

Carpenter hill up from the bridge were several mounds, but
the highway and the adjoiningplowed field have been the means
of removing nearl}' all traces of them. Farther up the bank on
the same side of the river are several mounds in a good state

of preservation. In the north part of the village, near John
Randall's, were some mounds in an early da3^ but little of them
now remain. Just east of the village was a tine collection

of mounds, but the land taken b}^ the railroad for a gravel pit

has entirely rem(^)ved them. There are some mounds down
the river on the south side which are still traceable.

Indian Kelics.

When Mr. Carpenter first settled here there was an Indian
"buried in the air," so to speak, near his place west of the river.

The remains reposed in a rude coffin of bark, which, was sup-

ported on four posts set in the ground. This primitive inonu-

rnent remained for several years after the settlement, but final-

ly Avent to deca}^ and disappeared. There were remains of a

similar character near the residence of John Randall, and
when the Adamses first possessed the land, it showed onl}^

two ujiright red cedar j)()sts and a cross timber. These in time
passed away and became nearly forgotten, })ut a year ago as Mr.

Randall was digging post holes to repair his line fence he ex-

humed one of these old posts as sound as it was perhaps a hun-
dred years ago.

There were several places along the river of Indians having
tlieir burial in the tree tops, l)eing either done up in bark cof-

fins or placed in a canoe and fastened up in the trees. Two of

these coffins were in the tree tops below the Winsor place, and
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one in the top of a large tree near the mouth of the Dry Run,
on Mr. Bentle3''s farm. These in time fell into the river and
were carried away. A short distance up the river from the Dry
Kun creek are still to be seen the remains or a rude stone altar

which was often used by the Indians in their religious devo-

.tion. For some 3^ears after the tribe had practically^ left the

country, migratory bands would often return to that consecrat-

ed spot and perform their oblations as their fathers had done.

Many Indian relics such as flint arrow points atid spear heads
have been found in considerable quantities, also stone axes and
quite rarel3^ morters and pestles. It is a great pastime for

some to gather up these old relics, and some very fine collec-

tions have been made. E. \V. Martin, while living in Rockton,
accumulated a large number of these relics, embracing sever-

al thousand of the rarest. He prizes his collection ver}^ highly.

John Griffith was born in Wales, Jan. 4, 1816. He came to

this countr^^ in 1836, and to Rockton in 1840. He purchesed
160 acres of land in section twenty-six, and an eight}' from
Mack's estate in section twenty-three. He married Miss Cath-

erine Webber, March 1, 1860. The}'^ had a family of nine child-

ren, two bo3's and seven girls. He died June 8, 1896.

William Griffith came to this countrj'' in an earh' da}' and
settled in Wisconsin, near Beloit. Subsequent!}' he settled

in the west part of this township on section eight, where he
lived fc^r a numl)er of 3'ears. He then sold his farm and came
to town to live. He died Feb. IS, 1887.

John Bacon, one of the 1840 settlers of Rockton, was born in

Frankfort, Maine, June 24, 1803. He purchsed land down the

river on section thirt3'-one range two. He married Krmina
Seaver in the state of New York, in 1837. She was born iti Ti-

conderoga, N. Y., in 1815, and died Ma3' 27, 1863. He died in

Portland, Maine, at the home of his daughter, Mrs. Curtis, a

number of 3'ears ago.

Porter Bellows settled in Rockton as earl3' as 1840. He mar-

ried his second wife, Angeline llinman, Jan. 26, 1841, 1)3' the

Rev. Milton Bourn. He was in company with C J. Ft)x, in the

manufacture of plows, about 1842. After this he built several

threshing machines, which were much used in that early da3'.

He probabl3' moved awa3' from Rockton a great man3' 3'ears

ago.

William Carlton settled here as earlv as 1840. He was a
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iiieniber of the Cong'l church for a number of years. He b'uilt

the H. B, Jones house where he lived until he moved away
about 1860. He was a cooper by trade and had a shop near Dr.

Waite's brick house back of Waite's hotel. He went to Ore-

gon and becaine a government collector of the port of Portland

which position he held for a term of years.

The most important event of this j^ear was the building of the

school house in the park. There was a growing need of such
a building which should serve the double purpose of a school

house for w^eek da3^s, and a place for meetings on Sunda^^s.

The people cheerfully contributed of their slender means to

the success of this enterprise, and were proud of their efforts.

Rude benches served for seats. The first winter is was not

plastered, but in due time is received an inside finish, and a

coat of red paint improved its outside. It \vas a very fine struc-

ture for those early times, and well answered its purpose for

several years. The following lines from one of Rockton's gift-

ed poets, thus describes this old school house:

Upon this spreading plain th(^ scliool bouse stood,

Modest but ample, built of simple wood,

Full in the center was the low wide door,

Within pine benches and a basswdod floor.

Week days and Sundays 'twas the central place.

The school of wisdom and of christian grace,

Minerva's temple five days of the seven,
^

But when the Sunday came, the ''gates of heaven."

The joys and sorrows of those early years,

Here made rejoicings, mingled here tlieii' tears.

The man of God here blessed the happy liride,

And here we wnptand praved for those who died.

Tims many years on this village green.

Our dear old school house in its pride was seen.

But as prosperity made innovations.

And pomp and show began to take tiieir stations.

The spirit of improvement touched the town,

And ])ainted red our school h(ius(^ meek and I)rown.

No trees stood ne:ir to hide its blushing face.

No single shadow shielded its disgrace;

And so at last with one sad, crazy wing,
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The poor, iie<i;lectO(l, tiuiihlt'-dowii old tliiiin",

Wiis moved away into the l)usy town,

A kind of store liouse, shorn of its renow.

We weave its story in this simple rhyme.

Peace to its memory, it has served its time.

Chellis Hooker, a twin brother of Dr. Hooker, \va.s born in

Hartford, Ct., Dec. 9, 1792. He came Kockton, in 1841, and
bought out the claim made by Dea. Luman Pettibone on the

Goodwin farm. He bviilt a barn and the cobble stone house, and
made other improvements on the place, but his hard work of

pioneer life only^ lasted six years. He died in 1847, leaving

a wife and five children. His w^idow inarried A. P. Goodwin,
of Durand. She died in Kockton in 1883.

Dr. Coe Van Brunt Avas born in Florida, N. Y., June 3, 1805,

and came to Kockton from Westfield, N. Y., in 1841. He was
the second physician who settled in Kockton. He was a mem-
ber of the Congregational church as long as he lived, and
church clerk for eight years. He was very much respected in

the community. He died Sept. 17, 1851. After a few years his

widow married Kev. Taylor and they moved to Belyidere. She
died there quite recently. For the past thirt^^ years she suf-

fered the affliction of being blind.

Nathaniel Kudd and his wife Witt^^ Rudd were settlers of

1841, coming from Westfield, N. Y. The}' were both members
of the Congregational church. He was a soldier in the war of

1812. He died in Kockton April 4, 1847. at the age of seventj'-

five years. She died June 10, 1856, at the age of seventy-seven

years.

The winter of 1841 and '42 was called a very hard winter. The"I
river froze over on the l<th of November and sta3'ed frozen

over until the 7th day of April. That winter the small streams
were nearl}' frozen up solid. The people came from all the

surrounding countr}' with their wheat to be ground, and the

mill \vas so full with grists that many of them had to be stor-

ed in outside buildings until each had its turn. Consideral^le

Hour was sent to Galena by teams that winter.

The first fourth of July celebration ever in K'ocklon was held

this year. It was in Thayer's part of the town, and was partic-

ipated in by of all the setthMiient and ever\- one from the siir-
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rounding country. Mr. McDowel was the orator of the day

and gave a stirring, oldtime address, full of patriotism and

prophetic shadowings of the nation's future greatness.

J. B. Peterson offered the following toast: "The daughter

of Columbia, may she never wed a tyrant nor give birth to a

slave."

A sumptuous dinner was spread under the trees, in which

roast pig \vas a prominent feature in the bill of fare. It was
a very enjoyable occasion, and highly appreciated by all.

William Goddard came to Rockton with his wife in the

spring of 1842, and bought the P. L. Ellis place on the Beloit

road. Besides farming he carried on wagon making and
blacksmithing on his farm, and employed men and made many
w^agons, which readily sold in that early day. He died in the

prime of life, in 1848. They had only one child, a daughter,

who married Chauncey Pettibone. She died several 3'ears

ago. Mrs. Goddard is now living in Rockton.

Henry O. Brown was one of the 1842 settlers. He carried on

a store here for a number of years, which was located on the

Newell corner. He built the brick house as a residence which

was subsequntl}^ sold to Charles Griffin. He was a member
of the Congregatiojial church and served both as clerk and

trustee. He also was interested in school matters and was
one of the directors of some time. About 1866, he moved to

Rockford and died there.

John Brown, the father of Henry O. Brown, was quite an

old man when he settled in Rockton in 1842. He came from

Madison, N. Y., and was a pensioner of the war of 1812. He
died in Rockton, Sept. 29, 1861.

Dea. William Bradley came' from Westfield, N. Y,, to

Rockton as earl}^ as this year if not earlier. He was a deacon

in the Congregational church for a number of years. He built

the brick house on the south-east corner of Cottage and Chapel

streets, which is now owned b}^ Leonard Newell. He moved
away in 1856.

The Mack ])ridge was built this year. A cliarter was obtain-

ed from the legislature for its construction, and Stephen Mack,

Merrill E. Mack and David Jewett were the incorporators. It

was the first bridi^e across the river in the state, and was built
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with a draw so that boats could pass. It was a very substan-

tial structure, and with (KX^asional repairs, stood the ravages

of the floods tmtil June 1. 1850, \vhen it was carried awa^', nev-

er to be rebuilt. It was largely- built at Mack's expense.

Samuel Talcott was born in Koine, N. Y., March 1, 1818.

After attaining to manhood he was engaged for some \'eafs as

a civil engineer on the Genesee valley canal. He came to

Rockton in 1843, where he made his home for abotit sixteen

years. He married Miss Minerva P. Cod}^ of Bloomington,

Ills., Sept. 23, 1847. After his residence in Rockton, he moved
to Du Page count3^ His wife died at Napierville, Ills., April

21, 1865. For years afterwards he lived in Missouri. His pres-

ent home is in Darlington, Mo. On the first of last March,
he celebrated his eightieth birthda}', and invited in his friends

and relatives. It was an enjo^^able occasion.

Alexander Henderson Merrill and Frederick William Mer-

rill came to Rockton in 1843, bringing a stock of merchandise
with them. Their first store was in the \viiig part of Jacob
Hj'^att's tavern, which building is now the residence S. L. Jenk-
ins. They soon after removed to the E. J. Veness corner and
occupied the Wight store until the}' built the New England
House, which they used for a hotel and store in 1847. Two or

three years later the three story addition \vas built, which
made a very imposing buikling for the times. They did a

very ])rosperous business for a number of 3'ears. Al)out 1850,

the}' l)ought up a drove of cattle, taken on store accounts, and
took them to Milwaukee for sale.

In the early fifties the Merrill Brothers were interested with

other parties in paper mill ])ro])ert3', located on the present

site of the Hradner, Smith & Co's number one mill. The finan-

cial panic of lH57-'58 was too great a strain on the firm, and
they had to suspend business. A. H. Merrill soon after went
to Chicago and engaged in business there for a time. He after-

wards went to Memphis, Tenn., where he was a book-keeper

for a number of A'ears. He died there in the fall of 1884. F. W.
Merrill was never in business again for himself after his 1857

failure, but for some Nears afterwards, he was botli clerk and
book-keeper for other parties. He died in Rockton, Feb. 14,

1898, at the age of seventy-eight 3'ears.

Jared Clement GridlcN'. was born in the slate of Xew York,

March 20, 1810. He came to Rockton wilh his familv in 1843,
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atid settled in Tha^^er's part of the town. He tended ferry for

Mr. Thayer in the fall of 1843. In 1843 he bought lots Nos. 10

and 11 in Tha3"er's addition, for the consideration of $100, and

built a house on them. The propert}^ is now owned b}^ J. E.

Chase. He sold out about 1850 and went to Delphi, Iowa, but

after staying there three or four years, he returned to Rockton-

and occupied a house nearly opposite Mrs. Clay's place,

which had previously been used by Hiram Thayer as a store.

At one time he was engaged in manufacturing broom handles.

He died in Rockton, Nov. 1, 1888. Mrs. Gridley died Sept. 7,

1894.

Jaines L. Sharp was one of the early settlers. He located

land on the west side of the township where he lived a num-
ber of years. He was a member of the Congregational church

as long as he lived.

The steam boat Lighter came up the river this 3'ear in the

latter part of June. Several persons from Rockford came up
on it, and that night a dance w^as held on the boat, in which
man}^ of Rockton people joined The boat was loaded with

flour from Rockton and Beloit for St. Louis. It was said that

the Rockton parties lost all of their flour by the leakage of the

boat. The steam boat passed through Mack's bridge, which

was built with a substantial draw^ about thirty-six feet wide,

but when they came to the state line bridge at Beloit, the

plank and stringers of one section had to be removed to let

the boat through. The Ogle county histor^^ sa^^s: "This boat

made two or three trips during the season, carrying groceries

to Janesville and other river towns. Solon Cummings, a Grand
Detour merchant loaded her once or twice with flour for the

St. Louis market."

The subject of river navigation was a verj' important one in

the earl}^ histor}^ of Rockton. As this was long before the daj^s

of railroads, the onl}- outlet to the outside world, save the toil-

some overland rcuite with teams to the lake, was by Rock river.

The government had declared it a navigable river, and when
the land was surveyed, it was bounded b}' high water mark.

Tlie right to navigate the river was indisputable, and if it

could be made profital)le, wt)uld compel all dams to be built

with locks, and all bridges to have draws, so no obstruction

would prevent the free navigation of the river.
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About this time a St. Louis man fitted uj) a boat and perform-

ed the laborious feat with the assistance of two men, of run-

ning up Kock river toKockton, and then up the Pecatonica to

Mineral Point, Wis. He took groceries and mining tools on
his trip up, and a load of lead on his return. The boat being a
light one with a comfortable cabin, the men would drive if up
the stream with setting poles or pull it along with a tow^ line

from shore, and when night came, tie up to rest for the next
day's labor. It took a long time to make the up trip, but the
return w^as greatly aided in speed by the current of the river.

Only two trips could be made during the season. This plan
did not prove ver^^ profitable and was soon given up.

During this year two barges were built in Rockton by Thom-
as M. Coons and Charles Kane, for Capt. Harris, of Galena.
The dimensions of these boats were a hundred feet long, eigh-

teen feet wide and two and one-half feet deep. They delivered

these boats at the mouth of Kock river \vhere they were turn-

ed over to Capt. Harris for use on the Mississippi river.

Sometime during the summer of this year a bear from the

Wisconsin woods paid Kockton a visit, passing through the

north part of the village and crossing the river near the dam.
As soon as the Nimrods of Kockton heard that bruin was pay-
ing his respects to the town, the}^ were all after him with a

good deal of energy. The bear was shot over on Sand prairie.

This was the last bear found in Kockton. It weighed three

hundred and thirt}' pounds.

John Clover was born in England, June 1, 1817. He came to

Kockton in 1844, and located a quarter section of land on sec-

tion seventeen west of Coon creek, which is now in the pos-

session of two of his sons. He hired a part of the money to

enter his land of Stephen Mack, and built sod fence to paj' for

it. He first lived in the village and built the stone house
now owned b}' W. K. Axe. He also built the Webber house
near the railroad station. He quarried the stone for the Cong'l
church in the Bligh (piarry. In IS.l^ he had a ccMitract to grade
two miles of railroad between Koscoe and Heloit, and also had
a contract in grading some of the Kacine and Mississippi rail-

road between Heloit and Freeport. He purchased a j)nrt of

the David Johnson farm on section twenty, and made
brick there in 1858 and '59, in contiection with ICdwin >I;irtin

and Mr. Carlton. The brick ^•ard was on tlu' Hue of the rail-
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road, and thej' made and shipped brick to Beloit to build the

first Congregational church there. He died on his farm in

November, 1864. His wife died May 20, 1877.

Thomas M. Coons first came to Kockton to live in 1844. For

a few years, before he had lived at Winnebago, the old county

seat just above Rockford. The first of his work here was the

building of the boats alread}^ spoken of. He was an active

business man, and did considerable building in town in an

earl}' day. The stone building now occupied by B. B. Hill for

a harness shop, was one of his first buildings. It was erected

in 1845, partly, with the assistance of Mr. Kane. Soon after he

had a job of dredging the river at the head of the island and
making a dam there to deepen the water on the north side to

facilitate the passage of boats and rafts. Mr. Mack got some
kind of an appropriatit)n for this purpose. He had the con-

tract of furnishing the stone for tiie stone block when it was
built about 1846 or '47. In 1848 he built a canal boat in con-

nection with Charles Kane, to be used on the Illinois canal.

It cost about $1500. It was taken to Chicago by the way of the

rivers, and was considered one of the finest boat on the canal.

In 1868 he in connection with Robert Penman built the stone

store on the corner of Main and Prairie streets, now occupied

by Mrs. Rummell as a drugstore, and carried on business there

until Mr. Penman sold out and went to Iowa. For the past

twent}' years he has been retired from business, and is no\v

living in comfortable health, highly respected b}^ all, and will

be eighty-four years old on the 22nd of Jul}. He was twice

married. His first wife was a daughter of Charles Reed, and

his second wife was Mrs. Daniel Fairchikl, whom he married

Nov. 7, 1849.

The first Carpenter bridge was built al)out 1814. It went
through various stages of repair until it was succeeded b}' the

])resent iron bridge. Th^ Jones ferr3'did duty for the traveling

pul)lic before this bridge was built.

E. Stanle}' Smith was quite an earl}' setter, and at one time

had a claim on the south half of section twenty-nin(\ About
1845 he started in trade in the new stone store built by Co(mis

& Kane, and in connection with his grocery business was tlie

iirst man in town to buy and pack butter to ship to an (^astern

niaket. He paid ten cents a pound in trade for his butter. He
claimed he did not make an}'t!iing on his l)utter, bxit got pay
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for his troods. He built a cottage on the Laiupman block,

where he lived. After vsta3'ing in Kockton about two years,

he moved to Beloit and carried on a larger business.

Jonathan Strickland settled here as earl}'- as 1844^ and started

a sniall store near where Mr. Bentley has his office. He mov-
ed into the store across the street a couple of years later, after

Mr. Smith went away. After a time he took Rumsey Hatch as

a partner. Mr. Stricklatid purchased Mr. Smith's cottage and
lived in it until he built the brick house now occupied by Mrs.

George Gleasman. The cottage house w^as finally used for a

school, and became known as the "cottage" scliool house. The
The building was afterwards torn down. After doing busi-

ness here about ten years, he sold out his interest in the store

and went to Iowa. His wife w^as a sister of Mrs. Stiles.

Kunisey Hatch settled in Rockton about 1844 and soon after

engaged w^ith Jonathan Strickland in mercantile business un-

der the firm name of Strickland & Hatch. After a few j^ears

Mr. Strickland retired from the firm, and the business was
carried on 1)3' Talcott &" Hatch. Mr. Hatch built the brick

house as a residence which is now owned by Mrs. Trimmer.
He w^as elected the first master mason of Rockton lodge, A. F.

and A. M., which was organized in the town in 1849. He w^ent

back to New^ York state and died there. Mrs. Hatch died in

Indiana some years later.

Charles Kane was a settler of Rockton as earl}' as 1844, and
engaged with Thomas M. Coons in l)uilding l^oats and other

work. He was a stirring man of business. In 1850 he went
to California with severel others, and stayed there about a

year, w^hen he started for home by wa^' of Mexico. He died of

mountain fever in the city of Mexico, about 1852. Dr. Hu-
lett was with him at the time. Plis wife was a sister of Mrs.

Stiles, and lived in Rockton for some years after.

Samuel Adams was here as earl}' as 1844. He made furni-

ture as earl}' as 1845, especiall}' chairs, and had his machiner>'

for preparing the material on the water power on the site of

No. two paper mill. The chair business \vas ([uite an indus-

try for several years. Later he was engaged in keeping the

brick hotel on the corner of Main and Center streets. WIumi
the location of the present river bridge was decided upon, he

was one of the committee, and did all he could do to have the

bridge cross the river on a line witli Center street so as to have
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more travel by his hotel. After keeping the hotel for several

years, he sold out and went to Iowa.

About this time a man by the name of Barbour taught the

winter school here. He brought with him a roll of sheep's gray

cloth and some woolen socks, which he kept in Mr. Halley's

tailor shop. It was supposed to be all of his wealth. He after-

guards started a store at Buffalo Grove, about two miles from
the present town of Polo. When the Illinois Central railroad

located through what is now Polo, he secured a part of the

town plat and removed his business there. He made his in-

vestment exceedingly prohtable, for when he died about twen-

ty years ago, he left his family a propert^^ worth about a quar-

ter of a million.

Kendall C. Young was an early settler. He went to Cali-

fornia in 1850, and after a fe\^ years came back quite wealthy
it was supposed. He was a partner in the paper mill firm of

HoUister & Co., from 1854 to 1856. He sold out his share in

the paper mill to the Merrill Bros., for a stock of goods, and
went to Iowa where he laid out the town of Mason Cit3^ The
place became of consideaV)le importance on the advent of rail-

roads, and he had a good chance to amass a fortune.

Or\^ell Bailey came from Vermont in an early day and ^vork-

ed for the Talcotts. He was here through two sickly seasons,

and was almost the only person who escaped from being af-

fected by those local diseases known to early settlers. He
brought about one hundred dollars w^ith him from the east,

and as he had been schooled to frugal habits, he saved a large

part of his earnings, and was soon able to purchase a section

of land seven miles south of Freeport. The Illinois Central

railroad was located through his section, and a depot built on

his land. He laid out the town of Baileyville. He subsequent-

ly sold out at a good price and w^ent to Iowa, where he could

have more room. It is presumed that with his mone^^ making
qualities he became very wealthy.

John Henr^^ was an earlj^ settler. He was a broken down
merchant from the east, and came out here to improve his fi-

nances and his heatlh. He owned land east of town near Mr.

Martin's farm. He at one time owned the house which is now
the residetice of W. W. Austin. He was a man of considerable

ability, and a member of the Cong'l church. He died here a

number of vears ago.
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Alouzo Rice comes in with the early settlers. He was a

ineiiiber of the Cong'l church, and married Delia Carpenter.

He lived west of the river, near the present residenc of Warren
Graves. He was a constable for several j^ears. One time dur-

ing the term of his office, he was sent out to Harrison on a

rainy day with a warrant to arrest a man. His prisoner refus-

ed to come unless he would bring him, and as he had onlj'' a

cart with a seat for one, he had to give up the horse and cart

for the prisoner's comfort, while he tramped home in the rain

and mud on foot. The prisoner presented himself before Escj.

Weld, and was duly examined and discharded for want of

cause; and when the tired and mud-bespattered constable

arrived, the business was all dijneand his chances for a fee

adequate to his wounded feelings w^as exceedingly small. He
moved to Buffalo, N. Y., and engaged in the grain business.

Seth Taylor was ranked with the old settlers, and was elect-

ed one of the first constables. He was a sort of an old bache-
lor, so he lavished his affections on his beautful pony, which
he thought as much of as an Arab ^vould of his splendid steed.

One morning on visiting his stable, he found his poii}' gone,

and despair was in his heart at once. He soon got the town
pretty well aroused to the necessity of putting out to find the

missing animal, when Dr. VanBrunt came into town riding

the missing pon3\ The doctor had had a pressing midnight
call to go into the country, and for \v%ant of a horse, had indi-

viduall}^ arranged ^vith the pony to take him out. Mr. Taylor
died in Kockton. May 17. 1845.

Alexander Miller was born in Caledonia county, \'ermont,

March 18, 1808, and came to Kockton in 1844. He married Mary
Mackie, in Newbur}', Vt., March 7, 1833. She was born in Scot-

land, March 5, 1810. He built a house on the corner where the

Methodist churc-h now stands which is owned by Susan Wal-
lace. He next built the house no\v owned by old Mrs. Gain-
mon. Both he and his wife were members of the Cong'l church.

They moved to Shirland in the fall of 1854, and engaged in

farming. They had a famil}' of ten children. He died at his

home in Shirland, Jan. 29, 1889. Mrs. Miller is now living witli

her daughter, Mrs. Jewett, in Harrison.

Joel Bradley came here in 1844, from Westfield, X. Y., and
purchased the place first settled bj'- Frederick Bird, who died

Nov. 5, 1842. Mr. Bradley occupied this farm for a nunil)t'r of
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years, and built the cobble stone house, which for 3^ears has

been a distinctive feature on the Roscoe road. He and his

w»ife were members of the Congregational church. He sold

his farm quite a number of years ago, and moved to Brodhead,

Wis.

Dr. Charles Bradle3^ a son of Joel Bradley, was an 1844 set-

tler. He married his cousin, Mary Ann Bradley, in 1845. They
soon moved away.

John M. Hulett settled in the township of Rockton as early

as 1842, locating on the south-west quarter of section thirt3^-

five. He held the office of county commissioner from 1846 to

1849. He was one of the administrators of the estate of Stephen

Mack in 1850. After living in Rockton about ten 3^ears, he mov-
ed to the town of Owen, where he was elected supervisor of

the town for two years during 1854 and '55. He was a man
highl}^ respected by all who knew him. He died at the home
of his son, Luke T. Hulett, in Owen, April 13, 1881. Mrs. Hu-
lett died at her son's home at Ivatham Station.

Henry S. Westlake was an earl}^ settler of Rockton. He
married Juan Fernandez Teed, April 24th, 1849. They were

married b}^ the Rev. Lewis Benedict. His wife died after be-

ing married about a year, and then after a 3'ear or two he mar-

ried her sister, Murilla Teed. He further married a third wife

by whom he had three daughters. He held the office of sher-

iff in one of the counties of Kansas during John Brown's ex-

ploits there. He now resides in Chicago.

Calvin Harden was one of the Maine colony settlers. He lo-

cated a claim on what is now a part of W. A. Phelps' farm. He
was a member of the Cong'l church for a time, but must have

left in an early day for some other locality.

Howe P. Teague was an early settler of Rockton township.

He located on the north-east quarter of section three, which
land is now owned by William H. Farmer. He married Mrs.

Susan Foster, a sister of David Carpenter. They moved to

Newark, Wis., where he died several year after. Mrs. Teague
afterward married Luther Lawrence, and died in Rockton,

April 29, 1892.

Hugh Jones was ({uite an earl}- settler, and located land on

the west side of the river, claiming the east half of section

seventeen. He came from Canada with his famil}' during the

Papaneau rebellit)!!, driving all the way with one horse. He
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established a ferr^' across the river just heh)\\^ the Carpenter
bridge, which was in running order until the bridge was after-

wards built. Mr. Jones and a part of the family lived on the
claim and made some improvements, while his wife and some
of the children occupied a dugout on the west bank of the riv-

er and tended the ferr^'. Mrs. Jones was a fearless woman of

nerve and combined with her great strength she was amply
able to take care of herself without aid from the male side of

the house. One da}^ after she had set a man with his team
across the river he tried to cheat her b^^ refusing to pay full

fare. This so enraged her that she up with her bony fist and
knocked him clear into the river. Crawling out on shore the
crest-fallen fellow was only too glad to pay full toll and depart
with a whole hide. The early settlers who had occasion to

use that ferry, had a wholesome respect for the prowess of that

woman ferryman. The family moved up to Sugar river, and
after a few years to low^a.

William Leffingwell was an early settler and located a claim
on the west half of section eight. He died a number of j^ears

ago.

Lucius Fassett was a Kockton settler as early as 1844. He
was a member of the Cong'l church for several years. He
l)uilt the Keeney house, now the propert}^ of Miss Lizzie Swan,
and lived there a number of years. At one time the house
caught on lire when onl}^ two little girls were at home. With
rare presence of mind they sought the water pail, liut when
the}^ found that was empt3^ the}^ thought of the well tilled cof-

fee pot, and by careful management succeeded in extinguish-
ing the incipient fire. Putting out a lire with a lot of good
coffee was a luxur}^ which but a few indulged in, bixt in that

case it was cheaper then to have the house destro3'ed. Mr.
Fassett moved from Rockton a good while ago.

J)r. Hulett comes in the list of early settlers. He owned a

j)hice south of Thomas Wel)ber's residence, and practiced his

profession for ({uite a number of years. He went to California

with' Charles Kane in ISoO, and was with him when he died in

the cJt}' of Mexico. The dt)ctor returned to Kockton, and later

moved to Peru. Illinois, where he died.

All)ert Hulett was born in the town of X'eteran, X. Y., Aug.
14, 18;^;i Came to Kockton townshij) wit h his father's family
when about nine years old. Tlu' greater jiart of bis life was



g8 HISTORY OF ROCKTON.

spent in the township of Owen, where he has a farm of two

hundred acres. Quite recently he moved to Rockton and pur-

chased the Merritt house on the south side of the park, which

has since been his home. He married Rachel Ann Lake, May
1, 1856. She died Nov. 25, 1876. He married his second wife,

Mary M. Feakins, Oct. 17, 1889. He held the office of supervis-

or of the town of Owen for live years while living there, and

since his residence in Rockton, he has served one term as vil-

lage trustee and one year as president of the village. He is a

man of exemplary habits and is held in high repute by all

w^ho know^ him.

The first bridge across the river at Bridge street, commonly
known as the Thayer bridge, was built 1845.

Work on building the New England hotel was commenced
this year, and the building was completed in 1847, and occu-

pied as a store and hotel. It was a ver^^fine building for those

times.

Rockton Seminary.

The cause of education received a good deal of attention in

the early settlement, and no sooner had the village assumed any

adequate proportion, than the idea of a seminary was conceiv-

ed and carried into effect. The school at that time was largel3^

a subscription affair, so the transformation to a seminar^^ un-

der the same management and in the same building was large-

ly in matter of name. Miss Mary Ann Bradle}^ and her cousin

Cornelia Bradley, were the first teachers after the school had

assumed the name of seminary. The Teed sisters soon follow-

ed, and having some means, bought the lot and built the house

which is now the residence of Albert Hulett on the south side

of the park. The building was used as a residence, but was

intended as a part of the seminary building, which was to ma-

terialize in the near future. The school was conducted about

four years as a seminar}- under the instructions, first of the

Misses Bradley, and then under the Teed sisters, but the bright

dreams of a great institution of learning were never realized.

So many bright and intelligent young women were attrac-

tions the young men of the town could not resist, and matri-

mony so disorganized the school plans, that the seminary soon
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lost its individuality, and quietly slid back into the old grooves
of a district school in 1849.

George C. Albee came to Rockton in 1845, from Grafton, X. H.
He was a harness maker by trade and carried on the business
for several years. He built the stone house now ow^ned by
Leonard Thurton, where he lived during his stay in Rockton.
Both he and his wife, Susan (Mills) Albee, belonged to the
Congregational church while living here. They moved to Mad-
ison, Wis., and from there to Fairbault, Minn.
Emerson Albee was a brother of George Albee, and came

here the same time. He was a tailor by trade and worked at

that business while here. He built the Thurston brick store,

now the resdence of L. D. Kincaid. He went to California in

1850, where he married and settled.

Thomas Harley came to Rockton tow^nship in the fall of 1845,

and settled on Sand prairie. He deeded an eight}- of land from
the government, which had been a part of the claim made by
Mr. Ordway. This was his home for a number of years. This
farm is now the property- of E. J. Veness. He died Oct. 11, 1859,

at 72 years of age.

William Harley was born in the state of New York, Nov. 19,

1835. He came to Rockton township with his father's famil}^

w^hen only ten years of age. He married Fidelia Miller, in

Beloit. She was born in Vermont, Feb. 18, 1838. He lived in

Shirland over thirty 3^ears, and during that time was town
clerk nine years, and supervisor of the town two years. In 1895

he moved back to Rockton, where he now resides. Both he
and his wife are members of the Methodist church.

Amos Guptill came here from the state of Maine in 1845. He
built the house where David Harper now lives. After living

here a number of 3-ears he mcn-ed to Shirland and died there.

He had one son and four daughters. His daughters married
as follows: Almira Guptill married John Sterns; Flora Guptill
married Doras Parker; Lydia (ruptill married fohn Parker,
and Abigail Guptill married Se^'mour Treat. His son John
Guptill, married Emil}' Warren. The}' went to Dakota an<l he
died there. She is now living in Shirland.

George A. Young settled here in 1845. He built the house
owned by Willis Houston. He was engaged with his son-in-

law, Charles Haven, in manufacturing chairs for a consider-

able time. He was one of the charter members of the Rockton
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masonic lodge, which was organized in 1849. He went to Cal-

ifornia in 1850. He died in Kockton a number of 3^ears ago.

Alonzo F. Chase was born in Westville, N. Y., July 4, 1810,

came to Kockton with his family in 1845, and after a residence

here of several years, removed to Waseca, Minn., where he
died April 8, 1883, His remains were brought back for inter-

ment in the Kockton cemetery. His wife, Martha Chase, died

Oct. 9, 1866, at 50 j-ears of age.

James M. Williams was a 1845 settler, coming first to Kock-
ton, and then later on to the town of Harrison, where he has
since lived. In 1849 he went to Chicago for the Talcotts, with
six yokes of oxen and four wagons, taking 150 bushels of w^heat

and ten barrels of flour. He was gone twent}^ da3^s, and brought
back a run of burr mill stones, which weighed four tons, for

the grist mill. Mr. Williams has held most of the offices in

the gift of his town, and is a man in whom the ccnnmunit}^ re-

pose confidence and respect. He has a famil3M>f five children,

and owns a fine farm worth about $10,000.

Valentine A. Lake was an earl}^ settler of the count}^, living

first in the town of Ow^en, and subsequently moving to Kock-
ton, v^here he devoted his time to buying and shipping live

stock and grain. He married Miss S. M. Taft, a niece of Levi
Taft, of Koscoe, Oct. 25, 1850. He held several town offices. He
died Oct. 5, 1878. The family moved to Iowa where they how-

reside.

J. E. Chase was born in Franklin county', N. Y., Dec. 25, 1830.

He settled in Kockton in 1845. During most of the time he has

been engaged in farming. He owns a house and lot in Thay-
er's addition. He has been school director several ^^ears, and
has served as street commissioner of the village several terms.

His first wife was. Jane Newton, and his second wife was Ma-
tilda Jane Vanderburg.

Dr. John H. Carpenter was one of the first pioneers of Kock-
ton, and located land west of the river as earl}^ as 1836; yet

bj^ reason of his services as traveling agent for the bible societj'

for several years, he could not be claimed an actual settler un-

til 1845. He was l)ornin Hcrkshire ct)unt3', Mass., Ma}' 19, 1797,

and graduated at Williams ccdlege, in 1824. As he never mar-
ried, he made his home with his brother David the most of the

time. He was a member of the Cong'l church for nearly half
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a centur}', and a deacon or church for about half that time.

He died May 28, 1885.

Frederick J. Bentle}^ was born in Columbia county, N. Y.,

June 22, 1822. He married Sarah Crandall, in Berlin, N. Y., June
9, 1843. She born Feb. 17, 1823. They came to Rockton in 1846,

and settled on land west of the river, were he secured a farm
of 240 acres. They had four children. He died Sept. 3, 1888.

His son Frederick J. Bentley now occupies the old homestead.

Mrs. Bentley is still living.

Aaron Shores was an 1846 settler as has been previously

stated.

Orvis Shutleff was born in Canada, Oct. 29, 1817, came to

Rockton in 1846, purchased land on section thirty-three, and
engaged in farming. He married Sarah Smith, in Beloit, June
25, 1851. She was born in Canada, June 20, 1832. The}" had
eight children. He died a few years ago.

Calvin Stevens was born in North Andover, Mass., Dec. 24,

1803. He inarried Rozilla Young, July 22, 1830. She was born

Dec. 24, 1807, just one j'ear younger than her husband. He
was a ship carpenter b}^ trade. They came from the state of

Maine to Rockton in 1846, locating first in Macktown, but after-

wards built the house on Center street which was their home
as long as they lived. Mr. Stevens labored at carpenter work,
and assisted Coons & Kane in building the canal boat. Mrs.

Stevens was quite successful in doctoring the women and
children of Macktown with roots and herbs, and was often call-

ed to relieve the sufferings of the Indian women. They had
live children, three sons and two daughters. The sons, Albi-

on, Herman and George, all enlisted in the war of the re-

bellion. Albion died in service and Herman came out a cap-

tain. Mr. and Mrs. Stevens both died in Rockton. She died
April 19, 1864, and he died Oct. 3, 1871.

Love & Densmore made fanning mills in the forties for a

year or two, and had quite a business. The}' occujiied the

building for a shop which is now a part of S. R. Gridley's house.
There were two of the Densmores, Israel H. O. Densmore and
his brother Solomon Densmore. They were both members of

the Congregational church. After the fanning mill business
was given U]), Love settled in Beloit. Israel H. G. Densmore
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married Albiiia Merrill, Oct. 19, 1846, and went to Iowa where
he died. Solomon Densmore married Fidelia Teed, April 5,

1848, and moved away in 1849. She was one of the teachers in

the Rockton seminary.

The first meat market in Rockton was kept by Russell Nel-

son, and for want of paper to do up the quantity purchased,

the custoiner received his meat on a skewer. Then commenc-
ed the ludicrous sight of seeing a man scooting up the

street with his choice steak on a stick, and ail the town dogs
in hot pursuit. Happily this is all changed now, and Crawford
& Co. will give you your meat nicely enwrapped, and guaran-

tee exemption from dogs w^hile in transit. Mr. Nelson was a

shoemaker by trade and carried on the business here. He
built the Montanye house on Bridge street about 1854, but
sold it to Mr. Chamberlain before it was fully completed. He
went to Pikes Peak during the gold craze and probably died

there.

Stephen Morse was quite an early settler, and was a mem-
ber of the Congregational church. He w^as in trade in Beloit

with Moses W. Allen, for a time under the firm name of Morse
& Allen. He married Sophrona Hooker, a daughter of Chel-

lis Hooker. They went to Iowa several years ago, and he
died there.

Charles Havens settled here cpiite earl}^ in the history of the

toAvn. He married a daughter of George A. Young, and for

some time was in company with his father-in-law in manufac-
turing chairs. At one time he had a furniture store in the

Wight building on the Veness corner. He w^ent to Pikes Peak
and stayed there many years, and accumulated ciuite a proper-

ty. He died there about two years ago.

Dudley Spurling came here from the state of Maine in 1847-

He was a sailor, and had spent his whole time from manhood
till coming west on the sea. He worked several years for the

Merrill Brothers, tending the stables of the New England ho-

tel. He built the Bushorr house on Chapel street, which was
his residence as long as he lived. He was born July 1, 1804,

and died Feb. 8, 1869. His wife Lorinda, was born July 2, 1S12,

and died May 2, 1868.

Erastus L. Stiles was born in Penn., Aug. 8, 1820. He mar-
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ried Miss Maraiitlia Capron June, 1841. They came to tliis

county in 1845, and to Kockton in 1847. He \vorked at his trade

as shoemaker for a numher of years. He was suj^erintendent

of Smith & Martin's shoe factory as long as that institution

was doing business. He was the first agent of the Racine &
Mississippi railroad, commencing Oct. 28, 1856, and gave a

faithful and continuous service of fort^^ years, till Oct. 28, 1896.

He is now on the railroad retired list with ample pa}' for the

remainder of his life. He served the public both as town clerk

and clerk of the village for a number of years, and discharged
man}^ duties for the public good. He is well up in Masonry
and loves the order for its high moral principles. His gener-

ous and impulsive nature has not enabled him to la^^ bj^ as

much worldly \vealth as some might have done in his position,

but he has spent it wisely- and well, and has the ever-abiding
consciousness that he has done a great deal of good with his

means. He has alwa3's been a devoted worker in the cause of

temperance, and his life record has been consistent with his

high conception of manhood. Mrs. Stiles ^vas born Sept. 1818.

Kalph Smith, who was an earl}' settler, purchased the Mof-
fattfarm and a part of the Weld farm. He lived in the stone
house now owned by Charles Clarage. He had one son and
three daughters. His son, Asbur}' Smith, married and after a
time settled in Cleveland, Ohio, where he and his wife both
died. One of the daughters married \V. R. Weld, one married
Howard Adams who went to California and died there, and
the youngest daughter married George Guthrie, who died in

Rockton of consumption. Ralph Smith and his wife died here
many years ago.

Dr. Nathanael F. Prentice was an earl}' ph3'sician in Rock-
ton and practiced here for a number of 3-ears. He married
Miranda Hyatt, a daughter oi Jacob Hyatt, Nov. 20, 1851. Thev
moved to Freeport and the doctor died there.

Frank Prentice was a carpenter b}' trade and followed tiiat

line of l)usiness most of the time. He built the David Carpen-
ter house, and built for Isaac Adams the house now owned by
George Kllis.

Miles Prentice was an early settler, coming from Mt. Vernon,
X. Y. He married Almira Norton, a sister of Mrs. Wait Talcott.

They were both members of the Cong'l church. He was a car-

j)enter and ])uilt the Dock Whitney house, now owned bv Amos
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Burdick. They moved to Rockford in 1866.

Leonard W. Osgood was a settler of Rockton as early as 1847.

He bought the George Stevens place opposite of Macktown,
and built the stone house there. The property is now owned
by E. S. Waite. During the high water of 1851, his place was
all overflowed, and he and his family had to be helped away
in boats It is said that the first intimation that Mr. Osgood
had of the sudden rise of water was in throwing his hand out

of bed and finding it touched the water ^vhich had become a

foot or so deep in the lower story. After this adventure on a

river farm, he bought the lots and built the stone house in the

east part of the town, now owned 133^ N. B. Kincaid, which was
his home the remainder of his life. He and his wife died some
twenty-five or thirty years ago.

Alonzo Sackett was here for a few years in an early da3^ and
kept a livery stable. His brother, Elisha Sackett was here at

the same time, and carried on the tin smith business. They
both went to Iowa several years ago.

William Davis was an early settler of Rockton. He was a

shoemaker by trade and worked for years for Mr. Stiles at that

business. He built the house west of Mr. McCue's, which was
the residence of his son, Edgar J. Davis. He and his wife

died a number of years ago. They had several children. Mr.

Lampman's second wife was one of their daughters.

J. Herva Jones was born in Canandaigua, N. Y., August 20,

1827. He came to Rockton in 1847, and was a resident of this

place for sixteen 3^ears. He was an inventor of rare ability,

and originated a corn planter which was extensively manu-
factured and sold for a fe"w years. He commenced making
these machines about 1856, and during a part of this time the

business was carried on by Jones & Randall. He moved to

Rockford in 1863, and was superintendent of the Emerson,
Talcott & Go's manufacturing works during the remainder of

his life, with the exception of three 3^ears. He married Miss
Paulena P. Austin, a daughter of Henry S. Austin, June 27,

1849. She was born in Maiqe, June 14, 1832. She resides in

Rockford. Mr. Jones died in Rockford, Nov. 30, 1896.

Gharles L. R. Manning was born in Ganada, Feb. 19, 1821,

and came to Rockton in 1848. He carried on the business of
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harness iiiakiu*^ as loiii^ as he lived. He held the office of jus-

tice of the peace for several ^ears, and had heen a rneniher of

the village board and school director. He married Miss Jane
Baker, in Canada. She was born in St. Lawrence count}^ N. Y.,

Dec. 4, 1821. They were both members of the Methodist
church, and were highl3^ respected in the community. He
died in Rockton, April 8, 1891, She died in Rockford, August
11, 1896.

Alanson S. Newton was born in Winsor, Vt., Aug. 1, 1795.

He came to Rockton in 1848. He hrst lived on the Bligh farm,
and after that built his house in town, which is now the resi-

dence of A. T. Hart. He married his first wife, P0II3- Prentice,

May 3, 1818, who died Dec. 5, 1830, He next married Eunice
Palmer, Jul3^ 17, 1831. She died April 29, 1877. Mr. Newton
was an honorable and upright man, and held in high esteem b3'

his friends and neigh l)ors. He had been a worth3' member of

the Masonic fraternit3' for over sixt3^3^ears. He died Jul3^ 29,

1877.

Thomas Glover was born in Manchester, Eng., August 28,

1807. He married Miss x\nn Collier, in Januar3^ 1828. At that
time the3' were both members of the Weslevan Methodist
Church. He ^vas a zealous member of the Masonic fraternit3^

having joined the order in 1830, while living in Manchester.
He emigrated with his family to this countr3Mn 1848, coming
directl3^ to Rockton, where he lived the remainer of his life.

He w^orked in Thompson's woolen factor3" in Roscoe as spin-

ner for a few 3'ears, and after that he devoted his time to sign
and house painting. He died Juh' 3, 1885, and was buried with
Masonic honors. His wife was born November 1(5, 1809, and
died December 11. 1884,

The first brick made in Rockton was iti 1848. [ames Preston
started a brick 3'ard on the soutb side of the river, wbere John
Ivall3^ afterwards built his house. Isaac Adams was concerned
in the enterprise, and the business was carried oji for a few
3^ears. He made the brick for the Mansion house and most of

the other brick buildings in the village.

James S. Cowen was born in C^atiada, December 15, 1S35, and
came to this country witli his parents in 1848. He was a soldier

in the war of the rebellion, entering tbe service as a jjrivate,

August 6, 1862, and tberank of captain by brevet was cowferred
on him Ajjril 20, 18(55. He was in the battles of Stone K'iver,
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Mission Ridge, Franklin and Nashville, and the Atlantic cam-
paign. He was in the mercantile business for a few years. He
has held several town offices, and is now^ supervisor of the

town, which office he has held for the past four years. He has
also served as village president and a member of the school

board. He has been twice married; his present wife w^as Mrs.

Sarah M. Lester.

William R. Weld was born in Le Roy, N. Y., October 12,1820.

He married Miss Mar3' Smith, a daughter of Ralph Smith. He
held the office of justice of the peace for fourteen years, and
w^as associate county justice during eight years of that time.

He also held the office of to^vn clerk, and w^as a member of the
school board. He practiced law, carried on an insurance busi-

ness, and for several years kept a hardware store. He moved
to Rockford in 1872, where he liv^ed the remainer of his life.

William A. Phelps w^as born in Wyoming county, N. Y., April

6, 1825. He married Miss Mary Jane Lippitt, in Crawford
county, Penn., January 12, 1848. She was born September 2,

1822. They came to Rockton in 1849. and located on the farm
on w^hich they now^ reside. Mr. Phelps has held several town
offices, been school director a number of years, and has been
and actively engaged in the Methodist church and Sunday
school, of which he and his wife are both members. They
celebrated their golden wedding, Jan. 12, 1898. Mrs. Phelps
first came to Rockton with her father. Dr. Lippitt, in 1836, ^^^hen

she was only fourteen years old; but retuned to her old home
in Pennsylvania a few years later.

Seely Perry was an early settler of Rockton. He was born
in Stockbridge, Mass., Aug. 10, 1822, and graduated at Union
college, of Schenectady, N. Y., in 1845. He went South and en-

gaged in teaching for four years. He came to Rockton in July
of 1849, to visit bis brother-in-law, Rev. Lewis Benedict, and
at the solicitation of Messrs. Talcotts and others was induced
to take charge of the village school. The fall term was held in

the school house in the park, but the basement of the Congre-
gational church was completed by the end of the j^ear, so on
the first of January, 1850, he commenced his school in the base-

ment with Miss Julia Adams, now Mrs. Frank Packard, for as-

sistant teacher. During the suinmer of that j^ear, he had a
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house built, whicli has since been known as the William Covv-

en house. It was put up 1)3' Frank Packard, and was the tirst

house in town to be built wholly of pine lumber, whicVi was all

hauled from Chicago with teams. The house was destroyed
by fire Aug. 23, 1886. Mr. Perry continued the school until the

first of April, 1851, when he moved to Kockford. He sold his

house to Dea. Luman Pettibone. Since living in Rockford, he
has been engaged for over forty years in the lumber business.

Mr. Perry related a little incident in his experience while
teaching in Kentuck3^ It was impossible to get help there

to assist his wife with her little child, so the bright thought
struck him to bu^' a colored girl, and thus effectualh' settle the
vexed question of hired help. To think was to act, and soon
he bargained for the colored house maid, subject to the approv-
al of his wife, never once dreaming but that she would be
pleased with the plan. With her birth and education in abo-

lition Massachusetts, she was horrified at the idea, and could
never bear the thought of telling her dear little innocent boy,

that his father was a slave holder. The trade was declared off,

and all of the impending evils were thus happil}^ averted.

Asa P. Wiggins was one of the early settlers, and owned
land on the south side of the river, south of the Harrison road,

including the hill now owned b^^ Lewis Fairchild, where he
had his dwelling house. He died a good man}'- ago, and was
buried on his own land nearl3' opposite the south side school
house. His wife Luc3' Wiggins, was the administratix of the
estate, and sold the land to IIenr3' ShiblcN', in 1866, for the con-

sideration of $1,100. The famil3^ went back to their old home
in New Hampshire. The remains (^f Mr. Wiggins were taken
up a few 3'ears agt), under the directions of K. T^. Stiles, and
sent to his children in the east.

William Webber came here in 1849 with his family, and pur-

chased cpiite a (iuantit3' of land in the soutli-east part of the
township. Most of this land was bought of David A. Blake,
one of the first settlers of the township. Mr. Webber was born
in England, Marcli 26, 1804, married his wife, Miss Mary Hake,
Ma3" 3, 1832, and in 1849 came to this countr3' to improve their

condition for their growing family. The3' had live sons and
three daughters, and lived to grow up and settle in nuu-ried

life. He was able to give each of five sons a farm of their own.
Two of his oldest sons, John and William devclojjed a good
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deal of mechanical ingenuity and got up the "Webber reaper,"

which Was quite a noted machine forty years ago. John Web-
ber is now^ living in C3alifornia, and William Webber in South
Dakota. Two sons Herman and Thomas devoted their time to

farming. Thomas resides on the old home farm, and Herman
has since disposed of his farm property and moved into town.
Henry A. Webber was too much of a mechanic to content him-
self on a farm. He invented and patented a number of useful

appliances of practical utility, among which was a farm gate,

a railroad snow ploAv, a track lifter, besides greatly improving
the Carpenter angle sieve fanning mill, which he is now exten-

sively manufacturing in company with B. B. Gates. He has
also been engaged in building steam boats for river navigation.

After living on the farm for a number of years, old Mr. Web-
ber and his wife moved into town in 1872, and occupied the
brick house near the railroad station, where they lived the re-

mainder of their lives, in the enjoyment of serene old age. He
died July 19, 1889. She was born April 20, 1802, and died April

6, 1886.

The Talcott grist mill was enlarged in capacity this 3'ear by
the addition of another run of stones which weighed six tons.

George Koyden came this ^'ear, and for a time worked with

J. B. Peterson at carpenter Avork. After following the busi-

ness for ten or a dozen years, he started with a small stock of

goods in the postoffice at the west end of Main street. From
a small beginning he has gradually accumulated in wealth
until he has now one of the most complete grocer}^ stores in

town, besids owning other valuable property. He has the rep-

utation of being a thoroughly reliable business man, and the
people have confidence in him. He has held the office of village

treasurer for the past twenty-five years. He and John Veness
are the oldest merchants in point of trade in town.
Thomas M. Tliomj)son Avas one (^f the early settlers of Rock-

t(ni. He was a millwright T)}' trade, and found ready business
among the many mill springing up on the water power. He
built the Ran. McKa}^ house opposite Jame King's, which was
his home as long as' he lived. His children are how all gone
from Rockton. His son Henr}' who occasionallj- visits his old

home, possesses rare talent, as a portrait painter.

James Kincaid came to Rockton from the state of Maine, in

the last of the forties. He worked at mason work princi])all3^
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and built for himself the brick house just north of Waite's ho-

tel, now owned by Dr. Waite. He went to Dubuque, Iowa, a-

bout 1852, and from that time his family has lost all trace of

him. His wrife lived here until a few years ago, when she died

April 7. 1895.

Seymour Treat settled here in the last of the forties. He
married Abigail Guptil. When the shoe factory of Smith &
Martin started up, he traveled for the company selling their

output. He went to Polo about 1854, and engaged in the live

stock business. A few years ago he went to Chicago ^vith a

load of cattle, and while at the stock yards was accidently run
over by the cars and killed.

The "Mansion House" was built in 1849 by Porter Vinten.

He kept it as a hotel for a while, and was follow^ed b}^ Mr. Mo-
sier. Mosier's wife died while he was living there. Then Mr.

Kizer, from Harrison, kept the hotel until it was sold to Sam-
uel Adams, who run it for a short time. Adams sold to Dr.

Houghton, who kept it about the beginning of the war of the
rebellion. Houghton sold to E. Smith Waite, the present owner.
There was a carding machine on tlie w^ater power some time

in the forties. It was built by J. B. Howell and run by a Mr.

Davison. Quite a business was carried on for a few years. It

was destroyed by fire about 1852 and never rebuilt.

The First Tbachers' Institute.

The first teachers' institute ever held in the county, was in

Rockton in the spring of 1850. Prof. Sweet was the manager.
C. A. Huntington, the county superintendent of schools, and

J. J. Andrews and T. J. L. Remington, of Kockford, were pres-

ent; also Hiram H. Waldo, who was greatly interested in the

cause of education, came up from Rockford to the institute. He
was young and enthusiastic and highlj' susceptible to the

charmes of the fair sex. The exercises of the institute had not

progressed to any great extent before he discovered that one of

the Rockton attendants was exceedingly handsome, and was
as bright and intelligent as she was pretty. His admiration
was of the high j)ressure order, and he was carried awa}' with

the th(nigh that he had met his fate.

At the evening session he was further delighte<l, and resolv-

ed to ask permission to escort her liome. A ready consent
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was granted, and the distance was all too short, so full was his

mind of the beautiful air castles that he could see in the future.

"Would he walk in," was the simple question at the door, but
to him it ment a great deal. Most certainl}^ he would, with vis-

ions of a happy evening in her company. On entering she
gave him an intrt)duction to the gentleman sitting in the room,

as Mr. Guthrie, her husband.
To sa}^ that our gallant knight-errant was dumfounded

would be putting it too mildly. The sudden transition from
the gilded pinnacles of his fondest hope, tothedeptsof dark
despair was too overw^helming; and he longingly looked a-

round for some friendly knothole to crawl into and completely
hide himself. How he ever got out without giving himself
dead awa}^ he never could tell, but a good night's rest revived

his despondent feelings, and "Richard was himself again."

The second daj^'s session of the institute possessed new at-

tractions, and the prett}^ face of Miss Daniels, a step-daughter
of Stephen Mack, was the next one to draw our hero's attention.

He escorted her home to Macktown that night after the eve-

ning meeting, going by the way of Mack's l)ridge. and when
they arrived at her home, she kindly informed him that it

would be much nearer to reach his boarding place v^ith Mr.
Blinn in Thayer's part of the town, by going down the river,

than to return through tow^n. His knowledge of the intricate

windings through Mack's woods on a dark night was exceed-
ingly limited, but he had no doubt of easily finding the wa}^.

So he started out and traveled and traveled, putting in more
energy as the time passed away, and when nearl}- exhausted he
finally brought vip at Mr. Blinn's at three o'clock in the morn-
ing, the very picture of despair.

We are happy to state that Mr. Waldo eventual!}' got back to

Rockford without further mishaps, and although nearly fifty

years have passed since that event, we presume he has not for-

gotten the time when he attended the first teachers' insti-

tute in Rockton.

Alva McKay was a settler of about 1850. About 1851 he had
machinery on the w^ater power for turning l)utter bowls and
other wooden w^are. He also worked at house j^ainting. He
Avas a member of the Cong'l church. He died August 4, 1887.

His wife Eliza died Nov. 27, 1857.

George H. Jiollister was born in Marshtield, Vt., Dec. 14,1822.
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He came to Rockton in 1850, and besides investing in real es-

tate, he had mone}^ to loan, which was his chief source of in-

come. He served the public in various wa3's. He held the

office of postmaster seven 3'ears, township treasurer sixteen

3^ears. served one term in the state legislature, and supervisor

of the town four years. He married Miss Elizabeth H. Petti-

bone, Sept. 23, 1851. She died Sept. 20, 1860. He next married

Miss Fannie E. Hooker, Dec. 11, 1861. She was born Sept. 13,

1838. He died Nov. 2, 1890. The famil}^ now reside in Sioux

Fall, S. D.

Dea. Dorus Pettibone was born in Orwell, Vt., June 18, 1799.

He canxe to Rockton in the fall of 1850, where he lived the re-

mainder of his life. He was an active member in the Cong'l

church, also in the masonic fraternity. He owned a farm in the

town of Owen. Eliza A. Pettibone, his \vife,was born in Nor-

folk, Ct., Jan. 25, 1803, and died in Rockton, March 1, 1862. They
had three children, Rev. 1. F. Pettibone, a missionary to Tur-

key for thirty years; Philomela, Mrs. J. S. Houghton; and Ellen

Pettibone, who is now the only one of the family living, He
died Aug. 27, 1865.

John Sterns was a settler of about 1850. He married Almira
Guptill. He worked at carpenter work for several 3'ears, and
afterwards moved to Polo.

John C. McConnell was born in Sussex county. New Jersey',

Oct. 10, 1804, and married Arleta Marvin, Oct. 1. 1825. They
came to Rockton in 1849. He l^ought a farm on Sugar river in

1855, and in 1857 he traded it for land in Wisconsin, near Bara-

boo, where they moved. They came back to Rockton in 18()9,

and remained here as long as they lived, occup^'ing the last

3'ears, the house south of the Thomas H. Talcott place. They
were both mem])ers of the Cong'l church. He died June 22,

1881. She was born April 5, 1809, and died May 27, 1894.

Samuel Young, who came here from Canada, was a settler

in the early fifties, if not before, and owned a part of the Hlodg-

ett farm. He sold out about t\vent>-five years ago and moved
into town, buying the Robert Penman house on the soutli side

of the river, where he lived till the death of his wife, I*Vb. 5,

1878. He then went to Shirlandor Newark to live with some
of his relatives, and died there. They had two sons in the war
of the rebellion, William (J. ;in(l Hiram. William died of his

wounds while in service, JuIn', 1S()4.
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Under Township Organization.

• The township organization system was adopted and put in

force in 1850, in most of the northern counties of the state,

Winnebago county being included with the rest. Heretofore,

the local government was under the county S3^stem, borrowed
from the southern states; but when eastern influence began
to have a voice in the state legislature, the township system of

New York state was held up in strong contrast to the way they
had done such business in the states of Kentucky and Virginia.

Hence a bill was passed to allow counties to vote for organiza-

tion under the township system or run in the old way. Most
of the northern counties adopted the new method, but for years

after the southern part of the state clung to the old rule.

First Town Meeting.

The first town meeting held in Rockton was on Tuesday,
April 2d, 1850. Dea. William Bradley was chosen moderator of

the meeting and John B. Peterson, clerk. At the election

Sylvester Talcott received fifty-eight votes for supervisor, and
Stephen Mack forty-five votes. The town officers elected were
as follows:

Supervisor, Sylvester Talcott.

Town Clerk, William Halle3\

Assessor, John M. Hulett.

Collector, Ira Cummings.
T i.- f ^t TD \ Tesse Blinn.
Justices ot the Peace, -

•'

( John B. Peterson.

i Philander Bird,

Com. of Highwaj^s, < A. S. Newton,
' Wm. Leffingwell.

/-^ ill \ Simon Young:,
Constables, - ^

( Ira Cummings.
Overseer of the Poor, Jesse Blinn.

The following persons have been supervisors of Rockton
from its organization to the present time:
1850—Sylvester Talcott held the office for five years, and was

chairman of the board of supervisors two years.

1855—Luman Pettibone two years, and chairman one year.

1857—George H. Hollister two years.

1859—John Perham two years.

1861—Erastus H. Stanton three years.
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1864—Henry Shibley. Did not serve out his full term b}^ rea-

son of sickness, and James L. Gra}' was appointed to com-
plete the term.

1865—George H. HoUister two years.

1867-^David Carpenter three years.

1870—Robert Penman three years.

1873—David Carpenter two years.

1875—Joseph B. Merritt four years.

1879—E. J. Veness nine years supervisor, and seven 3^ears of

the time, chairman of the board,

1888—A. A. Snyder most seven 3^ears. He resigned in the fall

of 1894 on account of being elected county treasurer, and

J. S. Cowen was appointed to fill out the unexpired term.

1895—J. S. Cowen four years and now in office.

The Congregational church which w^as commenced in 1849,

was completed this 3"ear, and dedicated Oct. 24, 1850. The ser-

mon delivered on the occasion, was by Rev. A. L. Chapin, the

first president of Beloit college. The cost of the building was
estimated at $5,000, and was a great undertaking for the little

society that had its origin onl}' twelve ^^ears before.

The mill race was extended this year, and the brick paper
mill erected. It was built b}' Wright & Merrill, of Beloit, and
was the pioneer paper mill of Rockton. It had twenty-eight
shares of the water power occup3^ing lot number five on the

water power plat. The mill was subsequent!}' enlarged with
the addition of a print machine, and for a number of years, the

paper on which the NDrthvyestefn Christian Advocate was
printed, was made in Rockton. This jilant has gone through
many changes and owners, having been twice destroyed b}

tire. It is now owned by Fred M. Coons, who has recently

purchased it.

The same year Bird vS: Peterson still further extended the

race and btiilt the two stor^^ stone mill just east of the i)aper

mill for manufacturing jiurjjoses, and was first used by Alonzo
N. Mellen for a wheel barrow factor^-. It was subseiiuently

used as a reaper works, corn planter shop, oil mill, and shingle

mill, until it was changed into a rye mill by Hollister cS: Carl-

ton about 18(51 or '62. Later they sold to Kidder »S: Cowles, and
;in addition was l)uilt to the mill for custom work. The linn
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was then changed to Cowles & Gates, who run the business un-

til it Avas destroyed bj^ iire, April 25, 1879. It was never rebuilt.

The two story stone school house in the east part of the vil-

lage, w^as conimeticed this year, and finished the year foUo^^-

ing. M. H. Patten and his wife were the first teachers in the

new building. It w^as a great effort for that time, but the build-

ing was very much improved thirty 3'ears later.

The shoe factor}^ "w'^as built this year by Smith & Martin.

George Smith and C. B. Martin constituted the firm. They
did a large business from the first, and sent their sale wagons
into most of the tow^ns in the north-west part of the state. The
business continued to flourish for about two years with a hun-
dred men on the payroll, w^hen the great mistake was made of

moving the establishment to Dubuque, Iowa, which proved a

financial disaster. The old brick building still remains and
has since been used for various purposes, but it was shorn of

its glor}^ when the shoe business departed from Rockton.

Edwin Martin was born in Washington count3^ Yt., April 25,

1821. He married Caroline Wheeler, Jan. 1, 1846. She was
born in Vermont, July 2, 1827. The}^ came to Kockton in 1851.

He purchased a farm of 150 acres, on the Koscoe road, of Phi-

lander Bird, which he still ownes. He also has a town prop-

erty where he resides. Thirty years ago he engaged w^ith John
Clover in manufacturing brick in the west part of the town-

ship for a couple of years. He has been school director,

church trustee, and has served the public in other capacities.

He has now^ retired from active business and is in the enjoj^-

ment of a reasonable measure of good health for a man of his

age. Mr. and Mrs. Martin celebrated their golden wedding,

Jan. 1, 1896.

C. B. Martin was born in Washington count}', Vt., July 18,

1832. He came to Rockton in 1851, and soon engaged with

George Smith in building and running the shoe factor}- until

its removal to Iowa. He was town collector and constable

nearl}' twent}' 3'ears, and deputy sheriff five years. He engag-

ed in buying grain and live stock for a number of 3'ears. He
married Mary C.Cardell, Oct. 1855. She died Dec. 29, 1889.

For several years past he has made his home in Florida,

where he has an orange grove.

Dr. Smith came here from Malone, N. V., in 1851, and lived in

the .Sherman Aspland house near the school building. He had
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a son born here in 1852, that was named William H. Smith. Dr.

Sinith did not tind a ver}' encouraging practice, and in 1854»

returned to his old home inYork state. His son grew up toman-
hood and attained to the position of assistant secretary of the

treasurj^, during Grover Cleveland's first administration. He
served a part of the term, but had to resign on account of his

health. He went back to his home in Malone, and soon died

there.

Stephen Dewey Lyman came to Rockton in 1850 or '51. He
had a brother Thomas, who came about the same time. S. D.

L3nnan tried farming on some land ^vestof the river, but soon

moved into town and went in trade with the Talcotts, under the

firm of Talcott & Lyman. They had their store in the west
end of the stone block until about 1851, when they moved into

their new^ store, now known as the library building. Mr. Ly-
man built the stone house now^ the home of E. S. Waite, and
w^hile living there, his wife Julia A. Lyman, died very sudden-
ly Nov. 28, 1854. Mr. and Mrs. Lyman were i.iijnibers of the

Cong'l church, and Mr. Lyman was a leader of the choir for

some time. After carr^'ing on the business in the new store

for a couple of years, Mr. L3'man bought out the stock in trade

and moved it to Maquoketa, Iowa, where he conducted a store

in connection with his brother, Thomas L3'nian for a time until

the}^ failed in business. S. D. Lj^man then turned his atten-

tion to the study of laAV and in time became a judge. Thomas
Lj'^man returned to Chicago and got into some business there.

On the death of a cousin, he received bj- will $70,000.

George Smith was a settler of Rockton of 1851 or perhaps
earlier. He engaged with C. B. Martin in building and carry-

ing on the shoe factory. After the firm failed in business, he
went to Chicago and was salesman for the large shoe firm of

Doggett, Bassett & Hill.

Alonzo N. Mellen came to Rockton, in September, 1852, and
commenced to manufacture wheel barrows. He was the first

to use the new factory which had just been completed by Bird

& Peterson, east of the Wright paper mill. He carried on the

business for three or four 3'ears, when he sold out to Bird cSc

Peterson. He bought a farm alK)ut two miles east of town, and
carried it on for a nuinl)i>r()f Ncars. Then he moved l)ack to
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town, and for several years was book keeper at the paper mill

for Bradner, Smith & Co. Since then he has retired from bu-

siness. He has been a deacon in the Congregational church
for a good many years. He has also served as trustee, and
been church clerk several terms. His first wife, who was a

member of the church died June 18, 1890. She was born June
13, 1821. He is now living with his second wife, Mrs. Bnima
McConnell Mellen, whom he married July 7, 1891. Mr. and
Mrs. Mellen are highly respected in the communit}'.

Sylvester Bartholomew was a settler of 1852, although he was
first a resident of Roscoe for about seven years. He was born
in Ohio, March 31, 1808. He married Calesta Johnson, in Ohio,

Ma}" 11, 1835. The}' w^ere both members of the Methodist
church in Rockton. They were both much respected by all

who knew them. He died Aug. 9, 1893. His wife was born

Nov. 5, 1814, and died at the home of her son, O. T. Bartholo-

mew. July 27, 1898.

S. Rosenbaum was a tnerchant here in the earh^ fifties, and
kept store in the stone block. He was a fluent speaker, and
with his knowledge of law, was much sought after as a petti-

fogger. After a few years residence in Rockton, he sold out

and went to California, and became a noted law^^er.

Michael Connor came here in the early fifties and was fore-

man in Wright Sc Merrill's paper mill for several years. After-

•^vards he was forenian for Bradner, Smith & Co., and still later

he occupied the same position in Merrill's paper mill at Beloit.

He went to California in the seventies, where he made his

home. He came back a few years ago on a visit and soon re-

turned. His wife died in Rockford quite recentl}' and was bu-

ried in Rockton cemeter} .

A. P. Newell was a settler here in 1852. He carrie<l on wag-
on making and built several houses, among which ma}' be

mentioned the one now owned by Barney Collins, the residence

of Mrs. Goddard, and the home of W. W. Austin. He moved
away a few years later, first going to Rockford, and finally to

Sterland, where he now resides.

William Warren kept a store in Rockton in the first of the

fifties. He bought the paper mill of Hollister &: Co., in 1856,

and formed a company to carry on the business. It was known
as Bradner, Warren &: Co. He lived on the Cxoodwin farm
where he died Feb. 1(5, 1859.
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James L. Graj' was born in Montpelier, Vt., Nov. 18, 1816. He
married Sarah 1. Mitchell in 1839. She was born it 1812. Thej""

came to Rockton in 1852, and commenced keeping stt)re in the

Webb building, on the corner of Main and Washington streets.

The tirm was Densmore, Gray & Hadlej'. He sold ovit his

share in the store a couple of 3'ears later to Mr. Jameson. He
bought the stone house now owned by Charles Clarage, of Mrs.

J^alph Smith about 1854, where he lived for the next ten years.

He kept a lumber yard from 1856 to 1859. It Avas located where
David Hudson's house now stands. He was an active man iu

the Methodist, and was one of the building committee when
the church was erected in 1857. His wife died while in Kock-
ton, Dec. 23, 1862. He married his second wife, Mrs. Frances

Lock, Jan. 10, 1864. He moved to Rockford about 1872, where
he died May 5, 1888.

Alpha Bligh was born Sept. 22, 1802, married Elmira H.
Wiard, Jan. 27, 1828. Thej^ came west in 1848, and lived in the

vicinity of Rockton for three or four ^^ears. In 1852 he located

on the south side of the river, on section twenty-four, which
was his home as long as he lived. He was a charter member of

the masonic lodge, which was started in 1849. He served the

town several years as commissioner of highways. He died May
2, 1857. His wife was Ijorn April 17, 1808, and died June 30,

1885.

James X. Douglas was born in Jefferson county, X. Y., March
11, 1834. He came with his parents to Wisct)nsin, and after

living there ten ^ears, came to Rockton in 1853. He married
Charlott Veness, Jan. 25, 1855. He an<l his wife are both mem-
bers of the Baptist church. He has been sexton of Rockton
cemetery for the past twenty-seven years, and during that time

has buried 320 persons.

Joseph C. Truman was born in Jefferson couiit\-, X. V., Xov.
25, 1828. He married Mary A. Hollister, in Hartford, Ct.

March 12, 1851. She was born Sei)t. 28, 1832. The}- came to

Rockton in 1853. He was partner in the pai)er mill built by
Hollister & Co., the same \'ear. He soon Ijought a farm, which
he has since occupied and devoted his attention to farming.

He held the office of town assessor for eleven years. He and
liis wife are members of the Metliodist cliurch, and hi' was one

of tlu> building committee wlien \\\c church was erected.
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Dr. David V. Waite was born in Auburn, N. Y., in 1822, grad-

uated at Geneva medical college in 1851, and settled in Rock-
ton in 1853. He has had a large practice for forty j^ears, retir-

ing in 1892, and during that time has accumulated ample prop-

erty for all of his wants during the remainder of his life. He
has a fine residence, and his sister, Mrs. Manard, presides in

his home. He never married.

RocKTON Railroad Bonds.

At the annual town meeting held April 5, 1853, it was voted

that the town of Rockton subscribe the sum of $50,000 to the

capital stock of the Rockton and Freeport railroad. On the

23rd day of February, 1854, the board of town auditors execut-

ed the subscription to said railroad compan}^, which was con-

solidated with the Racine and Mississippi railroad company
in 1854. The bonds were issued Dec. 20, 1855, in amount of $5C0

each, at seven per cent interest, and made pa3^able Feb. 10,

1876. They were signed by William Halley, chairman of the

bond committee, and \V. R. Weld, to\vn clerk. These bonds
were issued in exchange for $50,000 of railroad stock in the

Racine & Mississippi railroad. When the railroad company
made an assignment, and the propert}^ went into other hands
the railroad stock held bj^ the town of Rockton became worth-

less; lience an effort was made to have the bonds cancelled

without payment. The court's decision was against Rockton,

and the bonds had to be paid. Some of them were paid in full

with all the accruing interest, and some with quite a reduction,

and some settled for seventy-five cents on a dollar. The total

amount to liquidate the indeptedness as audited by the board,

is given as follows:

Paid on Railroad Bonds.

Sept. 3, 1861—Paid interest on railroad bonds 750.00

Sept. 6, 1862- „ „ „ „ 750.00

Sept. 8, 1863— „ „ „ „ 975.00

June 23, 1864—T. W. Burgess, Chicago, attorney fee. 3CX).00

Sept. 5, 1865—Railroad bonds and interest on them. 1,460.00

Sept. 3, 1866— „ „ „ „ 1,365.00

Sept. 3, 1867—David Carpenter paid attorne}^ fee 200.00

Nov. 1, 1869—Railroad bonds, interest and cost 10,0a).00

Footing, $15,800.00
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Footing brought forward, 15,800.00

Mar. 29, 1870—George F. Harding, attorney fee 300.00

,, ,, —James Wight, attorn e^^ fee 50.00

,, ,, —James L. Gray, bond committee 180.00

Sept. 6, 1870—Railroad bonds and interest 10,000.00

,, ,, —George F. Harding, attorney fee 700.00

,, ,, —James Wight, attornej^ fee 50.00

Sept. 5, 1871—Railroad bonds and interest 10,000.00

,, ,, —Attorney fee defending suit 500.00

Aug. 12, 1872—Railroad bonds and interest 10,000.00

Aug. 26, ,, —George F. Harding, attorne}^ fee 100.00

Aug. 11, 1873—Railroad bonds and interest 10,000.00

Aug. 11,1874— „ „ „ 10,000.00

Aug. 6, 1885— „ „ „ 10,000.00

Aug. 11,1876— „ „ „
^

9,000.00

Sept. 4, 1877— „ „ „
'

9,000.00

Sept. 3, 1878— „ „ „ 9,000.00

Sept. 3, 1879— „ „ ,, 7,500.00

Sept. 7, 1880— „ „ . „ 8,000.00

Sept. 6, 1881— ,, „ „ 7,500.00

Sept. 5, 1882— „ „ „ 7,832.65

Sept. 4, 1883— „ „ „ 7,867.10

Sept. 2, 1884— „ „ „ 4,836.00

Sept. 1, 1885— „ „ „ 3,200.00

Total paid on town bonds $151,415.75

The railroad bonds cut a big figure in the past finances of

Rockton, and its experience in town bonds is not likely to be
forgotten by the present generation. With a large tax for two
iron bridges across the river, and several of less note, an im-

mence town bounty for her soldiers during the late civil war,

and the railroad bond tax, Rockton struggled for years with all

her might; but happily the great strain has past, and now our
taxes are as low as other surrounding towns.

A paper mill was built this year on the site of the present

No. one paper mill of Bradner & Smith. It was erected by
Hollister i& Co., and read}- to run about Jan. 1st, 1854. This
company carried on the business a couple of 3'ears, when it

was sold to Hradner, Warren & Co. The mill was destroyed b}"-

fire, Feb. 21, 1876. The mill was rebuilt that year and in run-

ning order in the fall at a cost of about $45,(X)0. It has been
shut down the ]>ast two or three 3'ears.
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J. H. Hanchett, of Beloit, built the pile bridge across the riv-

er at the foot of Washington street in 1854.

William Talcott donated a bell to the Congregational church
this year, and at the annual town meeting, Samuel Adams pre-

sented the following resolutions, which were unanimously
adopted:

RocKTOX, April 4th, 1854.

"Resolved, that we the citizens of Rockton, assembled in

toA\'n meeting, tender to Williaxn Talcott our sincere thanks
for his verj' liberal donation of a church bell.

"Resolved, that it is suitable and in order to perpetuate the

remembrance of the generous deed, that the following be in-

scribed on said bell:

"Presexted by William Talcott,

March 18, 1854."

"Resolved, that a copy of these resolutions, signed by the

moderator and clerk, be presented to William Talcott, and that

the same be spread on the records of the town."

Among the earU' settlers coming from the New England
states, was Edwin Case, who came in the spring of 1854, frt)m

Glastonbury, Ct. He soon moved into the brick house on
Bridge street, which has ever since been the home of the fam-
ily. Mr. Case was a wagon maker and worked at his trade for

man3'3'ears. He was born in Manchester, Ct., April 9, 1816,

and died March 19, 1888. His mother, Mrs. Anna Case, came
to Rockton in 18.55, and lived with him until her death in 18.57.

Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Ivord came from (rlastonbur3% Ct., in 1856,

and made their home with their daughter, Mrs. Edwin Case.

The next 3'ear Mrs. Lord was stricken with paralysis, and for

eleven 3"ears renuiined a helpless invalid until relieved 1)y

death, Dec. 18, 18H8. Mr. Lord died March 21, 1863. Walter

Lord accomj^anied his parents in their journe}' west, and lived

here a few months, making preparations for a permanent
home, when he was taken sick and died suddenly, Feb. 9, 1857,

on the ver}^ day that he had set to return east after his famil}'-.

(ren. William Rfchardson came to Rockton when he was
seventy years of age, and hrst lived in the Myron Carpenter

house west of the river. He liouglit the farm now owned bj^

his son, C. H. Richardson. He soon purchased the brick house
on Bridge street, where he died Nov. 24, 18(50. His wife was
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horn Jan. 20, 1805, and dietl Jan. 23, 1879. He was a general of

state militia in the war of 1812.

Lucius Mellen was born Nov. 2, 179G, married Abigail Mills.

She was born March 3, 1798. Mr. Mellen was engaged in the

woolen mill business wdiile living in the state of New York.

He came to Rockton in 1854, and purchased a farm about three

miles east of town, where he lived some twent}' 3'ears. He
died May 21, 1878. His wife died Ma}- 9, 1879.

Dorson Newell was born Feb. 9, 1824, married Elizabeth A.

Phelps, Sept. 12, 1850, and came to Rockton in 1854. For years
he carried on wagon making in connection with his brother,

A. P. Newell. Later years he has been variously' engaged,
mostly in selling groceries and confectionery. He lives on the
west end of Maiti street, where he suffered the loss of his house
and place of business b}- fire, Aug. 26, 1889; but he soon erected

his present house on the same site, his friends generousl}' giv-

ing financial aid to assist the enterprise. Mrs. Newell was born

July 26, 1832.

A. \V. Gilmore was a settler of Rockton about 1854. He was
a man of means and dealt in real estate, and for a time had a
lumber ^-ard and bought grain. He purchased the E. S. Waite
place and greatly improved it during his residence here. He
went to Chicago and started a private bank there. He is still

living.

Col. Henry Shiblc}' came here in 1855. He had a store in the
west end of the New England hotel which he run for several
years. He also bought the Northwest paper mill, of Mr. Wright
and carried on that branch of business for a time. He bought
land on the south side of the river, including the hill now own-
ed b}' Ivcwis Fairchild. He lived in the brick house east of the
Baptist church, which has been in possession of the famil}'-

until quite recentl3\ He was supervisor of the town in 18(54,

but did not serve out his full term, owing to a stroke of jiaral-

3'sis. He married Ruth A. Slighter, April 2, 1844. She was
born Aug. 12, 1823, and died in Rockton, Feb. 4, 1891. He died
Sept. 27, 1865.

John' Jienton cami- from Massachusetts with his familv in

1855, and settleti on latid west of Coon creek, now owned by
W.H.Phelps, lie sold thr farm in 1S()S. to Austin \- Jones,
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and moved to the village, buying the Bowker house on the

south side of the river, now the residence of H. A. Webber,
where he lived until his death, Sept. 17, 1877. Mrs. Benton died

Dec. 3, 1870. They had a family of seven children, and all are

now dead but one, Mar}^ Benton, w^ho was born Aug. 13, 1831.

One son died in the war of the rebellion.

R. C. Sweet was born in Erie county, N. Y., Nov. 26, 1831,

came to Rockton in 1855, and for ten years lived on the farm
now owned by R. B. Meech, west of the river. He then moved
to the town of Shirland, where he now resides. He married
Lucinda M. Southworth, in Rockton, Oct. 29, 1857.

Austin D. Bliss was born Jan. 26, 1822. He married Betsey
Adams, Nov. 29, 1843. She was born in 1823, and died May 23,

1865. He next married Mrs. Ellen Estes, July 5, 1866. She was
born Aug. 9, 1841. He came to Rockton in 1855, but lived in

Clinton, Wis., the lirst two years. In 1857 he purchased the

place where-he now lives of C. F. Chamberlain. He spent the

most of his time in farming until ciuite recently, and since he
has devoted his time to gardening. He suffered the loss of his

house by fire, Feb. 19, 1889, but he rebuilt it a short time after-

w^ards. He held the office of commissioner of highways from
1872 to 1891. He also served on the village board six years.

Caleb Bentley was born Feb. 14, 1829, read law in Woodstock,
in the office of Lawrence Church, and was admitted to the bar,

Sept. 13, 1853. He located in Rockton in 1855. He married

Janet Gibson, Oct. 30, 1860. She was born June 13, 1840, and
died Jan. 7, 1864. He next married Flora I. Pollard, April 1,

1875. She was born Dec. 5, 1845, and died Nov. 15, 1896. Mr.

Bentley has enjoyed a liberal practice at his profession while
living in Rockton. He held the office of justice of the peace,

for twelve j^ears. He owns a farm a couple of miles out of

town on the Roscoe road, and a fine residence in the village.

John Lally caiue to Rockton this 3'ear and built the brick

house on the south side of the river, on the brick yard lot,

which was his h(^me as long as he lived. He \vas an active

man of business and did a great deal of work in furnishing

stone from his quarry for building purposes. He was at one
time a member of the village board, and served as street com-
mission one or two terms. He had the misfortune to break
one of legs w^hile working in his quarry, and his death follow-

ed months afterward from a lingering spell of sickness. He
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married Ann Rogers in Sept. 1848. She was born Aug. 15, 1830.

and died Oct. 2, 1897. He was born June 24, 1826, and died Feb,

17, 1883.

C. B. Richardson came to Rockton w^ith his parents in the

early fifties. He spent several years in buying horses and tak-

ing them to California bj^ the overland route, making one trip

a year. He could sell his horses at a fair price and get his pay
in gold. He would return b}^ the wa}^ of the isthiuus to New
York, where he could sell his gold at a good premium, thus in-

creasing the profits on his venture. He married Emroy P.

Gray, onl}^ daughter of James L. Gray, Jan. 10, 1864, and settled

down to farm work. For a number of years past, he has prac-

ticed as a veterinary surgeon. He now lives in Rockford. He
was born Dec. 25, 1831.

Denison Fairchild may be classed with the early settlers, as

his father, Daniel Fairchild, was a settler here as early as 1836.

He was born March 26, 1843, He married Gertrude A. Board-

man. Most of his time has been spent in farming.

Daniel Fairchild, brother of the above, was born in Rockton,

Feb. 4, 1848. He married Diema Springer, Feb. 11, 1873. She
w^as born in Maine, June 12, 1852. He is a farmer and resides

in the town of Shirland.

Rockton Lawyers.

The lirst law^yer to locate in Rockton was Rufus R. Hadle3^

He first came here as a lecturer on phenologjs and concluded

to settle here. He w^as elected justice of the peace in 1851, to fill

the vacancy caused by Jesse Blinn moving to Rockford. He
held the office three years until his successor was elected. He
was in company'- with James L. Gray when he kept store in the

Webb store in 1852 and '53. He did not sta^^ long in Rockton.

H. N. Chapman is the name of another law^'cr who lived for

a time in Rockton. He w^as a great admirer of old John Brown,
and the day he ^vas hxing for his crime at Harper's Ferry, Mr.

Chapman tolled the church bell all da3'. During war times he

got a clerkship at Washington and went thereto live.

\V. R. Weld and Caleb Bentlev were the other Uvo lawyers,

who have already been noted.

Rockton Physic fans.

The list of Rockton physicians is (juitc extensive. In con-

trast with the lawyers, it shows that the ]ieoj)le have been more



114 HISTORY OF KOCKTON.

peaceful than healthy. The first physicians, Hooker, Van-
Brunt, Waite and Smith, have alread}^ been spoken of. Then
come those of a later date: Drs. Prentice, Hulett, Drake, Kel-

logg, Knight, Bryning, Veness, Taylor, Kimball, Wood, Hunt,
Lovesee, Sutherland and Cole.f Dr. Knight was here in 1857

and '58 and lived in the house which in now the Baptist par-

sonage. Dr. Br3^ning lived in the Talcott homestead soon after

the close of the war. Dr. Veness practiced here until his death
in 1893. Dr. Taylor came from Janesville in 1875, and after a

residence of a couple of years, he went to Chicago to run a

drug store. Dr. Kimball came up from Kockford to take Dr.

Taylor's practice. He stayed here about a year and then re-

turned to Kockford, where he now resides. Dr. Wood came
here from Capron, and stayed about two years, when he went
to Dakota. Dr. Hunt came here from Beloit, but only made a

short stay. Dr. Lovesee came from a practice in Harrison, and
after a stay of two years or so, went to Klkhorn, Wis. He noAV

resides in Roscoe. Dr. C. L. Sutherland came here from Janes-
ville, in 1885. He graduated from Chicago Medical college in

1883. Beside his extensive practice, he has served the public

as president of the village board and as one of the directors of

public school. Dr. E. J. Cole came to Rockton in 1896, from
Plattsville, Wis., Avhere he had practiced for several years. He
is a graduate from "Hohnamann" medical college. He was
born in Gratiot, Wis., in 1851.

This year was made prominent b}^ the advent of the rail-

road, and communication by rail was established with the out-

side world. The first train of passenger cars arrived in Rock-
ton, Oct. 28, 1856, and it was a general time of rejoicing. The
first car load of lumber was recevied Oct. 27, and E. L. Stiles

and Ira Cuminings unloaded it. It was consigned to James
E. Gray. The first load of wheat shipped from here by rail

was by Mr. Stewart, of Owen. It was shipped in his own grain

bags, which w^ere returned. This was the first wa^' of ship-

ping grain, but it was soon changed by putting the grain in the

car without sacking.

C. F. Chamberlain kept a drug store here in the hytnan
block about 1856 or '57. He bought the Montanye house of Mr.

Nelson, and greatly improved it. He married Marj^ Greeley.
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After living in Rockton a few years, he moved to Aurora, and
linall}^ to Memphis, Tenn. \vhere the}' both died.

Dean M. Pettibone, a cousin of Dea. Luman Pettibone, was
born in St. Lawrence county, N. Y., Dec. 18, '1812, married Lula
vSkinner, in Stockhohn, N. Y., Nov. 20, 1839. They came to

Kockton in 1856, and after living here a few years, removed to

Elk Grove. He died in Elgin, in 1875. She died in Polo a few
3 ears ago. While living here Mr. Pettibone built the house
which is now the residence of James S. Coweji.

David Hudson was l)orn in Scotland, March 13, 1823. He
married Amelia E. Br3aiing, Feb. 10, 1849. She was born March
9, 1832. The}^ came herefrom Canada in 1856. He bought the
stone house \vhere Miss Susan Griffith lives, of Thomas Far-
mer, and lived there for twent}' years, and worked at his trade

as a blacksmith until 1877, when he inoved onto the farm he
had previously bought, and lived there until the fall of 1883,

when he sold to Charles H3"att, and built his present residence
in town. He is now at work at his old trade again in connction
w^ith his son, J. W. Hudson.
Selvey K. Blodgett is one of the substantial farmers of Kock-

ton township. He was born in Beloit, June 10, 1838, and was
the tirst white inale child born there. For a mumber of j'^ears

he has owned and conducted the "Blodgett farm," which was
located by his father in an early day. He has devoted his time
to dairy farming and stock raising, and in this line he has
been ver}' successful. His residence is pleasantly situated
on the bank of Pecatonica river.

Samuel Widdowson was born in England, Feb. 26, 1831. He
marrried Elizabeth Marson, Sept. 6, 1854. She was born Jul}'

2, 1832. He came here in 1856, and worked at his trade as a

moulder for the reaper company. He built a foundry- in 1861,

and for a time was in company with Mr. Fountain. In 1866 he
went in company' with W. K. Axe, and built a inachine shop
and foundr}'. This establishment run very successfully for a

few years, doing custom work and manufacturing paint mills.

The building was destroyed by lire, Sept. 13, 1888. Mr. Wid-
dowson still lives in Rockton, but at present is doing business

in Delavan, Wis.

The school district on the south side of the river was organ-

ized in 1856, mostly from district number one, and what com-
prised the Macktown school. At a school meeting April 20.
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1856, Alpha Bligh.T. M. Coons and G. H. Hollister were elect-

ed the first board of directors for the ne"w district. The school

house was built in 1857, and the first teacher of the school for

the winter of 1857-'58, was Lewis Bigby. The present directors

of the district are Hiram W. Young, Fred Gleasman and B. C.

Truman.
Valentine Gleasman was born March 3 1838. He came to

the vicinity of Rockton in 1856, and after laboring by the month
at farm work till the fall of 1857, he went l^ack east to bring

out his father's family. He married Maryetta L. Gridle3^ Dec.

21, 1859. She was born Dec. 29, 1811. He bought his first farm
near Canada school house in 1862, and b^^ hard work and pru-

dence was enabled to buy farm after farm, until at the time of

his death, Sept. 29, 1893, he owned over fifteen hundred acres

or good farm land. He was a remarkably successfully man of

business, to start out when a young man with empty hands,

and in thirt3^-five 3^ears accumulate a fortune b}^ farming of

nearly one hundred thousand dollars.

Kev. John Perham was one of the Congregational ministers

here in the fifties for a 3^ear or two. He soon engaged in the

lumber and warehouse business in connection with Rev. Silas

Jessup. He lived in the David Carpenter house. He finally

inoved to Beloit and died there.

RoCKTON CiSMETERY.

At the town meeting in the spring of 1857, a committee was
appointed to select a site and purchase grounds for a cemetery
not to exceed ten acres. Said committee consisted of William
Hallej', Samuel Talcott, C. C. Smith, Henr}^ Shible^^ and Joseph
G. Veness. The present site was selected and purchased of

Wait Talcott at a cost of $870. The cost of survej'ing the same
by Thos. J. L. Remington, was $45.91.

George W. Springer was born in Franklin, Maine, March 4,

1816. He married Rosanda Guptil, May 26, 1839. She was born
in Gouldsl)orough, Maine, Jan. 2, 1818. They came to Rockton
in the fall of 1857. He carried on the business of shoemaking.
He built a shop on Main street next to C. Bentle3''s law (jffice.

He also built the house where Dr. Sutherland lives, which \vas

his home as long as he lived. He served the village until his

death as police magistrate. He was a member of the Metho-
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dist church. He died Oct. 25, 1876. His wife died in Beloit,

Sept. 13, 1895.

The Kockton Gazette was established tliis ^^ear b}' Funk &
Phelps. The first number was issued in May, from the cham-
ber of the west end of the stone block. After a short time Mr.

Funk sold out to his partner, Henr}' W. Phelp, who continued

the paper until some time in 1858, when he moved the estab-

lishment to Burlinototi, Wis. While living here he married

Alta Mason, Jan. 20, 1858. He enlisted in the war of the rebell-

ion and died in service.

Kev. Silas Jessup was born Ma}" 23, 1813. married Mary Cal-

ender, Ang. 25, 1843. She was born April 25, 1814, and died

April 13, 1883. He came here as earl}^ as 1857. He had a farm
west of the river for a few 3"ears. He was in compan}' with
Kev. John Perham in the lumber and grain trade for a time.

He died July 9, 1886.

Erastus H. Stanton established a l^ank in Kockton, in Webb's
building, in 1857, which was conducted for a year or so. He
lived on the Beloit road just north of Avhere George (rayton

now resides. He l)uilt the house there. He was supervisor

of Kockton for three 3^ears in war times, from 1861 to 1864. He
moved to Michigan and died there.

H. D. Jameson kept a store a short time in the Wel)b build-

ing. He built the large stone house up the river, recently own-
ed by George Sheard, about 1857. He went to McHenr}' coun-

ty and farmed it there awhile, and finally to Iowa, where he
died.

The Fountain Keaper company was started in tlie spring of

1857, to manufacture the Founting reaper. The stock holders

of the compati}" were, William Halley, Henry W. Talcot, H. 1).

Jameson and J. B. Peterson. The business was carried on a

couple of 3'ears, when the company closed up their affairs. ^Ir

Jameson was the bjisiness manager.
The Methodist church was put up and enclosed iliis year,

but was not fully linished for a 3'ear or two after.

The Baptist church was built in 1857, and fidly completed
by the close of the year.

CiriRCHES OF Kockton.

cox(;ki':(;.\ rioNAL.

The Congregational church was instituti'd on Fridaw March
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23, 1838 with fourteen original members. The meeting for or-

ganization was held at the house of Capt. William Talcott.

Rev. William M. Adams presided at the meeting. The names
of the first members were:

William Talcott, Mrs. Dorothy Talcott,

Henry W. Talcott, Miss Prudence Talcott,

Luman Pettibone, Miss Harriet Talcott,

Eli Hayes, Mrs. Almira Pettibone,

J. Ambrose Wight, Miss Mary Pettibone,

Mrs. Sophia Adams, Mrs. Maria P. Ormsby,
Mrs. Julia Carpenter, Mrs. Sophrona Hayes.

Rev. William M. Adams was the first pastor, Ivuman Petti-

bone was the first deacon, J. Ambrose Wight the first church
clerk, and Philander Bird, David Carpenter and Thomas B.

Talcott, the first board of trustees. Meetings were in private

houses until about 1840, then in the school house in the park
for about ten years, until the present stone church was com-
pleted in 1850, at a cost of $5,000, w^hich was considered at the

time a great enterprise.

The church attained to a membership of one hundred and
seven, Nov. 5, 1843, when eighteen members withdrew to help

form a sister church in Roscoe. The names of those who
withdrew were:

Alvin Leland, Solomon Leland,

John Bradley, Mrs. Eunice Bradle}'',

Horace K. Leonard, Mrs. Minerva J. Leonard,

Thomas R. Whipple, Mrs. Delia Whipple,
Edmond Bradley, George Kerr,

Charles Kerr, Mrs. Ann Frances Kerr,

John Moir, Mrs. Lydia Moir,

Korah Briggs, Mrs. Thankful Briggs,

E. Moir, Mrs. Hannah Cross.

On Feb. 28, 1846, another Congregational church was formed
from the Rockton parent society, and located in Shirland. Four-

teen members withdrew to form that church, as follows:

James L. Sharp, Mrs. Nancy Sharp,

Lemuel Fisk, Mrs, Martha Fisk,

Francis Steele Mrs. Rosetta Steele,

Luman Pettibone, Mrs. Almira Pettibone,

Henry S. Austin, Mrs. Eliza Austin,

Job Packard, Miss Hadassa Austin,
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Julius Keeiiey, Samuel F. Briggs.

In 1851, there was still another demand oti the parent church

for extension work, and nine members \vent out to help form

the church of Newark, Wis. During the first twentj'-five j^ears

of the church's histor^^ there has been a total membership of

three hundred and nineteen, and up to the present time, a total

membership of five hundred.

In March of 1854, Capt. William Talcott inade the church a

present of a bell, at a cost of $1,400. At the following town
meeting a resolution was adopted that a suitable inscription

be engraved on the bell, l)ut it was never done. About that

time a tow^n clock was put in the church tower, by Speer&: Cos-

per, of 77 Lake street, Chicago, but as it did not work well,

it was finally taken out b}^ the clock makers, without expense

to the town.

In 1867, Henr^^ McNiel, of the town of Owen, donated l)y will,

thirty-three acres of land to this church, valued at $1,000. The
land was subsequently^ sold, and from the proceeds with nec-

essar}" subscription, the church was able to build the present

pasonage. At a church meeting, Ma3^21, 1867, it was resolved

that the munificent bequest of the late Henr^- McNiel, giving

to this church thirtj'-three acres of land, "we do gratefully ac-

knt)wledge the good hand of our God toward this church, and
a worth}' exainple of an aged father in Israel toward the church
militant, and we shall cherish with profound respect the

name and luemory of the giver."

In 1885, Dr. John H. Carpentes willed to this church the

house and lot near the railroad station, with the modest requir-

ment, that $10 of each year's rent must be devoted to mission-

ary work.

The semi-centennial of the organization of the church was
held May 25, 1888, with appropriate exercises both afternoon

and evening. The church clerk, E. I. Carr, read a well prepar-

ed historical sketcli of the church; followed by an able article

on the church choir, b}' Mrs. Fanny Hollister. Remarks were
made by Hon. Wait Talcott, Thomas B. Talcott. F. \V. Packard
and P. L. Ellis. Dr. McArthur preached an excellent evening
discourse. Kevs. Higl)y and Wright assisted in the exercises.

Several visitors from abroad were present.

In 1890 the Hon. WaitTalcott left the church by will the siim

of $1,(K)0, the interest of which to lie used for the l)enefit()fthe
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church. At the annual meeting, Jan. 12, 1891, it was resolved:

"That we the church and society express of our deepest grati-

tude for such unexpected remembrance; that we recognize in

it very manifestly the character and quality of our departed

brother, one not only while with us, but during the 3^ears of ab-

sence, he has more than once given tangible proof of his a-

biding affection."

In 1894, Thomas B. Talcott willed the church a house and
lot, valued a $1,500. A good deal of repairs >vas put on this

building, as a donation by W. A. Talcott, of Rockford, for which
the church was duly thankful.

During the sixty years of the church's histor^^, it has had
eighteen ministers, whose names are as follows: William M.
Adams, Dexter Clary, Lew^is Benedict, John Perliam, C. Sel-

ded, L. H. Johnson, F. Lawson, S. P. Barker, J. G. Sabin, T. L.

Brown, H. G. McArthur, R. C. Bedford, A. F. Loomis. O. G.

May, E. F. Wright, F. A. Miller, Roger M. Sargent and Sam-
uel L. Unger.

Of those w^ho have been trustees of the church, we find the

folloAving names: Philander Bird, David Carpenter, Thomas
B. Talcott, Jesse Blinn, Wait Taleott, Dr. Harley Hooker, Ira

Cummings, Dr. J. H. Carpenter, L. D. Lyman, Henry O. Brown,
Sylvester Talcott, C. C. Smith, Miles S. Prentice, Charles C.

Wright, Charles F. Chamberlain, Edwin Martin, Dean Petti-

bone, Samuel Hersey, A. N. Mellen, William Carlton, Henry
W. Talcott, W. F. Packard, Silas Jessup, J. P. Farnsworth,

J. B. Merritt, H. A. Webber, Chauncey Pettibone, William H.
Farmer, J. A. Merrill, E. I. Carr, George Royden and Henry
Knutson.

Of the church clerks there has been: J. Ambrose Wight,
Wait Talcott, Coe Van Brunt, Seely Perr}^, Samuel Talcott,

Henry O. Brown, John H. Carpenter, Dean Pettibone, C. A.

Strickland, Sylvester Talcott, E. I. Carr and A. N. Mellen.

The deacon have been, Luman Pettibone, William Bradle}^

Wait Talcott, Coe Van Brunt, David Carpenter, Chaunce^^ Pet-

tibone, A. N. Mellen, J. A.Merrell and Henry Knutson.
The present church officers are: Samuel L. Unger, pastor;

E. I. Carr, church clerk; William Thompson, Henrj'^ Knutson
and William H. Farmer, trustees; and A. N. Mellen, Henry
Knutson and Mrs. A. J. McKay, deacons. The present mem-
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bership of the church, eighty-one. Sunday school superinten-

dent, Ehiier Kenned}'^.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

The M. E. church began as a class in 1855, with the follow-

ing members: A. W. Case, leader, Mrs. A. W. Case, S3dvester

Bartholomew and wife, Dr. J. A. Knight and wife, J. C. Tru-

man and wife, and had preaching services once in two weeks
at two o'clock in the afternoon in the stone school house, by
Rev. J. P. Vance, of the Koscoe Methodist church. This class

with others were organized into a church in 1856, b}^ Rev. Hol-

land Richardson.

CHARTER MEMBERS.

Sylvester Bartholomew, Mrs. Calista Bartholomew,
Benjamin Phillips, Mrs. Benjamin Phillips,

C. L. R. Manning, Mrs. Jane Manning,
James L. Gra}^ Mrs. Sarah Gray,

Dr. J. A. Knight, Mrs. J. A. Knight,

J. C. Truman, Mrs. Mary Truman,
William Harley, Mrs. Elizabeth Harley,

J. \V. Greattrax, Mrs. J. W. Greattrax.

Mrs Martha Chase.

The church building was commenced in 1857, Rev. C. F.

Wright, pastor, with a building committee of James L. Graj",

C. L. R. Manning, Dr. J. A. Knight, J. C. Truman and Benja-
min Phillips. The building was erected and enclosed and re-

mained in that condition until 1859, when it was completed,
through the effort of Rev. James N. Martin, and dedicated b^^

T. M. Eddy, D. D., editor of the North Western Christian Ad-
vacate.

From the commencement of the church services up to the
spring of 1858, meetings were held in the school house, when
the directors concluded not to have it used for religious servi-

ces or Svinda}' school. This made the little band of Methodist
feel as though the}^ had no friends outside of their own meni-
bers, being turned out into the street, and without just cause.

What to do and where to go was a serious (luestion, Init the

directors in district No. two. came to their relief, and opened
their school house to them. After holding services there a

short time it was thought l)est to return to the north side, if a
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place could be obtained, as most of the members belonged on

that side of the river. After a thorough canvass it was decid-

ed to secure the old red school house that had once been Rock-

ton's pride in its earler history. It is the little old building on

the corner of C. M. Crawford's.

Church services were held there until the church was dedi-

cated, when the little society found itself badly in debt, but not

discouraged. It was a time that tested the loyalty of its mem-
bers, and they nobly stood the test by emptying their pocket

books at every meeting and pledging more. This continued

until 1862, when Rev. George Richardson got up a big railroad

excursion to Chicago, which netted the church $856. The next

year an excursion to Savanna was executed which added $136

more to the fund. The proceeds of these two excursions with

help from friends, placed the church out of debt, and gave the

trustees a clear title to the church propert3\ The two years of

Rev. Richardson's pastorial labor were prosperous ones, both

spiritually and financially; and over sixt}^ united with the

church during that time. The average attendance of the Sun-

day school was over one hundred.

During the year of 1881, the lecture room was built through

the effort of Rev. J. M. Conlee. This added much to the con-

venience of church work. After serving the church five years,

Mr. Conlee was compelled on account of ph^^sical infirmities

to ask conferene for a superanuated relation, and spent most
of his remaining years in Rockton.

The 3^ears of 1883, '84 and '85 were prosperous ones under the

pastorate of Rev. N. A. Sunderlain. During the winter of 1884,

special services were held for eleven weeks, closing with a ju-

bilee, in which Rev. G. H. Vanhorn, Elder Manderville and
Rev. G. S. Hubbs took part. As a result of these meeting one
hundred and two united with the church.

During the years of 1891 and '92, over $1,400 were raised

through the efforts of Rev. E. J. Rose, to purchase a parsonage
and pay a $200 debt. In 1896 quite extensive repairs were made
on the church under the management of the ladies. They very

plainl}^ demonstrated the fact that thej^ are a power in

the church.
LIST OF PAvSTORS AND YEARS SERVED.

1856 H. \V. Richardson, 1876 J. S. Norris,

1857 C. F. Wright, 1877 J. J. Christ,
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1858 Aaron Cross, 1878 George Erving,

1859-60 J. N. Martin, 1779 B. F. Smith,

1861 W. D. Skelton, 1880-1-2 James M. Conlee,

1832-63 George Richardson, 1883-4-5 N. A. Sutherland,

1864 A. D. Field, 1886 J. C. Bigelow,

1865 D. W. Linn, 1887-88 James M. Conlee,

1868-67 James Bush, 1889 W. A. Adron.

1868 Edwin Brown, 1890 George Hopkins,
1889 E. M. Battis, 1891-92 E. J. Rose,

1871-72 H. \V. Raynolds, 1893 \V. B. Doble,

1873 J. F. Stout, 1894-95 H. E. Clark,

1874 Homer Scoville, 1896 Charles Virden,

1875 Peter Clare, 1897-98 Bobert Bell.

OFFICIAL BOARD.

Rev. Robert Bell, chairman. Mrs. Sarah Gleasman, Mrs.

Rozella Trimmer, Mrs. Mar3^ Hull, Mrs. Jessie Veness, Mrs.

Nettie Phelps, Miss Kittie Crawford, George Wilford, William
Harle3', Roscoe Gammon, Philip Gleasman, William Liddle,

S. R. Gridle3^ C. E. Phelps, H. S. Northrop, S.P. Jenison, C. C
Coons, C. M. Crawford, B. C. Truman, O. B. Houston, H. W.
Young, Ernest Gleasman and J, C. Truman.
Only three of the charter members of the church are now

living, William Harley and Mr. and Mrs. J. C. Truman.
Sunda}^ school superintedent, C. M. Crawford.

THE BAPTIvST CHURCH.

The earl^" histor}- of the Rockton Baptist church is closeh'

identified with that of the Roscoe chvirch. We find that on
March 23, 1850, the Baptist settlers of Roscoe township, met at

the home of J. G, Veness, then living in RoScoo, and decided
to organize a Baptist church. The following churches were
represented at the Recogtiition Council which met Aj)ril 2nd:

Manchester, Beloit, Belvidere, Rockford and Hartford; and the

following persons were recognized as constituting the mem-
bership of the first Bajitist church of Roscoe:

Patton At\vot)d and wife, J. (i. \'eness and wife, James Hatch
and wife, James Smith and wife, Jane Hatch, Eliza Atwood,
Evlizabeth Churchell and Lydia Pickard.

The church was first supplied by Rev. l^utton, who was fol-

lowed by Rev. Otis. Rev. James Veness succeeded Rev. Otis.

On June 12, 1851, the following Ba]>tist ]hm)])1c of of Iv*ock-
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ton, Rev. James Veiiess and wife, Chrlotte H. Veness, now Mrs.

J.N. Douglass, Dones Parker, A. P. Newell and J. C. Potter,

proposed to unite with the Roscoe church and hold alternate

services, the church to be known as the Roscoe and Rockton

United Baptist church. The proposition met with favor, and

Rev. Veness supplied the united church.

In 1854, the services at Roscoe were discontinued for lack of

suitable accommodations. The first place mentioned in the

records in which the Rockton services were held, was in the

Red School House, now used by C. M. Crawford as a paint shop.

During the winter of 1856, they joined with the Congregational

people in revival services, and there was a general awakening

of religious interest. Twenty-one members were added to the

church during the year.

June 28, 1856, the church voted to build a house of worship,

and Jan. 13, 1858, the building was dedicated. The dedicator}^

sermon was preached b}- Rev. D. B. Purinton, who had become

the pastor of the church in Oct. 1857. There was another re-

vival during the winter of 1858, and the report shows that

there were thirty-four members added to the church during the

associational year. During these years the church grew rapid-

ly, the membership now numbering ninety-nine, a growth of

nine-three in seven 3^ears.

The Sundaj^ school was organized in 1858, and in 1862 the

church was supporting three Sunda}" schools with a mem-
bership of three hundred and forty-one. Rev. C. T. Roe accept-

ed the pastorate in 1860, and was followed by Rev. A.L.Wilkin-

son, who became the pastor in Nov. 1868. He remained with

the church aboiit three years. Rev. W. Whitney succeeded

him in 1871, but was compelled to resign on account of poor

health, after about a year's work with the church. Rev. Jas.

Buchanan, a student of the Chicago Seminary, supplied tlie

church for awhile, and in August, 1873, was called to the pas-

torate. The next one to take up the work, was Rev. W. M.

Robinson, who began his labors in Jan. 1875, and continued

with the church one year.

Rev. A. Whitman became pastor of the church in Feb. 1876,

and continued until Ajiril, 1880. During June of the same

3^ear, Rev. W. G. Kvans began his pastorate, and closed his la-

bors with the church in 1883. For nearly one year tlie church was

supplied by Rev. J. E. Hamilton. During his work, a i)ra3'er
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room was built at the rear of the church. During the winter
of 1884, occurred a great revival in the M. E. church. Twenty
one members were added to the Baptist church during that

association year.

In June, 1884, the church gave Kev. J.J. I*helps a call as pas-
tor, which office he accepted and filled for about two years,

when he was succeeded by Kev. H. L. Steele, whose pastorate
continued until June, 1887. In Sept. of the same 3'ear, Kev.

J. C. Hart became pastor of the church, and closed his labors

at the end of the third year. The church was supplied until

June, 1891, when Rev. Henry Topping accepted a call, but soon
servered his relation with the church to prepare for mission-
ary work in Japan.

Nov. 1891, Rev. Stephen Crockett began his pastorial labors,

which lasted until Nov. 1893. He was closely followed by Rev.
\V. L. Jones who served the church until 1895, -when Rev. C. \Y.

Woodruff took the ministerial position in the church, and serv-

ed till the earl3' summer of 1898, when the present pastor. Rev.
T. C. Pedersen, assuined charge of the church work.
Three of the pastors were ordained after accepting the pas-

torate here: Rev. C. T. Roe, Jan. 15, 1861; Rev. Wilson Whit-
ney, Sept. 20, 1871; and Rev. Henry Topping, July 22, 1891. The
Rock River Baptist Association has met with this church
three times, 1857. 1876 and in 1887.

PRESEXT CHURCH OFFICERS.

F. D. Searls, C. B. Holmes, O. T. Bartholomew and D. N.
Grant, deacons. P. Atwood, E. S. Waite, jr., and Frank Graves,
trustees. Mrs. J. E. Forward, treasurer. Mrs. Clara A. Graves,
clerk. Sunday school superintendent, D. N. Grant.

In addition to the three church<^s already mentioned, there
are over fifty persons who belong to the Catholic church and
go to Beloit to worship. There are also a few of the Seventh
Day Advents, which j-ears ago formed (juite a society. The
Spiritualists at one time were quite numerous, but now have
scarcely a remnant left.

Charles Hyatt is an old settler of Rockton, coming with his
father's family in 1842. wlien a boy onl}- seven ^-ears old. He
was born vSept. 17, 1835, married Drewe}^ Smith, April 10, 1866.

She was I)orn Get. 12, 1S49, and died April 15, 1874. He married
his second wife, Mar^' Bacon, Sept. 12, 1875. He has been in-
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dustrious and careful of his savings, and has accumulated a

handsome property. He owns the farm in the town of Owen,
that his father, Horace Hyatt, deeded from government. His
father in connection with his brother, Jacob Hyatt, establish-

ed the first brick yard in Rockton, which was carried on by

James Preston.

Michael Morrison came to Rockton in 1855. He was born in

Ireland, Dec. 8, 1823. He married Joanna Hickey in Nov. 1851,

She was born Aug. 10, 1832. He received a good education in

his youth, and v^^hile living in Ireland was a disciple of Isaac

Pitman, the father of phonograph3^ and was secretary of a so-

ciety formed in his native to^vn. After he came here and was
working in the paper mill, he found in a bale of old papers, the

record book that he had used in Ireland. It had followed him
across the sea and brought up in Rockton. He retained the

old book which he values highly. He also has a copy of the

bible printed in the Irish language, which is a rare treasure.

Frederick Gleasman was born Sept. 19, 1842, came with the

family to Rockton township in 1858, when only sixteen 3^ears of

age. He married Jenette Farmer, a daughter of Thomas Far-

mer, and devoted his time to farming, in which occupation he

was very successful in accumulating a good deal of propert3\

He has held the office of comuiissioner of highwa3's for num-
ber of years.

James Shaw was a settler of Rockton about 1858. He lived

in the Johnson house just west of E. S. Waite's j^lace. He was
in company with Mr. Stearns in rebuilding the Talcott grist

mill in 1859, which was destroyed by fire the year before. After

living here about ten years he went to Missouri.

Llo3^d Stearns was a resident of Rockton for a few years,

coming here about 1858, and engaged with James Shaw in re-

building the Talcott grist mill in 1859. He lived in the house

now known as the Baptist parsonage. He sold out his share

in the mill in 1864, to C. W. Robertson, for $7,500. He was in

company with E. J. Veness, in the tannerj' business in Racine

for a couple of years. He died in Rockford.

ISOO.
E. Smith Waite was born in Genesee county, N. Y., Jan. 20,

1832. He visited Rockton in 1854, to see his brother, Dr. Waite.
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He located here in 1860. He married Lucinda B. Robertson,
Dec. 21, 1866. Iti 1865 he established a stage route to Rockford,
and had a contract for carrying the mail for two years. In 1868,

he bought the brick hotel of Dr. Houghton. He started a liv-

ery stable which he run for several years. He had the only
hearse that was ever owned in town. He served three terms
as justice of the peace, one term as police magistrate, two
terms as president of the village board, and one or two terms
as village trustee. He now resides on his farm west of the
river.

Samuel J. Goodwin settled in Rockton in the fall of 1860,

and purchased the well-known farm which bears his name, on
the Beloit road. He was born in Madison, N. Y., Aug. 19, 1812,

and died in Beloit, Feb. 6, 1885, He was a stirring man of busi-

ness, and tried to develope the water power between Rockton
and Beloit, a sketch of which is here given. He moved to Be-
loit in 1868.

The water power as ])r()jected by Mr. (Joodwin, includes a
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dam across the river and a race terminating at the Jameson
house. We quote from Mr. Goodwin's specifications:

"The dam will be located at what is known as Carpenter's

island, and will be seven feet high above the water, or about

eleven feet high from the foundation, and built upon a perfect

circle line. The foundation will be three hundred and fifty

feet wide and two hundred feet long. The upper end of the

foundation will be double sheet, piled its entire width. An-
other course of sheet piling in the same manner will be carried

the entire width at the spring line of the dam. Substantial

stone abutments will be made to support the ends of the

spring line of the dam. The guard locks will be eighty feet

wide. The race will be eleven hundred and fifty feet long,

eighty feet wide, and eleven feet deep at the dam, and fifteen

feet at its lower terminus. This gives the power seven feet

fall at the dam and eleven feet fall at the end of the race,

making an average power of nine feet fall."

Lewis Fairchild was born in St. Lawrence county, N. Y.,

Aug. 7, 1825. He came to Beloit in 1855, and to Rockton town-

ship in 1860, where he located on a farm west of the river.

He married Mrs. Lucinda Quinn, Oct. 10, 1847. She was born

in Oct. 1824, and died, April 10, 1892. He married his second

wife, Mrs. Laura J. Boone, Sept. 8, 1894. For the past few years

he has lived in the village, on the south side of the river. He
is a moulder by trade, and during his residence in Behiit, he

worked at that business.

E. S. Waite was born in Genesee count}^ N. Y., Jan. 26, 1832.

He is twin brother of E. Smith Waite. He came to Kockton
in 1861, and for a 3'ear or so carried on a grocerj^ store. The
next two years he v/as in company with Mr. Joslyn, when the

firm for three years following was Waite, Veness & Joslyn.

From 1867 to 1880, the business was carried on by Veness &
Waite, when Mr. Waite retired from the firm. Since that time

he has devoted most of his time to farming. He has held the

office of town assessor several 3'ears, and been president and

trustee of the village a number of terins. For the past few

years he has been librarian of the town librar}'. He married

Miss Kate Veness, May 1, 1862.

The great event of 1861 was the breaking out of the civil
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war. Kockton was einiiientl}" patriotic as was shown by the

number of soldiers they sent to put do\vn the rebellion. The
following names represent as complete a list as could be ob-

tained. All honor to the brave boj^s who so willingly rushed

to the defense of their countr3\

RocKToN Soldiers of 1861 and '65.

1. Henr^' Adams, enlisted Aug. 1, 1861, Co. G, 44 reg. Mustered
out Sept. 13, 1861. Died Oct. 23, 1861.

2. Charles D. Baker, enlisted Aug. 1, 1861, Co. G, 44 reg. Died

of his wounds, Nov. 25, 1863.

3. Ambrose Banks, enlisted Feb. 8, 1865, Co. G, 44 reg. Muster-

ed out Sept. 21, 1865.

4. Arthur Bartholomew, enlisted Sept. 1, 1861, Co. G, 44 reg.

Served out his full term c)f enlistment. Dis. at Nashville.

5. James Bartlett, enlisted Sept. 1, 1861, Co. G, 44 reg. Re-en-

listed as veteran, Jan. 1, 1864. Mustered out Sept. 25, 1865.

6. John Bingham, enlisted in 3rd Wisconsin light battery.

7. William Binghatn, enlisted in 3rd Wisconsin light batter}^

He died at Fortress Monroe.

8. I^ruce Blinn, enlisted Aug. 6, 1862, Co. A, 74 reg. Transfer-

red to infantry corps, March, 1864.

9. George W. Bliss, enlisted Aug. 14, 1862, Co. D, 74 reg. Mus-
tered out June 10, 1865.

10. Luman N. Carpenter, enlisted in Co. E, 18th Wis. Was in

Andersonville prison. Mustered out a captain.

11. David W. Chandler, enlisted Nov. 4, 1861, Co. F, 13th cav.

Transferred to Co. C. Mustered out a cori)<)ral.

12. John S. Chandler, enlisted Aug. 18, 18()2. Co. K, 74 reg.

Mustered out a sergeant, June 10, 1865.

13. Cassius M.Clay, enlisted Feb. 16, 1865, Co. A, 153 reg.

Mustered out Oct. 16, 1865.

14. C. H. Clay, enlisted Aug. 6, 1862, Co. A, 74 reg. Mustered
out a corporal, June 10, 1865.

15. Cr. G. Cla}', enlisted Aug. 6, 18()2, discharged for disability',

Nov. 5, 1862.

16. James H. Cotinor, enlisted Aug, 8. 1862, Co. I), 74 reg. Mus-
tered out a sergeant, June 1(5, 18(55.

17. Chas. C. Coons, enlisted Aug. 8, 1861, Co. G, 44 reg. Trans-

ferred to vet. R. C. April 30. 1864. Musteretl out a ser-

geant vSept. 21, 18(55. He was in I^ibby prison awhile.
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18. Hiram F. Corey, enlisted Aug. 12, 1862, Co. E, 74 reg. Trans-

ferred to vet. R. C. Jan. 9, 1865.

19. James S. Cowen, enlisted Aug. 6, 1862, Co. A, 74 reg., pro-

moted 2nd lieu. March 2, 1863, 1st lieu. Nov. 16, 1864. Mus-
tered out June 10, 1865.

20. D. C Craine, enlisted.

21. Richard H. Craine, enlisted Aug. 14, 1862, Co. D, 74 reg.

Mustered out May 19, 1865.

22. James Craine, enlisted.

23. Henry J. Crangle, enlisted March 15, 1865, Co. D, 74 reg.

Transferred to 36 111. V. I. June 7, 1865.

24. Lewis Christian, enlisted Aug. 1, 1861, Co. G, 44 reg. He
was killed at the battle of Stone river, Dec. 31, 1862.

25. Silas Cummings, enlisted Oct. 23, 1861, Co. B, 51 reg. Mus-
tered out May 31, 1865.

26. Thomas Dailey, enlisted Nov. 1, 1861, Co. B, 51 reg. Re-en-

listed vet. Dec. 24, 1863. Dis. as serg., Aug. 6, 1864.

27. Edgar J. Davis, enlisted Oct. 1, 1864, 2nd lieu., Co. G, 44 reg.

Mustered out sergeant May 22, 1865.

28. George E. Dolphin, enlisted July 30, 1861 as serg. Co. D,

11 reg. Dis. June 5, 1865. Promoted U. S. C. T.

29. Consider K. Davis, enlisted 4th Wis. batter3^

30. George H. Duncan, enlisted Nov. 20, 1861, Co. F, 15th cav.

Died at Keokuk, Iowa.

31. Samuel Dunham,.enlisted May 24, 1861, Co. B, 15 reg. Re-
enlisted vet. June 1, 1864,

32. John Dunham, enlisted Co. C, 1st Wis. cav. Mustered out

at the close of the war.

33. Melvin Fairchild, enlisted Co. G, 43rd Wis. inft. Re-enlist-

ed Sept. 186i. Discharged June, 1865.

34. HenryC.Fackrell, enlisted Feb. 16, 1865, Co. A, 153 reg.

Mustered out Sept, 21, 1865.

35. Charles E. Fox, enlisted Co. A, 1st R. I. cavalry. He was
thrown from a horse and killed.

36. Mathew Goodrich, enlisted Sept. 1, 1861 Co. G, 44 reg.

Died in Andersonville prison, Dec. 21, 1863.

37. David P. Gray, enlisted Aug. 1, 1861, Co. G, 44 reg. Died at

Rolla, Mo., Dec. 28, 1861.

38. Henry M. Gray, enlisted—died in service, Dec. 17, 1862.

39. George E. Gustin, enlisted Aug. 14, 1862, Co. D, 74 reg.

Discharged May 15, 1865.
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40. John H. Gustin, enlisted Aug. 8, 1862, Co. I). 74 reg. Died of

wounds atReseca, Ga., Julj^ 6, 1864.

41. Whitman Gustin, enlisted Nov. 13, 1861, Co. D, 74 reg. Died
of wounds at Reseca, Ga., June 4, 1864.

42. William H. Hanks, enlisted Aug. 1, 1861, Co. G, 44 reg-

Discharged Aug. 1, 1862.

43. Edwin A. Harley, enlisted Oct. 1, 1861, Co. F, 13th cav.

Discharged for disability, Nov. 4, 1862.

44. John W. Harley, enlisted Aug. 12, 1862, Co. E, 74 reg. Mus-
tered out June 10, 1865.

45. A. R. Hart, enlisted Aug. 1, 1861, Co. G. 44 reg. Dis. Aug.
1, 1862. Re-enlisted vet. Jan. 1, 1865. Mustered out
Sept. 25, 1865.

46. Ansel Hartwell, enlisted in 8th Mo.
47. Charles Hicks, enlisted June 2, 1862, Co. C, 67 reg. Mus-

tered out Sept. 29, 1862.

48. Edwin G.Higby, enlisted Aug. 6. 1862, Co. A, 74 reg. Died
at Nashville, Tenn., Dec. 7, 1862.

49. Robert Hunt, enlisted June 2, 1862, Co. C, 67 reg. Mustered
out Sept. 27, 1862. Re-enlisted Sept. 28, 1864, Co. D, 17th

111. cav. Mustered out July 8, 1865.

50. W.J. Hunt, enlisted June 2, 1862, Co. C, 67 reg. Mustered
out Sept. 27, 1862. Re-enlisted Sept. 28, 1864, Co. 1), 17th

111. cav. Mustered out July 8, 1865.

51. Horatio Hersey, enlisted Jan. 4, 1864, -Co. I, 9th 111. cav.

Killed at the battle of Campbellville, Nov. 24 1864.

52. Henry P. Kenned3^ enlisted Nov. 23, 1861, Co. B, 51 reg.

Discharged Feb. 4, 1862.

53. Wm. S. Leffingwell, enlisted Aug. 6, 1862, Co. A, 74 reg.

Trans. I. C. Nov. 21, 1863. Mustered out corporal.

54. Chas. D. Manning, enlisted Jan. 5, 1864, Co. I, 9th cav. as a
saddler. Absent on sick list when reg. was m.o.

55. John Maginnis, enlisted March 2, 1865, Co. I, 9th cav. Mus-
tered out Oct. 31, 1865.

56. Riley J. Meed, enlisted Aug. 1, 1861, Co.G, 44 reg. J)ied at

Jefferson City, Mo., Nov. 30, 1861.

57. Benj. F Moody, enlisted Jan. 29, 1862, Co. B, 51 reg. Mus-
tered out Feb. 27, 1861.

58. Josiah Morgan, enlisted Jan. 4, 1864, Co. I), 74 reg. Trans-
ferred to 36 111. Jan. 7, 186,5.

59. Shejiard Xorcross, enlisted July ^(5. 1862, as musician, pro-
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inoted to drum major, March 26, 1863.

60. Ferris Palmer, enlisted.

61. Robert Penman, enlisted Aug. 14, 1861,2nd lieu. Co. G,44rg

Resigned Feb. 28, -1862.

62. Thomas Penman, enlisted Aug. 1, 1861, Co. G, 44 reg. Mus-
tered out Sept. 13, 1861.

63. J. B. Peterson, died in service at Memphis, Tenn., June 27,

1864.

64. Chauncey Pettibone, enlisted May 20, 1861, Co. F, 1st Wis.

infantry for three months.
65. Osker Richardson, enlisted Jul}^ 16, 1861, Batter}' A, 1st light

art. m. o. end of three month. Re-enlisted fall of 1861,

in Co. C, 1st Wis. cav. Promoted serg. Nov. 16, 1861. Died
in service in 1863.

66. Timoth}^ Robertson, enlisted June 2, 1861, Co. C, 67 reg.

Mustered out vSept. 27, 1862.

67. Charles RoUison, enlisted Co. C, 1st Wis. cav. Mustered
out at the close of the war.

68. Eugene Saw3'er, enlisted Aug. 1, 1861, Co. G, 44 reg. Re-
enlisted vet. Jan. 1, 1864. Mustered out Sept. 25, 1865.

69. W^illis Sa\v3"er, enlisted June 2, 1862, Co. C, 67 reg. On fur-

lough Avhen his regiment was mustered out.

70. Lorenzo D. Shores, enlisted May 24, 1861, Co. C, 15 reg.

Discharged for disability, Nov. 26, 1862.

71. Franklin Shores, enlisted Aug. 8, 1862, Co. D, 74 reg. Trans-

ferred to I. C. Sept. 1, 1863.

72. Charles M. Smith, enlisted sergeant Co. F, 16th Wis.

73. Henry Smith, enlisted Aug. 8, 1862, Co. D, 74 reg. Discharg-

ed a sergeant April 17, 1865, for disabilit}'.

74. James Stemps, enlisted Sept. 27, 1862, Co. C, 67 reg.

75. John Spurling, enlisted 8th Mo.
76. C. B. Spurling, enlisted Aug. 9, 1861, Co. C, 44 reg. Dis-

charged in the fall of 1861.

77. Albion H. Stevens, enlisted Jan. 29, 1862, Co. B, 51 reg. Died
in service at Nashville, Tenn., Aug. 3, 1863.

78. George vStevens, enlisted Aug. 8, 1862, Co. D, 74 reg. Dis-

charged for disabilit}^ Dec. 26, 1862.

7{). H. D. Stevens, enlisted in the 8th Mo. Mustered out a

captain.

80. A. G. Stiles, enlisted Oct. 23, 1861, Co. B, 51 reg. Re-enlist-

en vet. Dec. 24, 1863. Mustered out serg. June 24, 1865,



HISTOKY OF ROCKTON, 133

81. William Streeter, enlisted Aug. 1, 1861, Co. G, 44 reg. Dis-

charged March, 1862.

82. George A. Springer, enlisted Nov. 2, 1861, Co. F, 13th cav.

Discharged for disabilit3^ Dec, 20, 1862,

83. Dwight Iv. Talcott, erdisted Jan. 5, 1864, Co. I, 9th cav.

Mustered out June 3, 1865. He was a prisoner in Ander-

sonville.

84. John G. Taj^lor, enlisted Sept. 30, 1864, Co. D, 74 reg. Mus-

tered out June 10, 1865.

85. JohnC. Thomas, enlisted Aug. 14, 1862, Co. F, 74 reg. Mus-
tered out June 10, 1865.

86. Orville Thomas, enlisted Aug. 14, 1862, Co. F, 74 reg; Mus-

tered out corporal, June 10, 1865.

87. George Thompson, enlisted June 2, 1862, Co. C, 67 reg. Mus-
tered out Sept. 27, 1862.

88. A. H. Toal, enlisted Feb. 16, 1865, Co. A, 153 reg. Mustered

out Sept. 21, 1865.

89. Henry H. Trowbridge, enlisted Feb. 1, 1865, Co. A. 153 reg.

Mustered out Sept. 21, 1865.

90. H. B. Tuttle, enlisted June 2, 1862, Co. C, 67 reg. Mustered

out Sept. 27, 1862.

91. Leonard Thurston, enlisted Nov. 20, 1861, Co. F. 13th cav.

Discharded for disabilit}^ Dec. 12, 1862.

92. James E. Urquhart, enlisted Aug. 4, 1862, Co. A, 74 reg. Dis-

charged Feb. 1863.

93. William H. Urquhart, enlisted Aug. 6, 1862, Co. A, 74 reg.

Killed in battle Dec 31, 1862.

94. Vascoe Van Rensselaer, enlisted Sept. 28, 1864, Co. D, 17th

cav. Mustered out Jul}' 21, 1865.

95. William Wearthy. enlisted Co. D, 17th cav. Mustered out

Dec. 20, 1865.

96. Thomas Willie, enlisted Aug. 1, 1861, Co. G, 44 reg. Re-en-

listed vet. Jan. 1, 18;)4. Absent when reg. was m. o.

97. Andrew J. Young, enlisted Aug. 8, 1862, Co. D, 74 reg. Dis-

charged for disabilit}', Jul}' 29, 1863.

98. William G. Young, enlisted Aug. 1, 1861, Co. G, 44 reg. Re-

enlisted vet. Jan. 1. 1864. Died of wounds, July, 1864.

99. Hiram Y(ning, enlisted.

100. Philip Zorn, enlisted Aug. 1. 1861, Co. G, 44 reg. Died in

Andersonville j^rison, March 20, 1864.

Of the one hundred soldit-rs that were credited to ICocklon



134 HISTORY OF ROCKTOX.

during the war of the rebellion,

6 were under eighteen years of age,

25 were over eighteen and under twenty-one years,

46 were over twenty-one and under thirty years,

12 were over thirty and under forty years,

4 were over forty and under fift)^ j^ears,

2 were over fifty 3^ears old, and

5 whose ages are unknown.
Too Total number.

Soldiers Buried in Rocktom Cemetery.

1. Silas Austin, of the war of 1812, died March 31, 1844.

2. Kufus Baker, war of 1812, died May 24, 1870.

3. George Benton, enlisted Co. A, 153 reg. d. Jan. 24, 1892.

4. C. E. Boone, died Jan. 8, 1893.

5. John Brown, of the war of 1812, died Sept. 29, 1861.

6. Orlando Butler.

7. Dr. C. B. Carr, surgeon in a Missouri reg. d. Sep. 2, '68

8. John Q. Chatsey.

9. Edward Collyer, killed in a cyclone, April 18, 1880.

10. Edgar J. Davis, Co. G, 44 111. Died Feb. 5, 1882.

11. Leonard Davenport.

12. Theodore Dickerson, died

13. Gen. E. J. Farnsworth, killed in battle July 3, 1863.

14. William Gajdord.

15. John Griffin.

16. Edwin A Harley, Co. F, 15th cavalry.

17. H. H. Helmer, died Dec. 30, 1892.

18. Josiah Morgan, Co. D, 74 111.

19. Fayette Pettibone, died March 8, 1897.

20. Luman Pettibone, war of 1812, died April 2, 1880.

21. Warren Raymond, war of 1812.

22. Charles Reed, war of 1812.

23. Gen. William Richardson, war of 1812, d. Nov. 24, 1860

24. Osker Richardson. 1st sol. of '61-'65 bur^^ed in cem.

25. William Riley, died July 1, 1881.

26. Nathaniel Rudd, war of 1812, died April 4, 1847.

27. Henry W. Smith, Co. D, 74 111.

28. Albion H. Stevens, Co, B, 51 111. Died Aug. 3, 1863.

29. L. F. Stevens.

30. Henry Sweet.
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31. Capt. William Talcott, war of 1812, died Sept. 2, 1864.

32. John Teague.

RocKTON Veterans.

1. Frank Alton, Co. F, 132 111.

2. Sherman Aspland, Co. G, 2nd Wis.

3. Andrew Bingham, Co. C, 9th Mich, infantry.

4. Isaac Brown, Co. I, 43rd Wis. infantry.

5. Thomas M. Coons, Black Hawk war of 1832.

6. Charles C. Coons, Co. G, 44 111.

7. Edward Corcoran, Co. C, 55 111.

8. J. S. Cowen, Co. A, 74 111.

9. J. J. Crawford, Co. C, 145, Pa. vol. infantr3^

10. C. M. Crawford, Battery H. Pa. light artillery.

11. A. E. Crawford, Co. M, 8th 111. cavalry,

12. J. W. Fisk, Battery A, 5th U. S. artillery.

14. Roscoe Gammon, Co. F, 9th Maine.
15. George Gayton, Co. H, 42 Wis.
16. John Gillen.

17. W. H. Graves, Co. H, 30th infantry.

18. Robert Hunt, Co. C, 67 Ills.

19. S. P. Jenison, Co. I, 6th N. Y.cav.
20* Theodore Knapp, Co. I, 111th N. Y.

21. David Kipp, Co. B, 74th 111.

22. John Lighthart. Co. E, 141st III.

23. Andrew J. Loveless, 1st serg. Co. F, 1st 111. cav.

24. Henry Merritt, Co. C, 135th Ind.

25. J. A. Parkhurst. Co. B, 4th flying art.

26. E.Powell, Co. I, Ohio vol. infantr3'. •

27. C. B. Spurling, Co. C, 44th 111.

28. A. G. Stiles. Co. B, 51st III.

29. Leonard Thurston, Co. F, 13th 111. cav.

30. John Watts. Co. E, 33d Wis.
31. C. W Woodruff, Co. L, 8th 111. cavalry.

Soldiers' Widows who Draw I^exsio.xs.

Mrs. Lura Brown, Mrs. George Benton,
Mrs. H. H. Helmer, Mrs. Henry Osborn,
Mrs. John Taylor. Mrs. Addie Thomas.

RocKTox Soldiers of the Cubax War.

1. Barton G. Bingham. Co. E. 1st Wis. infantry
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2. Charles K. Booth, Co. K, 1st Wis. infantry.
' 3. Henrj^ Cole, Co. E, 1st Wis. infantry.

4. Cecil M. Coons, Co. E, 1st Wis. infantry.

5. Benjamin Davis, Co. E, 1st Wis. infantry.

6. Orville Partch, Co. E, 1st Wis. infantry.

7. Fred A. Smith, Co. E. 1st Wis. infantry.

8. Willis G. Widdowson, Co. E, 1st Wis. infantry.

Samuel R. Baker was a native of Vermont, and came to

Rockton in 1859, and for a nuinber of ^^ears has been engaged
in one of the paper mills. He owns a house and lot on block

twenty-one. He nuirried his wife, Mary JM. Bruner, in Iowa,

May 26, 1856.

A liberty pole was erected in the park in 1862. It was made
of some boom timbers which came down Rock river to Beloit

with a raft of pine logs. It was a verj^ substantial affair of its

kind, and stood the wear and tear of the storms and wind until

the building of the park stand in 1880, when it was taken down,
as it was considered unsafe to longer remain. The large flag

which was purchased for the libertj^ pole by the people of the

town, is still in existence, but much worn by thirtj^-six 3'ears

of service. It is a cherished old relic of b3^-gone times. It waved
in the breeze when the boys in blue went out to put down the

rebellion, and when the}^ returned it still floated at the mast-

head. When our brave boys returned on a furlough from the

Cuban war, the same old flag was floating over the street to do
them honor.

Isaac D. Fr3^er was elected collector of the township of Rock-
ton in 1862, and served in that capacity one year. He carried

on the harness business while living here. He was a very

large man, \veighing over 300 pounds. He afterwards moved
to Rockford, where he kept a boarding stable in connection

with his harness business. He died in Rockford a few 3'ear

ago, being quite an old man.
Charles C Coons was born in Rockford, June 9, 1843. He

came to Rockton in the fifties, and when nineteen years of age
enlisted in the war of the rebellion, as one of Rockton's

first soldiers, in company' Cr, fort^'-fourth Illinois infantr3^. He
participated in several battles, but was taken prisoner at Mur-
freesboro', Tenn., and confined in Libb3" prison for three

months. He was exchanged in time to engage in the battle

of Chickamauga, where he was sever(?l3'^ wounded. He w^as
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discharged from service in September, 18()0. Since that time
he has resided in Rockton with the exception of two years on a

farm in Minnesota. He married Miss Rebecca Hunt, June 13,

1867. He has served as a member of the \;illage board several

terms, and is now a member of the school board. Mr. and Mrs.
Coons are both members of the Methodist church. Thej' have
had four children, three of whom are living.

Civic Societies.

FKEE MASOXS.

Rockton lodge, No. 74, A. F. and A. M., was organized Jan.
5th, 1849, under a dispensation from the Grand Lodge of the
state of Illinois. The charter members w^ere:

Rumsej^ Hatch, Alfred I. Ames, Alpha Bligh,

Jesse Blinn, George A. Young, P. D. Van Buren,
Joseph G. Prentis, Alex. H. Merrill, \Vm. Leffinwell,

N. Howland, John Holland, L. \V. Osgood.

Quite a mumber w^ere admitted who went to California the
same year. This is the oldest lodge in this part of the state,

except Belvidere lodge. All of its original members have now
paid the debt of nature. The lodge is in a prosperous condi-

tion, both socially and financiallj^ and embraces man3' of the
most influential men of the town. Rumse}' Hatch was chosen
the first worshipful master of the lodge, and held the office

until Jan. 21, 1853. The subsequent worshipful masters have
been:

W. R. Weld, Jan. 21, 1853, to June 9, 1854.

M. R. Patten, June 9, 1854, tc) May 25, 1855.

W. R. Weld, May 25, 1855, to July 2. 1857

James Wight, July 2, 1857, to June 21, 1858.

W. R. Weld, June 24, 1858 to June 17, 1863.

S. Widdowson, June 17, 1863, to Dec. 21, 1866.

1). L. Whitney, Dec. 21, 1866, to Dec. 20, 1867.

W. R.Weld, Dec.20, 1867, to Jan. 1, 1869.

S. Widdowson, Jan. 1, 1869 to Jan. 7, 1876.

Henry E. Bater, Jan. 7, 1876, to Dec. 22, 1876.

J. B.Rockvvood, Dec. 22, 1876, to Jan. 9, 1880.

A. A. Snyder, Jan. 9, 1880, to Dec. 30, 1881.

S. L. Jenkins, Dec. 30, 1881, to Dec. 29, 1882.
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D. L. \Vhitne3;, Dec. 29, 1882, to Jan. 11, 1884.

S. Widdowson, Jan. 31, 1884, to Jan. 2, 1885.

A. A. Snyder, Jan. 2, 1885, to Dec. 21, 1885.

J. \V. Winsor, Pec. 21, 1885, to Dec. 30, 1886.

A. A. Snyder. Dec. 30, 1886, to Jan. 4, 1889.

S. Iv. Jenkins, Jan. 4, 1889, to Jan. 10, 1895.

John Watts, Jan. 10, 1895, to Dec. 26, 1897.

James A. Darcus, Dec. 26, 1897, in office.

The membership of the lodge is forty-nine. They hold their

regular meetings on the second and fourth Thursday evenings
of each month, in their hall on the third floor of the east end
of the stone block.

OFFICERS FOR 1898.

J. A. Darcus, W. M.; J. W. Armstrong, S. W.; E. S. Waite,

J. W.; Wm. Thompson, treasurer; S. P. Jenison, secretary';

Wm. Thompson, chaplain; W. C. Lo<)mer, S. D.; George Ellis,

J,D.; M. F. Johnson and E. S. Kizer, stewards; H. J. Webber,
tyler.

In connection with the masonic lodge is an auxiliary society

of ladies, known as the Eastern Star, who hold their meetings
in the inasonic hall on the first and third Monday evenings of

each month.

RocKTON Chapter.

Rockton Chapter, No. 190, R. A. M., was organized Oct. 25,

1883. Its charter members were:

Edward Kinsley, R. de la Mantanye, W. J. Packard,

Wm. Shibley A. A. Sn3^der, Wm. Tompson,

J. W. Winsor, John Watts, H. J. Webber,
Thomas Glover.

The meinbership is now forty-six. The present officers are:

Wm. Thompson, M. E. H. P.; vacant, E. K.; E. O. Gridley,

E. S.; S. P. Jenison, E. Sect.; B. B. Gates, E. Treas.; S. P. Jen-
ison, E. Chap.; J. W. Armstrong, Cpt. of H.; S. L. Jenkins, P. S.;

J. A. Darcus, R. A. C; B. B. Gates, G. M. 3d V.; J. A. Johnson,
G. M. 2d v.; E. S. Gleasman, G. M. 1st V.; H. J. Webber, Sent.

They meet once a month in the masonic hall.

Modern Woodmen.

Rockton Camp, No. 77, M. W. A., wasorgnized Jan. 28, 1885,

with the followino- charter members:
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Frank Alton, E. I. Carr, J. J. Clover,

C. M. Crawford, James A. Darcus, K. A. Damon. •

C. E. Purely, Frank Kathburn, C. M. Kuland,
H. A. Webber, C. D. Benfield.

The camp meets the first and third Frida}' evenings of each
month, in their hall over the public library. The present mem-
bership is eight3^-t\vo. The order is in a prosperous condition.

Not a death has occurred in the camp since its organization,

thirteen years ago.

OFFICERS OF 1898.

S. L. Jenkins. V. C; N. S. Kocker. W. A.; B. B. Hill, clerk;

E. I. Carr, banker; Patrick Wall, escort; Jason Newell, \vatch-

man; and Bruce Liddle, sentry.

Knights of the Globe.

The order of the Knights of the Globe, was organized March
8, 1893, and known as the Gen. E. J. Farnsworth Garrison, No.
50, The original members were:

J. A. Darcus, Wm. V. Graves, G. M. Plopkins,

L. B. Plopkins, T. R, Harper, W. C. Loomer,
C. H. Osgood, C. E. Phelps. Nathan Sarver,

C. J. Smit'n, A. A. Sn^^der, C. L. Sutherland,
Charles Taylor, E. S. Waite, Jr., H. A. Webber.

The societ3^ meets on the second and fourth Monday eve-

nings of each month. Their membership is forty-six. Their
present officers are:

Dr. C. L. Sutherland, chief justice: O. B. Houston, supreme
judge; C. C. Coons, judge; W. H. Merrill, president; W. C.

Loomer, vice j^resident; Dr. C. L. Sutherland, commander;
R. L. Forward, lieu, commander; John Shurtliff, ensign; W. V.
Graves, provost marshal; Arthur Liddle, guard; Fred. Math-
ewson, sentinal; C. E. Phelps, adjutant; G. M. Hopkins, (juar-

term aster.

An auxiliary of the Globe, known as the Eminent Ladies,

meets in.the same hall.

Court of Hoxor.

Rockton District Court, No. 286, was organized March 5. 1897.

The charter mem1)ers were:

J. A. Darcus, W. \V. Alden. S. S. Allen,

D. T. Cotiklin, Satnuel Kellev, R.C.Jenkins.
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Obed Larabee, G. W. Martin, Mrs. Lizzie Martin,

•Mrs. J. C. Darcus, Mrs. Mamie Alden, Mrs. Cora Allen.

This society meets the first Tuesday evenings in each month.
Their membership is fifteen. Their present officers are:

Mrs. Nancy Conklin, W. C; Mrs. Cora Allen, W. V. C; J- A.

Darcus, recorder; Samuel Kelley, treasurer; R. C. Jenkins,'

conductor; Mrs. C J. Darcus, guard; D. T. Conklin, sentinel.

The Odd Fellows.

Rock River lodge, No. 59, I. O. of O. F., was started here

July 25, 1850,with the following charter meinbers: John Clague
Isaac F. French, N. F. Prentice, W. T. Getts a?id W. R. Weld!
The lodge was very prosperous for a number of 3'ears, but af-

ter an existence of some thirt3^-five years, it surrendered its

charter to the grand lodge and ceased to exist.

Good Templars.

Sunbeam lodge No. 78, 1. O. of G. T., was organized March 31,

1865, with forty-six charter members, among whom we note

the following well-known citizens: B. F. Fletcher, J. G. Veness,

J. W. Dean, E. L. Stiles, Aaron Shores, \Y. \V. Comstock, Eben
Pollard, David Carpenter, G. W. Springer, J. W. Veness, M. D.

Keeney, C. L. R. Manning, J. W. Cowles, B. B. Gates, C. B.

Comstock, Mrs. Nellie Gates, Mrs. Ruth Ellis, Mrs. Jane Man-
ning, Mrs. Esther Keeney and Miss Nettie Cowles, with a large

number of others. This society existed about twenty years,

when it suspended its organization.

Temple of Honor.

Western Star Temple of Honor and Temperance, No. 10, was
organized March 14, 1879, with twenty charter members as fol-

lows: J. C. Crimins, E. L. Stiles, J. B. Rockwood, E. I. Carr,

W. W. Comstock, C. C. Clarke, J. A. Darcus, Alfred Maxon,
George L. Frisbee, M. S. Sheldon, S. P. Jenison, A. A. Snyder,

H. W. Harve}", John Lighthart, E. A. Bliss, H. E. Veness, Eben
Pollard, D. H. Stiles, H. B. Robinson and C. L. R. Manning.
This society had a rapid growth, and enrolled about one

hundred and thirty members. Death of members, removals,

and various other causes served to weaken the societj^ until

the inembership got so small that they gave up the organiza-

tion about a year ago.
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RocKToN Library Association.

This societ}^ was organized Jul^^ 17, 1875, and continued to ex-

ist until the town library w^as started, when it turned over its

accumulation of books to that institution and disorganized.

Grand Army Post.

A Post of the Grand Army of the Republic was organized
in Rockton, AugustlS, 1867, under the supervision of Col. J. J.

Palmer, with eleven charter meinbers. C. G. Morgan was
chosen first post commander. This organization only lasted

a fcAV years.

There was also an organizaton of the Rockton Union Guards
of state militia in 1868, and James S. Cowen was chosen cap-

tain and Adam R. Hart, first lieutenant. This companj^ soon
disbanded and ceased to exist.

Joseph B. Merritt was born in Oneida count3', N. Y., Dec. 27,

1830. He came to Rockton iu 1857 to take charge of Bradner,
Smith & Go's paper mill, and has been superintendent of the

mills for over forty years. He married Miss Frances B. Mel-
len, Dec. 1,1858. She was born April 11, 1839. He has been
supervisor of the town for four years, 1875 to 1879, and during
the building of the court house in Rockford he was one of the

building committee. He has served as village trustee and
been a member of the school board. Several 3'ears ago he inov-

ed to Beloitand built a fine residence there where he no\v re-

sides. He still has charge of the paper mill industr}- in Rock-
ton.

Garrett Clute was born July 19, 1816, married Minerva Dicks
in 1839. He came to Rockton in 1858 to take charge of Brad-
ner, Smith & Go's paper mill, and w^as foreman for that com-
pan}' in the east and Rockton for nineteen 3'ears. He went to

California in 1874, and returned the next year. He lived the
following three years in Iowa, after which he returned toRock-
ton, where he lived until his death, March 21, 1885. He bought
the place where he lived, in 1866. His wife was born April 6,

1819, and died May 13, 1890.

Jonah Forward was born June 10, 1819, married Jane K. Stan-

tial, Jan. 6, 1848. She was born Dec. 9, 1825. They came to

Rockton township in 1866, and for ten 3'ears he carried on the

Goodwin farm. Since that time the3Miave resided in the vil-

lage. For a few years Mr. Forward w^as engaged in the meat
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market business in connection with Mr. Gammon. Mr. and
Mrs. Forward have been remarkably blessed in their family.

They have eight children, all grown to man's estate. They are

both members of the Baptist church. They celebrated their

golden wedding, Jan. 6, 1898.

Charles M. Crawford w^as born April 18, 1846. He served as

a soldier in the war of the rebellion, in a Pennsylvania regi-

ment. He came to Rockton in 1866, and concluded to locate

here. He married Miss Matilda J. Holdeman, Nov. 20, 1867.

He commenced the blacksmithing business in 1873, and has
continuously carried it on since that time. He has served the

public on the village board as one of the trustees, and also has
been a member of the school board for several 3^ears. He has

been an efficient officer in the Methodist church, of which he
and his wife are both members.
H. S. Northrop was born in Oswego count}", N. Y.. Dec. 23,

1830. He married Mrs. Altha S. Freed, Nov. 2. 1851. They
came v^est from St. Lawrence, N. Y., in 1866, and settled in

Rockton which has since been their home. For several 3'ears

he carried on the meat market business in connection with

G. D. Peck. He owns a house and lot in town. He is a mem-
ber of the Methodist church, and his wife is connected with
the Baptist church.

James Wall was born in Ireland, June 20, 1833. He came to

this country and married Ann Quinn, in Williamstown, Mass.,

Nov. 26, 1852. She was born in 1835. While in the east he
labored on the celebrated Hoosic tunnel and other railroad

works. They came to Rockton, July 5, 1864. Since coming
here he has been engaged in farming and doing team work.

He served the village one term as street commissioner. Mr.

and Mrs. Wall are both members of the Catholic church of Be-
loit, and are very devoted members of that faith.

Barton B. Gates was born Nov. 7, 1832, and married Miss
Nellie Bingham, Jan. 9, 1855. They settled in Rockton town-
ship in 1856, and for about ten years he devoted his time to

farming. In 1866 he started a grocery st<ire in the building
now owned by Mr. Royden, wdiich he conducted for about one
year, w^hen he bought an interest in the stone rye mill, then
run by Kiddle & Cowles. In 1868 the firm became Cowles &
Gates, which lasted until the mill was destoyed by fire, April

25, 1879. In 1869 Cowles & Gates bought one-third interest in
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the lime kiln company, which continued ten years until the
rye mill was burned, when Mr. Gates bought Mr. Cowles share
in the lime kiln, and Mr. Cowles retired. Mr, Gates subse-
quently bought out his partners in the lime business, and for

several years has been the sole proprietor. Quite recently he
has engaged with H. A. Webber in the manufacture of fan-

ning mills. Mr. Gates has been commissioner of highwaj^s
for thirty-two 3'ears.

Dav^id Carpeter moved from his farm west of the river into

the village in 1865. He bought the place which was his res-

idence as long as he lived. He was supervisor of the town
for five years, three ^^ears from 1867 to 1870, and two years from
1873 to 1875. He was elected one of the village trustees in 1873.

He was a deacon in the Cong'l church for many years, and
served several terms as trustee, as well as superintendent of

Sunday school. He and his wife spent the winter of 1887 and
'88, in California. They celebrated their golded wedding,
March 7, 1886. He died March 5, 1897.

Kev. Charles T. Roe was born in England, May 1, 1835, and
came to Rockton in 1859. He was pastor of the Baptist church
for seven 3'ears, and then was postmaster for five years. He
married Miss Clara E. Manard, July 21, 1864,. She was born
in Canada, March 8, 1846. The3^ moved from Rockton several
3'ears ago. He is now engaged in the Baptist publication
house, in Chicago.

George D. Peck was born in the state of New York, Feb. 5,

1841. He xnarried Miss Anna White, in Rochester count3^
N. Y., Oct. 22, 1834. They came to Rockton iu 1868. He devot-
ed most of his time to farming on a place west of the river,

but he had a meat market in town for some time, and bought
and shipped live stock to Chicago. The3'^ had ^ family of five

children. The3' moved to South lOakota a few 3'ears ago, where
the3^ now reside.

Rufus Baker, an earl3^ settler of Rockton, came here from
Canada. He was born March 28, 1784, and died in Rockton,
May 24, 1870. His wife Cynthia, was born July 17, 1790, and
<lied Jan. 17, 1871. He was a dealer in real estate and loaned
mone3^ He built the lirick house now owned b3' the Metho-
dist church as a parsonage. K'ufus Baker, a grandson of his,

lived in Rockton for a long time. He was village clerk one
term. Me married Miss Serville V. Bartholomew, June 29,
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1865. They moved to Spring Cit}". Tenii., a number of years

ago, and now lives there. Like his grandfather, he had money
to loan, which has been his principal business.

E. Powell was born in Stark count}^ Ohio, Feb. 15, 1839, and

came to Rockton in 1865. He is a farmer and lives near the

west line of the township, where he owns a good farm. He
was a soldier in the war of the rebellion, in company I, 115th

Ohio volunteer infantry. He was engaged in the battle of

Murfreesboro. He also served on detached dutj- part of the

time. He was honorably discharged July 6, 1865. He married

Miss Nancy Gary, Aug. 5, 1862. She was born in Ohio, April

24,1813. They are both members of the Methodist church in

ShirJand. He has been an active member in church work for

a good man}' years.

James A. Merrill was born in Rockton, Nov. 6, 1857. He learn-

ed the telegraphing business when quite young and soon se-

cured the position of operator at Rockton railroad station,

which place he held for over twenty j^ears. Since 1896, has

been station agent. He married Miss Minnie Comstock, Ma}'

29, 1883. Aside from his duties as a railroad employe, he has

found time to discharge other duties. He has been clerk of the

village two or three terms, a member of the school board, and

a deacon in the Cong'l church, of which both he and his wife

are members.
Simon P. Jenison settled in Rockton quite a number of 3"ears

ago. He was born in Wyoming county, N. Y., March 2, 1835.

He enlisted in the 6th N. Y. cavalry, Oct. 16, 1861, and was pro-

moted corporal. He was in the battles of Chancellorville,

Gettysburg, South Mountain, Smithfield, and other places. He
was wounded in a skirmish at Deep Bottoms, on the James
river. He married Miss Arvilla F. Davison, March 6, 1856. She
was born Jan. 28, 1836, and died Sept. 13, 1897. Since living in

Rockton, Mr. Jenison has been notar}' public for several years,

and held the oftice of police magistrate two or three terms.

Both he and his wife were members of the Methodist church,

George Feakins was born in England, May 16, 1813, came to

this country with his parents, and settled in Cherr}' Valley,

N. Y., where he married Miss Mary Stockley, Sept. 10, 1839.

She was born in iMigland, June 17, 1814. He Cfinie to Rockton
in 1870, and was eniplo3'ed in the flouring mills. He s]ient

tifty 3'ears of his life as a miller. To this couple were born
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six children, four of whom are still living. He died in Rock-
ton, Oct. 9, 1883. His widow is living with a son and daughter
in Wisconsin.

Simeon K. Gridle3"^vas born in Iowa, May 6, 1850. His pa-

rents soon moved back to Rockton, which has since been his

permanent home. He married Miss Nettie Briggs, Nov. 24.

1875. She was born March 10, 1848. He has w-orked in Brad-

ner. Smith & Go's paper mill since 1871, and since 1891, has

been foreman of the mill. He served one or two terms on the

village board. Both he and his wnfe are members of the Meth-
odist church.

Norte B. Comstock w^as born in Rockton township, Jan. 8,

1854. He married Miss Maggie Hicke}', Sept. 1, 1880. She was
born Nov. 8, 1859. He has carried on the barber business since

187-*. He owns a house and lot in town and has a nice place of

business on Main street.

Niron B. Kincaid was born in the state of Maine, Oct. 18,

1836. He came to Rockton with his father in 1849. He married
Mrs. Rutli Curtess in Jul3', 1868. He married his second wife,

Miss Flora Parker, Feb. 24, 1883. In 1864 he started a tobacco

store in the Webb building, and after about a \'ear, he moved
to the stone block in the part now occupied 133' the meat mar-
ket. In 1868 he built the store now used b3^ the Houston Bros.,

and kept a store there till 1882. Since that time he has labored

at mason work, which was his father's trade,

Lorenzo D. Kincaid was born in Rockton, Nov. 12, 1848. He
married Miss Elizabeth Ta3'lor, in,Ft. Atkinson, Wis., March
12, 1869. She was born June 2, 1850. He has been engaged in

doing team work and farming most of the time he has lived in

Rockton.
George S.Ellis was born in Canada, Sept. 20, 1840. Came

west with his father's famil3' in 1845, and settled in the town-
ship of Owen, near the Canada school house. He married
Miss Ruth Knapp, July 4, 1861. She was born in Vermont,
Feb. 6, 1839. Tlie3' lot'atcd in Rockton, in 18(54, where he en-

gaged in blacksmithing, and has continued in that business

until the present time. A numlier of 3'e^irs of ago he conduct-

ed the New I*}iigland hotel for about four 3'ears, when he
bought his present residence of the Adams estate. He
served t^vo terms as village trustee, and has been a member of

the school board for several 3ears. He has a passion for a
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fast horse, and generally keeps a good one. They have four

children, all of whom are married. Mrs. Ellis is a member of

the Methodist church.

Oscar Favor was born in Rockton tow^nship, Oct. 18, 1844.

He married Miss Mary Bligh, March 8, 1869. He has held the

office of town assessor for ten years, and been township trustee

of schools for several years. For a few 3^ears he was engaged
in bu3dng and shipping grain and live stock. He has lived in

the village corporation for nearly thirty 3'ears, and been a

member of the village board two or three terms.

William R. Axe was born in England, Jul}^ 22, 1821, caine to

this countr}' in 1842, and to Rockton in 1866. He carried on

business here with Mr. Widdowson for several years, conduct-

ing a foundry and machine shop on the water power. He
married Miss Olive P. Marshall, in New York, in 1848. She
was born in Maine, Nov. 15, 1822, and died in Rockton, April 7,

1891. Mr. Axe has been retired from business for several

years past. He owns considerable property in Rockton and

Beloit.

Andrew Bingham was born in Ontario count}^ N. Y., June
10, 1837, went to Michigan with his father's family in 1850,

w^here he learned the printer's trade, and worked at that busi-

ness for fourteen years. He enlisted in the war of the rebell-

ion, in company K, in the 9th Michigan infantr3\ He married

Miss Emma R. Collins, Feb. 7, 1863. She was born in Chau-
tauqua county, N. Y., July 1 1839. He has been engaged at

mason w^ork for the past twent}^ years. He caine to Rockton
in 1858, and has been a resident of the village for the past ten

years. He has been village clerk tw^o terms, and is now pres-

ident of the village board. The3^ have four living children.

John J. Clover war born in England, Jan. 21 1839, canae to

Rockton with his father's family in 1844. He married Miss

Emily Shores, in Beloit, Wis., Oct. 2, 1862. She was born April

5, 1840. He has been variousl}'^ engaged in farming, ineat mar-

ket business, fireman and stationary engineer. He owns a

house and lot in town. They have had three children, all of

whom are now^ married.

George Wilford was born in Lincolnshire, England, June 2,

1845. He married Miss Sophia Shotliff. Nov. 28, 1865. They
with their oldest child, came to this countr}^, Oct. 1, 1867, and

to Rockton, Nov. 1, 1878. To them were born seven children,
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all of whom are living. Mrs. Wilford was born Nov. 23, 1846,

and died March 21, 1895. She was a member of the Methodist
church. Mr. Wilford married again, Dec. 15, 1897, to Miss Mae
Shufelt, of Kockton. He and his present wife are both mem-
bers of the Methodist church. He has been foreman of the
Phoenix paper mill for the past fifteen years.

John E. Woolery was born in the township of Burritt, March
25, 1854. He has lived in Rockton almost continuous!}^ since

1868. He has been engaged in farming and doing team work.
He married Miss Mariette Stickler, Aug. 9, 1882- They have
two children.

Henry B. Freed was born in Oswego county, N. Y., Sept. 25,

1845. He came to Rockton in 1867. He married Miss Emma
Royden, June 28, 1871. He worked in the paper mill the first

fifteen 3'ears of his residence here. During the last ten or

twelve years, he has been a clerk in Mr. Royden's store. He
and his wife are both members of the Cong'l church.
Ephraim Osee Gridle}' was born in Rockton, Oct. 30, 1858

Pie married Miss Hanora A. Wall, in Kansas, April 22, 1879.

She died May 9, 1881. He married Miss Flora U. Baker, April
10, 1889. He has been one of the workmen in the paper mill

for a number of 3^ears. He owns a house and lot in town.
Thomas Jordan was born in Canada, Oct. 22, 1832. He came

from tliere in 1852, and settled in the township of Burritt. He
married Miss Diana Holmes, April 19, 1853. They came to

Rockton in 1869. He has been engaged in farming and doing
team work since living here. He owns a home in town. They
have had four children who are all married.

William Cowen was born in Canada, Aug. 25, 1833, came
to this county with his parents in 1848. He married Miss
Helen M. Seaver, April 29, 1869. She was born in Ticondero-
ga, N. Y., Oct. 30, 1837. He devoted most of his time to farm-
ing. He owned a house and lot in to\vn, in which he resided
for many Aears. He died in Portland, Maine, Oct. 29, 1890.

His remains were brought l)ack here, and interred in Rockton
cemetery.

B3'ron B. Hill was born at Watertown Junction, Wis., Oct.

19, 1846. He learned the trade of a harness maker, in Roscoe,
when twenty 3-ears of age. He married Miss L3'dia M. Kerr,

Aug. 10, 1868. She was born in Roscoe, Feb. 23, 1847. He start-

ed the harness business in Rockton, in 1872, and has followed
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it almost continuously ever since. He has been town consta-

ble eight years, police constable four years, and deputy sheriff

one year. Mrs. Hill is a member of the Methodist church.

William R. Webber was born in Rockton, Nov. 26, 1864. He
married Miss Maggie Westlake, Oct. 4, 1888. She was born

March 30, 1869. He is engaged in farming. He is one of the

commissioners of highways.

William H. Merrill was born in Rockton, Jan. 23, 1851, mar-

ried Miss Sarah E. Cowen, May 9, 1877. She was born Dec. 10,

1850. He is a painter by trade, and has followed that business

most of the time for several years.

Alexander T. Hart was born Feb. 12, 1821. He married Miss

Phebe B. Cole, Jan. 4, 1849. She was born March 7, 1829. He
lived in Janesville a number of years ago, where he owned
considerable property, but financial reverses deprived him of

most of it. He has lived in Rockton a long time. He has held

the office of town collector for nine years.

Fred M. Coons was born in Rockton, April 16, 1855. He mar-

ried Miss M. Etta Bordner, in Freeport, Feb. 16, 1887. For a

number of years he was engaged in bu^ang and baling straw

for the Rockton paper mills. Some three years ago he leased

the Phoenix paper mill and carried it on until Jul^^ 28, 1898,

when he bought the plant, and has since conducted the busi-

ness. He owns a quarter section farm just east of town en

which he now resides.

William Smith was born in Rockton. He was engaged in

the livery business for about eight years, and since then has

devoted his time to farming, and raising blooded stock. He
has persistently refused to hold a town or village office, al-

though frequently requested to do so. He married Mrs. Me-
lissa Rockwell, May 15, 1876.

William H. Baker was born in Jefferson county, N. Y., March
3d, 1842. He married Miss Charlotte M. Shamiour, in Canada,

Jan. 22, 1863, where he worked for a lumber compan3^ She

was born Jan. 13, 1846. He learned the blacksmith trade in

Canada. He came to Rockton, in 1866, and has been engaged

for twenty-one years, as master mechanic in the paper mills.

He has served one term on the village board.

John W. Hudson was born at Mt. Pleastant, Canada. Jan.

21, 1850. He came to Rockton with his parents in 1856. He
married Miss Zelia A. Loonier, May 14, 1870. He has been in
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the blacksmith business most of the time for the past twent}^-

five years. He moved to Kansas for a short time several years

ago, but had to return on account of sickness of his family.

He has served two terms as village clerk. His wife is a mem-
ber of the Baptist church. They have only one son.

John Piper was born in Etigland April 8, 1812. He came to

Rockton in 1869, and bought the Osgood farm west of town,

where he lived until his death, which occurred Sept. 25, 1875.

His wife was born in England, March 4, 1816, and died in

Rockton, Dec 19, 1877. In connection with carrying on his

farm, he had a meat market in town for a short time, and then

he tried milling in the custom department of Cowles & Gates'

rye mill.

Hiram W. Young was born in Canada, Jan. 6, 1845, came to

Rockton in 1868. He married Miss Alta M. Comstock, March
13, 1876. She was born Sept. 8, 1851. He worked at farming

the first few^ years. He was time keeper two years when they

were building the Chicago and Omaha railroad. He has

worked in the paper mill for the past eighteen 3'ears,' thirteen

3; ears of the time as fireman. He has served two or three

terms as village trustee, and been a school director on the

south side of the river. He and his wife are both members of

the Methodist church.

Michael McCue ^vas born in Ireland, July 18, 1833. He mar-

ried Miss Ann Hynes, Aug. 25, 1856. She was born Aug. 15,

1836. He went to California in 1862, and was there four ^^ears.

While he was gone his wife came to Rockton in 1864, and
bought the place where they now reside. He came back from

California in 1866, and has since lived in Rockton. For a

number of years he worked in the paper mills. Both he and
his wife are members of the Catholic church of Beloit.

John Watts was born April 16,1840. He married Miss Esther

Riley, April 12, 1867. He served in the war of the rebellion in

a Wisconsin regiment. His first work in Rockton was tending

the linae kiln, which he followed for several years. He subse-

quently bought the place where he now resides, and a farm on

the Beloit road. He is now devoting his time to farming. He
has been a member of the village board. Both he and his wife

are members of the Baptist church.

Prof. William W. Austin was born in Rockton, April 29, 1841.

When a child his parents removed to their farm, three miles
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west of town. Here he grew to manhood, a lover of the study
of plants and animals, and where the foundation for his

late work in the sciences and natural history of animals was
laid. He is an alumnus of Wheaton college, and is held in

high esteem by Beloit college, having a pleasant and intimate

acquaintance with a number of its professors. He has spent
twenty-five years of successful work in the school room, and
for resting spells, between years of teaching, has served as

book-keeper for several important business concerns. He is

the author of a work on the natural history of animals, and a

regular contributor to several popular magazines.
He married Miss Josephine A. Dury, Dec. 24, 1862. She was

born Dec. 24, 1842, and died Feb. 3, 1896. They were both mem-
bers of the Cong'l church. They have had four children, two
sons and two daughters. He served the village one term as

police magistrate. He rendered valuable assistance in suc-

cessfully establishing our public library. He has expended
much time and money in an effort to establish important in-

dustrial enterprises in Rockton, and in doing so will undoubt-
edly^ be successful.

Roscoe Gammon was born in Peru, Maine, March 7, 18^3.

He married Miss Clarinda M. Raynolds, Dec. 18, 1865. She
was born June 2, 1846, and died May 3, 1894. He came west in

1868 and after carrying on a farm for four 3'ears, he engaged
in the meat market business, which he followed for fifteen

years. Since then he has been quite extensively engaged in

bee keeping, market gardening and raising green house plants.

He married his second wife, Mrs. Gertrude Wellington, Oct.

7, 1897. She was born Aug. 14 1862. Mr. Gammon is a mem-
ber of the Methodist church, and has been a leader of the

choir for man}'^ years. He has served as a member of the vil-

lage board one or two terms. He served in a Maine regiment
during the war of the rebellion.

Edwin Kinsley \vas born in New Jersey, May 17, 1838. He
settled in Rockton in 1859, and for twenty-five years, in con-

nection with his brother, William Kinsley, carried on the busi-

ness of blacksmithing and carriage building. He married Miss
Jennie Glover, Oct. 7, 1860. She died Sept. 15, 1892. He moved
to Beloit in 1884, where he now resides. He carries on a large

business in the carriage line. He has three children, one son,

and two married daughters.
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David Harper was born in Canada, Aug. 17, 1821. He came
to Rockton in 1852, in connection with his father's family. He
married Mrs. Rebecca Osgood, Sept. 7, 1869. She was born in

Vermont, Oct. 15, 1830. He has been principally engaged in

farming. For several years past, he has been greatly afflicted

with his e3"es, which has been a serious disadvantage to him
in business.

Arthur G. Stiles was born October 29, 1843. He was a sol-

dier in the war of the rebellion for four 3^ears. He marj-ied

Miss Alice Thayer, July 9, 1870. She was born March 18, 1854.

He has worked at blacksmithing most of the time since he
returned from the war. He receives a pension on account of

injuries received while in the service of the government.
Oscar T. Stiles was born in Rockton, April 8, 1845. He mar-

ried Miss Kmma Hardy, Oct. 29, 1871. She was born June 16,

1850. He has been engaged in the paper mills for a number
of years.

Orson T. Bartholomew was born in Ohio, June 2. 1836. He
came to Rockton with his parents in 1852. He learned the

trade of a tin smith, and has follovc^ed that business ever since.

He carried on a tinshop for eleven 3'ears in the old house of H,
W. Talcott, on Main street, which occupied the site of Com-
stock's barbershop. He occupied the store in the east end of

the stone block, twenty-two 3'ears, as a hardw^are and tinshop,

until he sold out to Philps & Waite in 1894. Since that time

he has had a small store on the north side of Main street. He
married Miss Mary Atwood, Dec. 25, 1866. She was born June
1, 1838. The}^ are both members of the Baptist church.

Henry Lampman was born in Canada, Oct. 10, 1842. He
came to Rockton in 1868. For several 3'ears he was engaged
in harness making. Subsequentl}' he carried on the shoe
business until the last two 3'ears, and since that time has giv-

en his \vhole attention to gardening and bee-keeping. He
married Miss Helen M. Lundy, Oct. 10, 1864. She died in 1869.

He married his second wife, Miss Celora May Davis, in 1870.

She was born Sept. 9, 1853. and died June 19, 1893. He married
his third wife, Mrs. Ida I'arkins, April 15, 1894. She was born
in Roscoe. Dec. 4, 1856.

Jacob J. Crawford was born in Penns3-lvania. Jan. 30, 1841.

He came to Rockton in 18()8. He married Miss Minnie S.

Young, Oct. 21, 1869. He has been engaged a good deal in farm
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work, but for several ^^ears past, has carried on the meat mar-
ket business. He was a soldier in the war of the rebellion, in

a Pennsylvania regiment. He has held the office of town col-

lector two 3vears, one year as town clerk, one term on the vil-

lage board, and is now posttnaster.

John W. Winsor was born in Homer, N. Y., June 6, 1819. By
his first marriage he had two children, John J. Winsor, of To-

ledo, Ohio, and Mrs. Carrie Hall, of Mitchell, S. D. Two 3'ears

after losing his first wife, he married Miss Chloe Bartlett Har-

rison, of Albion, N. Y., who was born in Williamstown, Mass.,

May 3, 1819, and died Nov. 12, 1881. By this marrirge he had
two daughters, Mrs. Sara C. Bedford, of Beloit, Wis., and Mrs.

Lizzie Winsor Martin, of Rockton. hi 1838 he sold iiis lumber
iaterests in Michigan, and came with his farnil}" to Rockton,

having purchased the K. H. Stanton farm, one mile south of

town, where the greater part of the remainder of his life was
spent. He held the office of tovw^n clerk one 3^ear. He died

Oct. 20, 1892.

Willis G. Stevens was born in Rockton, Oct. 12, 1865. He
married Miss Edith O. Booth, June 15, 1893. She was l^orn

June 15, 1870. He was engaged in bridge building and other

railroad work for a number of 3"ears. For the past eight (r

nine 3^ears he has been at work in one of the paper mills.

Calender Jessup was born May 25, 1850, married Miss Caro-

line Packard, Oct. 12, 1881. She was born April 24, 1854. He
carried on a farm west of the river for a few ^^ears and then
moved into town where he w^as engaged at team work. He
"was superintendent of the Cong'l Sunda^^ school for several

years. He died March 11, 1894. Both he and his wife were
members of the Cong'l church.

C. B. Spurling was born Dec. 2, 1837, came to Rockton with

his parents in 1847. He was in the war of the rebellion, in Co.

C, 44th Ills, regiment, dviring the first 3vear of the war. He
married Mary K. Kelle3", JUI3V 8, 1862. He went to Iowa in 1863,

and worked in a paper mill" in that state for twent3' 3'ears. He
returned to Rockton in 1883. He married his second wife,

Philena Marlette, Dec. 2, 1886. He now holds the office of vil-

large marshal.

Richard B. Meech was born in Canada, Jan. 2, 1840. He was
a resident of this count3' as earl3^ as 18o7. He married Miss
Alice H. Beutley, Jan. 20, 1869. She was born Jan. 26, 1819. He
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owns a large farm west of the river, and is engaged in farming

and stock raising. They have two children.

William H. Farmer was born in the township of Rockton,

July 14, 1812. He married Miss Alma Martin, Oct. 15, 1868. She
was born in Vermont. vSeveral years ago he was engaged in

trade in town for a short time. They now live in the north-

west part of the township, where he is engaged in farming.

They are both membei-s of the Cong'l church. He has held

the office of church trustee for two terms.

William W. Comstock was born in Kockton, in 1849. He mar-

ried Miss Sarah Winsor, Feb. 15, 1877. She was born Jul}" 8,

1850. He was a book-keeper for the Northwest paper mill for

several years. He was drowned during the great freshet at

Beloit, April 20, 1881. His remains were found a month later,

buried in the sand on Green's island, and w^ere given a burial

in Rockton cemeter3^

William C. Royden was born in 1848. He carried on a drug
store in Rockton for aliout ten 3'^ears. He died of consumption
Feb. 8, 1885. He was a meinber of the school board when the^^

enlarged the school l)uilding. His wife died a fev^ A^ears after-

wards. Tiiey had no children.

William C. Loonier has lived a number of 3'ears in Rockton,

and most of tlie time has been engaged in farming. He mar-

ried Miss Adeline L. Hart, April 15, 1879. They now reside on
the old Mack farm.

Kdgar J. Forrester was born in the state of New York, June
18, 1834. He came to Rockton in 1852. He married Miss Sali-

na R. Ranney, July (5, 1868. She was born May 4, 1840. He has

been engaged in farming and attending to all calls as a veter-

inary surgeon. He now holds the office of street commisison-

er of the village.

Edwin W. Martin was born Dec. 1, 1850. He \vas a commer-
cial traveler for several years. He was postmaster of Rockton
under Cleveland's first administration. He has at odd times

gathered a valuable collection of Indian relics, which embraces
many thousand arrow heads, stone axes, morters, &c. He has

l)een twice married. He is now a clerk in the Rockford post-

office.

(xeorge W. Martin was born in Rockton, June 29, 1854. For
several 3'ears he was a clerk in X'eness & W'aite's store. After

that he was in partnership with Mr. Veness in the store ft)r
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a few years. He married Miss Lizzie Winsor, Oct. 13, 1SS6.

He spent several years in the south, but since returning io

Rockton has lived on the Winsor farm south of town.

Frederick J. Bentley is an old resident of Rockton township.

He married Miss Clara Hunt, March 7, 1882. He is quite an
extensive farmer, and carries on the same farm which was lo-

cated by his father in the early settlement of the countr3^

Judson R. Jones w^as born at Allen's Grove, Wis., Dec. 1, 1857,

He came to Rockton with his parents when a boj". He mar-
ried Miss Emma Stevens, Dec. 29, 1880. She was born March
12, 1857. For ^-ears he was a traveling agent selling agricult-

ural implements, and for the past ten 3^ears he has been trav-

eling for John Thompson «& Sons, of Beloit. Mrs. Jones is a

member of the Methodist church.

William W. McKay was born March 17, 1835. He married

Miss Amanda J. Felt, June 16, 1861. She was born Oct. 12, 1842.

He was a painter by trade and follow^ed that business in con-

nection with team work for a number of years. He also was
engaged iu selling paper. He died March 15, 1894. Mrs. McKaj"
is a member of the Cong'l church.

James Ward was born in Ireland in 1826. He came to this

country in 1849, and to Rockton in the early sixties. He mar-

ried Mary Ryan. She died in California in 1864. He went to

California with his family in 1863, and returned from there

soon after the death of his wife. He married Mrs. Marj^ Jfine

Curry, Oct. 26, 1865. She was born in Ireland, Nov. 24, 1830.

Mr. Ward has worked in the paper mill for a number of j^ears.

Both he and his wife are members of the Catholic church.

John B. Taylor was born July 24, 1830. He came to Rockton
in 1857. Before coming here he w^orked in Sharp's rifle facto-

ry, in Hartford, Ct. Since living in Rockton he has worked at

paper making most of the time, and for several 3"ears was fore-

man in Keene3''s paper mill. His wife died Juh' 22, 1882. He
has retired from active business and now resides with his son

Charles Taylor.

James Aspland was born in England, March 8, 1808, He mar-

ried Ann Westmoreland in 1832. She was born Ma3' 12, 1814.

He came to Rockton in 1868, locating on a farm north of the

village oa the Baloit road. From there he moved to the village

and was engaged in the meat market business for a number
of years. He died Sept. 5, 18S1. His wife died July 6. 1891. He
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and his wife were both members of the Methodist church.

Thej" had nine children, eight of whom are still living.

RocKTON Lime Kilx.

The Rockton lime kiln was started in 1868 by J. W. Hinkle

and D. Lovell. Cowles & Gates bought a third interest in the

property in 1869, and D. T. Weed bought Mr. Lovell's share.

Mr. Gates bought Mr. Cowles' interest in 1879, and subsequent-

ly acquired the whole property. The two kilns have a capac-

ity of 500 bushels a da3^ and have turned out as high as 50,000

bushels a year.

Town Officers Since 1850.

On page 102 we gave the names of the supervisors of the

town since it was organized in 1850. We now give the names
of the other town officers:

TOWN CLERKS.

1850—William Hallej^ served for three years.

1853—William R. Weld, served for five years.

1858—Erastus L. Stiles, served for eleven years.

1869—Edward S. Waite, served for five 3'ears.

1874—John W. Winsor, served one j'ear.

1875—John Gibson, served two 3'ears.

1877—William Shible^^ served one year.

1878—George W. Martin, served one 3'ear.

1879—James S. Cowen, served nine years.

1888—Seth L. Jenkins, served two 3'ears.

1890—J. J. Crawford, served two 3'ears.

1892—Fred W. Rockwell, served one 3^ear.

1893—E. S. Waite, Jr., served one 3'ear.

1894—E. I. Carr, served one 3^ear.

1895—Charles E. Shufelt, served one 3'ear.

1896—Fred W. Rockwell, served to date.

ASSESSORS.

1850—John M. Hulett, one 3'ear.

1851—Dr. Coe Van Brunt, one year.

1852—Rowland C. Smith, three 3'ears.

1855—Charles C. Wright, two years.

1857—Rufus M. Bullock, one 3'ear.

1858—F. W. Merrill, two years.

1860—Thomas B. Talcott, five years.
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1865—George W. Springer, one year.

1866—Joseph Cald\vell, one 3^ear.

1867—Joseph C. Truman, eleven ^^ears.

1878—E. I. Carr, five j^ears.

1883—Oscar Favor, seven j^ears.

1890—Edward S. Waite, five 3'ears.

1895—Oscar Favor, in office to date.

Collectors.

1850—Ira Cutnniings, two 3^ears.

1852—Benjamin Phillips, seven j^ears.

1859—Ansel Comstock, two years.

1861—Francis Christian, one year.

1862—Isaac D. Fr3"er, one year.

1863—John Henry, one year.

1864—Sylvester Bartholomew, one 3^ear.

1865—C. B. Martin, fourteen years.

1879—A. A. Snyder, seven years.

1886—A. T. Hart, nine 3"ears.

1895—J. J. Crawford, one year.

1898—J. W. Veness, one 3^ear.

1897—H. J. Webber, in office to date.

JUSTICES OF THE PEACE.

1850—Jesse Blinn, one 3"ear, resigned.

1850—John B. Peterson, four 3"ears.

1851—Rufus R; Hoadley, three 3^ears, to fill vacanc3^.

1854—William Halle3^, eight 3"ears.

1854—William R. Weld, four 3^ears.

1858—Caleb Benle3', twelve years.

1862—Joseph G. Veness, four 3^ears.

1866—Henry B. Jones, seven 3"ears.

1870—Warren Ra3"mond, seven 3'ears.

1873—E. Smith Waite, four 3''ears.

1877—Charles L. R. Manning, fourteen 3"ears.

1877—James W. Veness, nineteen 3^ears.

E. Smith Waite and William Thompson are the present jus-

tices of the peaces.

COMMISSIONERS OF HIGHWAYS.

1850—Philander Bird, A. S. Newton and Win. Lef¥ingwell.
1851—Rumse3' Hatch, Wm. Eeffingwell and Aaron Shores.
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1852—F. W. Merrill, David Carpenter and T. M. Coons.
1853—F. W. Merrill, T. M. Coons and Samuel Adams.
1854—Samuel Gold3% Alpha Bligh and John Bacon.
1855—John Bacon, Alpha Bligh and W. A. Phelps.

1856—W. A. Phelps, Alpha Bligh and John Bacon.
1857—T. M. Coons, James L. Gray and Melvin Stevens.

1S58—T. M. Coons, James L. Gray and John Clover.

1859—John Benton, \Vm. M. Thomas and Ira Knowles.
1860—Alonzo F. Chase, J. P. Farnsworth and R. H. Comstock,
1861—James Kline, R. H. Comstock and A. W. Gilmore.
1862—B. B. Gates, elected for three years.

1863—J. G. Venes,

1864—J. A. Kline

1865—R. Bowker,
1866—C. W. Robertson
1867—W. A. Phelps „

1868—A. C. Joslyn
1S61)—B. B. Gates
1870—C. B. Richardson

1871—Joseph B. Merritt,

1872—B. B. Gates
1872—A. D. Bliss

1873—C. B. Richardson
1874—A. D. Bliss

1875—B. B. Gates
1876—Henry W. Conklin
1877—A. 1). Bliss

1878—B. B. Gates
1879—Henry W. Conklin

1880—John Morse
1881—B. B. Gates
1882—A. I). Bliss

1883—John Morse
1884—B. B. Gates
1885—A. D. Bliss

1886—C.B. Wilmot „

1887—B. B. Gates
1888—A. D. Bliss

1889—C. B. Wilmot „

1890—B. B. Gates
1891— l^'red Gleasman
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1892—C. B. Wilmot „ „ „
*

1893—B. B. Gates

1894— Fred Gleasman ,, ,.

1895—W. K. Graves „ „

1896—B. B. Gates
1897—Fred Gleasman ,, ,,

1898—W. R. Webber „

CONSTABLES.

Among the first constables we find the names of Simon
Young, Ira Cummings, H. A. Davison, Benjamin Phillips,

Alonze Rice, Aaron Shores, Frank Packard, &c.

The Water Power.

The water power has a greater fall than any on the river.

Its reputed flow of water is 12,000 inches, with a fall of nine

feet. The banks of the race and mills are protected from inju-

ry from high water, by a substantial guard lock. The stock of

the water power company is divided into ninety-six shares,

and at the present writing, sixt3^-four shares or two-thirds of

the water power is owned by Bradner, Smith & Co. The oth-

er thirty-two shares are owned by the Phoenix paper mill and
the Webbers. The race was first excavated in 1838, but it has

since been greatly enlarged and extended.

MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES.

The upper mill site on the race, of fourteen shares of water,

designated as water power lot No. 10, was first occupied by a

saw mill in the fall of 1838. David Jewett bviilt the mill, and
after running it about five years, sold out to other parties.

Charles Kane was at one time interested in the mill, and B. F.

Fletcher also had some financial interest in it. After a time
the old mill was destroyed by fire. The site came into the pos-

session of A. H. and F. W. Merrill, who sold it to HoUister &
Co., July 2, 1853, for the considration of $1,500. The compan^^
commened building a paper mill that year, and it was finished

by Jan. 1, 1854, The members of the firm of HoUister & Co.,

were George W. HoUister, C. C. HoUister and Kendall C.

Young. It was intended at first for a small w^rapping paper mill,

but they changed their plans to a four engine print paper mill;

and also increased tlieir stock by taking into the company, A.

W. Case and J. C. Truman. Mr. Young sold half of his interest
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ill tlie mill to A. H. and F. \V. Merrill. The company made print

paper for about two years, and in 1856, sold the plant to Brad-

ner, Warren & Co. Mr. Warren died in 1857, and the company
was changed to Bradner, Smith & Co., which firm still owns
the property. The old paper mill was destroj^ed by fire, Feb.

10, 1876. The mill was rebuilt the same season, greatl}' enlarg-

ed in capacit}^ at an outlay of about $50,000.

The present site of the Keeney paper mill, water power lot

No. 9, of twelve shares of water, w^as variously used in the ear-

ly years of its developement. At one time there was a carding

machine located there, and dignified by the name of a w^ool-

en factory, although no cloth was ever made. This mill was
destro^^ed by fire. The power was also used to run a mill for

sawing stone for building purposes, and for various wood
w^orking machiner3\ Turning out large wooden bow^ls, broom
handles and similar work was once an important industry. The
power was next used by the Fountain Reaper companj^ a-

bout 1858, and for a iew j^ears afterwards, when the plant

\vas purchased by M. D. Keeney and converted into a paper
mill. This mill was burned March 25, 1878, while being run

under a lease by Booth & Hinman, of Beloit. The present

structure was built during the summer of 1880. The machine
room w^as nearly consumed by fire, July 16, 1886. but was soon

rebuilt. The plant was afterward sold to Bradner, Smith & Co.,

and is now kaown as their No. 2 paper mill.

Water power lot No. 8, with its two shares of water, com-
prise the site used by Widdowson & Axe for their foundry and
machine shop. The}' carried on the business for a number of

years. The building was destroyed by fire Sept. 13, 1888. The
water power and land was afterwards sold to Bradner, Smith
&: Co.

Water power lot No. 7, with its ten shares of water, embra-
ces the site of the old Talcott grist mill, built in 1839. It was
the pioneer grist mill of this section of the country, and had an
existance of nineteen 3'ears, w^hen it w^as destroyed by fire in

1858. The site was sold to Stearns & Shaw, who built the white
mill on the same spt)t, in 1859. Mr. Sterns sold his share to

C. W. Robertson in 1864. The mill property successively pass-

ed to M. D. Clarke, Henrj' and Paul Robinson, I. Warnes, and
finally to John Feakins, and while owned b3'him it was burn-

ed August 10, 1888. Feakins sold the site to Bradner Smith
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& Co. The mill has not been rebuilt.

On the same water power lot with the grist mill, was the

Talcott saw mill, built in 1838. It was the first saw mill in

Rockton. It had an existance of about a quarter of a century,

when it was burned. In the spring of 1865, M. D. and C. W.
Keenej^ leased the old saw mill site for a terna of 3^ears, and
commenced in a small waj^ to manufacture heav}^ pasteboard.

Not having the necessary machinery for drj ing purposes, the

primitive process of dr3'ing in the sun had to be resorted to,

and some da3^s the^" would have acres of land covered with pa-

per to dr}'. Several improvements soon followed, and the bu-

siness continued in a prosperous condition until the 15th of De-

cember, 1867, when a devastating fire wiped out all of the accu-

mulation of valuable machinery. Not even the company's
books were saved to tell the state of their business transac-

tions, '^his hard blow was soon overcome by the purchase of

the Fountain reaper works and established their paper mill

on that power.

Just across the race from the old grist mill, and a little be-

low the Keeney paper mill, was another saw mill of an early

date. It was built by Martin P. Ormsby in the fall of 1838 He
subsequently sold the mill to Thomas Stokes, an Englishman,
who came here with some means. His investment did not

prove very remunerating, and after he had exhausted all of his

money, his dead body was found one morning in the river. It

was never known whether it was a case of suicide or an acci-

dent, or the result of some other cause. No investigation was
made. The mill propert}" passed into the hands of David and
Samuel Briggs, and after a few 3'ears was destro3'ed b}" fire.

In 1851 the mill race was extended down to water power lots

Nos. 4 and 5, and the pioiieer paper mill of ihe north-west,

was built that 3"ear b^- Wright & Merrill, of Beloit. The deed

conve^nng the site and one-sixth of the water power from
William Talcott and Doroth}' Talcott his wife, to Wright &
Merrill, bears date the 4th da^^ of Febr^un3^ 1851, for the con-

sideration of vl5l,20(). The first paper mill was devoted alter-

natel3' as occasion required to the manufacture of ^vrapping

and print paper, and was under the management of T. L.

Wright for nearh^ thirty- 3'ears, save the short time in 1857-'58,

it w^as operated 1)3^ Henr3' Shible3'. During Mr. Wright's man-
agement, the water power was ince;ased to twent3'-eight
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shares. In 1880 the plant was sold to the Kock Kiver Paper
Co., of Beloit, under the managenient of J. M. Cobb. Mr. Wright
died Jan. 11, 1881. The mill was partl3" rebuilt soon after, but

suffered destruction b3' fire before it was completed, except

the boiler house which was little enjured, It was soon built

anew, to be again' destroyed by a more disastrous fire than the

first. The mill was rebuilt in it present form by W. T. Randall.

It is now owned b}^ Fred M. Coons, who purchsed it July 28,

1898. The product of the mill is now mostly carpet felt and
straw board.

Water power lot Xo. 4, \vith its twelve shares of water, \vas

developed in 1851 and '52, by Bird &: Peterson, who built a three

story stone mill. The building was first used by Alonzo N.
Mellen for a wheel barrow factory. After conducting the bu-

siness for three or four ^^ears, he sold out to Bird & Peterson.

Following this the building was variously used as an oil mill,

corn planter works, shingle mill and reaper shop, until it was
converted into a rye mill by Hollister & Carlton, in 18(52. From
that firm the property passed to Kiddle *& Cowles, and in 1868,

to Cowles &: Gates, \vho conducted the business until the mill

was destroyed by fire, April 25, 1879. The mill was not rebuilt.

The site is now owned b}^ Bradner, Smith & Co.

The establishment of the Webbers, at the lower end of the

race, on water power lot Xo. 2, with its four shares of water,

was developed in 1859, by William Webber & Sons. Buildings
for reaper works, foundr}^ and saw mill were soon erected, and
tlie business of manufacturing the Webber reaper was carried

oa for some time. In the fall of 1879, the building used for a

reaper shop with a part of the water power, was sold to Will-

i;mi Kelle}', who conveted it into a grist mill; and about the
sime time, H. A. Webber erected a building for a fantiing mill

factory. A disastrous fire on the evening of Sept. 1, 1893, swept
awa\' all of these Iniildings. The same fall H. A. Webber erect-

ed a Iniilding for a grist and feed mill, and during the summer
of 1898, Webber & (rates l)uilt a two stor^' factory for the man-
ufacture of fanning mills, which is an important industry.

The water power grounds have all been once entirely burned
over, all of the original buildings having been destroyed by
fire; and in several cases a second fire has destoyed valuable
buiUlings, as it has li;ii)[KMied to Bradner, Smite cV: Co's mill,
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the Keeney mill, the Talcott grist mill, and the Northwest pa-
per mill.

UNDEVELOPED WATER POWER.

Besides the now already developed water power, which is

one of the best on Rock river, Rockton still possesses two oth-

er water powers, which are 3"et unimproved. The first is

known as the Goodwin water power, which has already been
spoken of. The other is the power afforded b^^ the Pecatonica
river. At present its waters are allowed to sweep bj^ uncheck-
ed by dam or wheel. By taking the waters of that river at its

mouth, w^ith the overflow of Rockton dam, and conducting them
down the south bank of Rock river b}^ a well constructed race

for a mile or so, another water power could be developed of

much importance. With all of these water powers in active

operation, Rockton would stand at the head of the list of west-

ern towns for manufacturing facilities. There is a bright fu-

ture in store for Rockton, but b}^ whose hands these grand im-

provements will be made is yet to be seen, but they must sure-

ly come. The men of means, seeking an investment, would
do well to carefully notice what nature has done to make
Rockton a great manufacturing center; and with our present

railroad facilities, diverging to every cardinal point of the

compass,-there is onl3^ one essential element wanting—ener-

getic men with means.

Bridges.

Rockton has had a large experience with bridges. The pres-

ent bridge across the Turtle creek this side of Beloit, was built

about 1868, at cost of $2,600. The city of Beloit contributed

$800 to^wards its construction.

The abutments of the lower iron bridge were built in 1869.

Then followed the Trusedell iron bridge with its miserable

failure and disappointment. In 1870 the present iron bridge

w^as built by the King Bridge Co., and it has proven a great

success. In 1873 the Carpenter iron bridge was built by the

same company.

ViLf.AGE OF Rockton.

The village of Rockton was incorporated under the general

laws of the state in 1872. The territory embraced by the cor-

porate limits includes all of section twent^'-four, the east half
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of section twenty-three, the south lialfof section thirteen, and
the south-east quarter of section fourteen; being one and one-

half mile sqtiare.

The first l)oar(l of trustees ^vas as follows: J. B. Merritt, G. H.
HoUister, Robert Penman, M. D. Keene^^, E. Smith Waite and
F. \V. Merrill. The first meeting to organize the board \vas

held Sept. 10, 1872. J. B. Merritt was chosen president, Sam-
uel Widdowson, clerk; and Ingolls Carlton, treasurer. The a-

mount fixed for a saloon license at a board meeting Sept. 13,

1872, wasi one hundred and twenty-five dollars a year. The fis-

cal 3'ear was made to expire May first of each year, also the

trustees were to serve without pay. George Kllis was appoint-

ed police constable.

The spring election for trustees in 1873, resulted in electing

M. D, Keeney T. B. Talcott, David Carpenter, E. J. Veness, E.

Pollard and Oscar Favor for the ensuing year; (reorge W.
Springer was elected police magistrate; and E. E. Stiles, village

clerk. On the organization of the new^ board, T. B. Talcott

was chosen president; and J. G. Veness, treasurer. The bonds
of the clerk and treasurer were made at $500. N. B. Kincaid
was appointed police constable. The board refused to grant a

saloon license.

The village fathers were then ver}- econonaical in the admin-
istration of the village affairs. They served without pa3', met
in Mr. Talcott's office to s:iv^e rent, sat on board benches to

save the expense of chairs, used Mr. Talcott's office lamps for

lighting i:)urposes, and when cold weather required a fire, each
contributed an armful of wood for the general comfort. This
plan drew a little harder on Mr. Talcott, than on the oiher

members, but as he Avas president of tlie board, he could afford

to do a little extra for the honor of the office.

H^' the actioii of the board in 1873, 1*2. Iv. Stiles was given
general supervision of the cemetery- grounds, and James X.
Douglas was appointed sexton.

In 1874. the village clerk was allowed a salary of $10 a year.

The calaboose was built that year, in back of Kinsley's shop, at

an expense of $125. Tlie board also approjn-iated $50 to aid

Mr. Mathews in establishing the Rockton Herald, with the un-
derstanding that it was to l)e i)aid l)ack in i)rinting.

Tlie Rockton Herald was cstablisiiod Jan. 1, 1875, by \V. D.
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Mathews, and was conducted by him for about a year and a

half, w^hen it was sold to the present proprietor.

The park stand was built in the stimmer of 1880, at an ex-

pense of $315, after a plan drawn b}^ Frank Packard, architect.

On the evening of Aug. 26, a meeting was held in the park to

dedicate the new structure. E. L. Stiles gave a historical ac-

count of the park, and Prof. Henderson, of Beloit college, made
a very interesting address on village improvements.
The Rockford railroad was surve^'ed in 1880, and in the fall

of that 3"ear, the track was laid to the mills on the water power-

The road to Rockford was completed in 1881. and trains com-
menced running late in the 3^ear. The new depot w^as also

built the same season.

The Rockton public library was started in 1888. The build-

ing was donated by Hon. Wait Talcott, of Rockford, and it was
put in excellent repair at a cost of $2,000, by his son, W. A. Tal-

cott. The town carried out its part of the conditions, by vot-

ing a tax to maintain a library. Thomas B. Talcott donated

$1,100 worth of books as a fitting tribute to the memory of his

deceased ^wife, Mrs. Sophia Willard Talcott. Other donations

of considerable importance, have been added at different times.

These Avith the purchase of books by the ^^earh' tax has al-

ready amounted to several thousand volumes.

The town hall was built in 1893, at a cost of $3,C0O. It was
dedicated Dec. 21, 1893, with quit an elaborate cerenlon3^ The
attendance was large, with several persons from abroad.

The village building was purchased in 1894, and fitted up for

village purposes. The first story is used by the fire deparment
and a lock-up, and the upper story for a council room.

Rockton citizens who have been elected to a count}' office,

were Thomas B. Talcott, county coinmissioner; William Hu-
lin, county recorder; Hiram J. Sawyer, and Moses J. Upright,
sheriffs; and A. A. Snyder, county treasurer.

Additeonal Soldiers' Names
Of the war of the rebellion:

1 Oliver Adle, enlisted March 2, 1865, Co. K, 9th 111. cavalry.

Mustered out Oct. 31, 1865.

2 Darwin B. Moore, enlisted Co. E, 9th 111. cavalry'.

3 John Potter, enlisted Co. C, 67th 111.

4 Henry Thompson, enlisted June 2, 1862, m. o. Sept. 27, '62.
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BiKTHS, Makkiages axd Deaths.

Prudence Blish, born April 23, 1767, died Oct. 20, 1848.

Maj. Nathanael Rudd, born 1772, died April 4, 1847.

His wife, Waity Hopkins, born 1779, died June 10, 1856.

John Brown, born Aug. 8, 1776, died Sept. 29, 1861.

Theodore Blinn, born Sept. 1, 1777, died Jul\' 1, 1850.

John Griffith, born 1782, died April 27, 1862.

L^'dia, wife of Anson Parker, born 1782, died March 25, 1861.

Gen. WiUiani Richardson, born May 7, 1783, died Nov. 24, 1860.

His wife, Sabina Parker, born Jan. 20, 1805, died Jan. 23, 1890.

Capt. William Talcott, Ijorn March 6, 1784, died Sept. 2, 1864.

His wife, Dorothy Blish, born April 8, 1789, died Nov. 24, 1879.

Rufus Baker, born March 28. 1784, died May 24, 1870.

His wife, Cynthia, born Juh^ 17, 1790, died Jan. 17, 1871.

Thomas Harley, born 1787, died Oct. 11, 1859.

Phebe Waite, born 1788, died March 14, 1859.

Rev. William M. Adams, born Dec. 28, 1788, died March 12, 1842

His wife, Sophia Farnsworth, b. July 22. 1796. d. Sept. 11, 1869.

Silas Austin, born Feb. 18, 1789, died March 31, 1844.

His wife, Lydia, born Aug. 25, 1786, died Feb. 21, 1860.

John Henr}^ born June 21, 1789, died March 16, 1871.

Joseph Lord, born Nov. 5, 1789. died March 21, 1863.

His wife, Chloe Moulton, l)<)rn May 21, 1792, died Dec. 18, 1868.

OseeTalnifige, born Jan. 1, 1790, died Sept. 25, 1845.

His wife, Sally, born April 29, 1789, died March 18, 1884.

Nathanael Shores, born 1790, died Nov. 12, 1855.

Benjamin Shamiour, born Ma^; 6,1790, died Sept. 17, 1868.

His wife, xMary Ann, born 1792, died Feb. 8, 18()5.

Dea. Luman Pettibone, born Aug. 20, 1791, died April 2, 18S0.

His wife, Almira Rudd. born 1797, died Sept. 18, 1864.

Loring Loomer, born Aug. 10, 1792. died Nov. 13, 1877.

His wife. Mary, born 1791, died Oct. 31. 1875.

Dr. Harley Hooker, born Dec. 9, 1792, died March 16. 1867.

His wife, Mary Beardslee, died May 25, 1877.

Chellis Hooker, born Dec. 9, 1792. died Nov. 3, 1847.

His wife, Sally, born May 28, 1796, died April 26. 1889.

Mrs. Horace Case, born May 10, 1793, died March 15. 1857.

Dardane. wife of Charles Reed, b. Jan. 9, 1794, d.July 30. 1S.5<>.

John B-nton. born Oct. 4. 1794, died Sept. 17. 1877.

His wife, Climena, born Aug. 27, 1798, died Dec. 3. 1870.

Alanson S. Xewton, bom Aug. 1, 1795, died ]{i\v 4, 1877.
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His 1st wife, Polly Prentice, died Dec. 5, 1830. 2d wife, Eunice
Palmer, born Aug. 10. 1807, died April 29, 1877.

Jabez Smith, born 1796, died Dec, 21, 1866,

His wife, Sophrona, born 1808, died Sept. 17, 1882.

Leonard W. Osgood, born Jan. 7, 1796, died June 15, 1858.

Lucus Mellen, born Nov. 2, 1798, died May 21, 1878.

His wife, Abigail Mills, born March 3, 1798, died May 9, 1879.

Dr. John H. Carpenter, born May 19, 1797, died May 28, 1885.

Ralph Smith, born July 14, 1797, died Sept. 25. 1815.

Frederick Dresser, born Jan. 24, 1799, died Feb. 22, 1889.

His 2d wife, Susan, died May 8, 1878. 3d wife Elizabeth, died

Feb. 27, 1897.

Stephen Mack, born Feb. 1799, died April 10, 1850.

His Indian wife, Ho-no-ne-gah, died July, 1847.

Justus Forrester, born June 20, 1799, died Aug. 9, 1885.

His wife, Deborah, barn March 22, 1798, died.

Dea. Dorus Pettibone, born June 18, 1799, died Aug. 27, 1865.

His wife, Eliza Ann, born Jan. 25, 1803, died March 1, 1862.

Ljfdia W. Grant, born Aug. 1, 1799, died, Sept. 14, 1884.

Mrs. Mary Palmer, born Oct. 16, 1799, died April 12, 1884.

Thomas Harper, born Dec. 3, 1799, died Feb. 5, 1893.

His wife, Elizabeth, born April 27, 1801, died Oct. 27, 1866.

Elder James Veness, born Sept. 30, 1800, died Jan. 22. 1881.

His wife, Charlotte Garrish, born Oct. 15, 1798, died Oct. 8. 1862

Mrs. C. C. Clay, born Oct. 24, 1800, living.

Thomas Carpenter, born April 13, 1801, died Jan. 20, 1874.

His wife, Ann, born June 13, 1799, died Dec. 11, 1891.

Alpha Bligh, born Sept. 22, 1S02, died May 2, 1857.

His wife, Elmira H. Wiard, born April 17, 1808, died June 30, 1885

Samuel Marson, born Jan. 2. 1803, died Nov. 2, 1887.

His wife, Sophia, born 1805, died Dec. 20, 1882.

Henry N. Bates, born 1803, died March 6, 1851.

John Bacon, born June 21, 1803, died Nov. 6, 1884, Portland, Me
His wife, Ermina, born 1815, died Ma}' 27, 1863.

James Gill. l)()rn July 9, 1803. died Aug. 25, 1869.

His wife, Sarah, l)orn 1799, died Dec. 25, 1879.

William \Veb])er, born March 26, 1804, died July 19,1889.

His wife, Mary Hake, born April 20, 1802, died April 6, 1886.

James Kincaid, l)orn 1804, supj^osed to have died in Iowa.

His wife, Hepsabah, born Nov. 27, 1807, died April 7, 1895.

Dudley Spurling, born July 1, 1804, died Feb. 8, 1869.
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His wife, Lorinda, born Jul}^ 2, 1812, died May 2, 1868.

Horace Hyatt, born 1804, died April 16, 1871.

His wife, Azuba, born 1806, died Dec. 1882.

Howe P. Teag-ue, born 1804, died March 29, 1875.

His wife, Susan, born June 2, 1811, cfied May 3, 1892.

John McConnell, born Oct. 10, 1804, died June 22, 1881.

His wife. Arietta, born April 5, 1809, died May 27, 1894.

Edmund Cardell, born Oct. 25, 1804, died Jan. 21, 1891.

His wife, Hannah, born March 10, 1805, died March 4, 1876.

Truelove Manard, born Dec. 18, 1804, died Jan. 23, 1896.

His wife, Lovina Waite, born Aug. 5, 1813, Hving.

Thomas Grout, born Feb. 13, 1805, died June 13, 1858.

Darius Adams, born April 1, 1805, died Nov. 5, 1880.

Ira Cummings, born April 19, 1805, died Jan. 25, 1895.

His 1st wife, Elizabeth, born Jan. 8, 1818. died Oct. 13, 186--

Dr. Coe VanBrunt, born June 3, 1805. died Sept. 17, 1851.

His wife, Electa, born June 8, 1808, died 1897.

Hiram Bellows, born Aug. 22, 1805, living.

His wife, Rebecca, born June 19. 1807, died June 20, 1884.

J. W. Dean, born Oct. 11,' 1805, died, Sept. 20, 1893.

His 2d wife, Sarah, born July 7, 1815. died Oct. 15, 1897.

William M. Thomas, born Nov. 9, 1805, died July 5, 1882.

His wife, Eliza Conklin, born Jan. 25, 1811 died June 4, 1893.

William Moss, born Nov. 20, 1805, died Sept. 19, 1860.

Thomas B. Talcott, l)orn April 17, 1806, died Sept. 30, 1894.

His wife, Sophia WiUard, born, Nov. 11, 1824, died Dec. 25, 1888

Aaron Shores, born June 2. 1806. died Sept. 23, 1893.

His wife, Jane, born March 18, 1811, died Sept. 24, 1873.

Charles Griffin, born Sept. 14, 1806, died 1890, in Iowa.

His wife, Eliza, born May 29, 1809, died in Iowa.

Calvin Stevens, born Dec. 24. 1806, died Oct. 3. 1871.

His wife, Rozilla, born Dec. 21, 1807. died April 19, 1863.

Tliomas Glover, born Aug. 28, 1807, died July 3, 1885.

His wife, Ann. born Nov. 16. 1809, died Dec. 11, 1884.

David Carpenter, l)orn March 15, 1808, died March 5, 1897.

His wife, Julia Pettibone, born July 15, 1814, living.

Sylvester Bartholomew, b. March 31, 1808, d. Aug. 9; 1893.

His wife, Calista, born Nov. 5. 1814, died July 27. 1898.

James Aspland, born March 8, 1808, died Sept. 5, 1884.

His wife, Ann Westmoreland, b. June 12, 1814, d. July 6, 1891.

Joseph Comstock. born March 23*1809. died Nov. 12. 1891.
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Edom Chapman, born Sept. 17, 1809, died Nov. 1, 1884.

His 1st wife, Gertrude Jones—2d wife Mary Wallace.

P. D. VanBuren, born 1810, died Aug. 7, 1849.

Alvah McKaj^ born Feb. 16, 1810, died Aug. 4, 1887.

His wife, Elizabeth Bennett, born 1806, died 1858.

J. C Gridley, born March 26, 1810, died Nov. 1, 1888.

His 1st wife, Sarah Root. 2d wife, Calista A. Talntage, b. Oct.

2, 1813, d. Sep. 8, 1894.

Alonzo F. Chase, born July 4, 1810, died April 8, 1883.

His wife, Martha, born 1815, died Oct. 9, 1867.

Sylvester Talcott, born Oct. 14, 1810, died Jan. 19, 1885.

His wife, Mary Westlake, born Sept. 26, 1820, died Dec. 9, 1892.

John H. Jenkins, born June 22, 1811, died, Feb. 11, 1894.

His wife, Phebe Cozzens, born July 22, 1811, died Nov. 11, 1863.

C. W. Robinson, born March 16, 1812, died Dec. 25, 1883.

His wife died Nov. 4, 1895.

John Piper, born April 8, 1812, died S-pt. 25, 1875.

His wife, Elizabeth, born March 4, 1816, died' Dec. 19, 1877.

Henry S. Austin, born May 1, 1812, died Jan. 26. 1892.

His 1st wife, Miss Packard. 2d v.-ife, Eliza Packard, b. [a:i. 23.

1817, died Dec. 3, 1886.

James Johnson, born Aug. 10, 1812, died Jan. 1, 1898.

His wife, born Aug. 13, 1819, died Aug. 1, 1896.

Benj. F. Fletcher, born July 24. 1812, died March 7, 1873.

His wife, Abigail Cutter, born Aug. 4, 1817, living.

Luther Lawrence, born July 29, 1812, died March 27, 1891.

His 1st wife, Adelia Loonier, b. May 21, 1816, d. Oct. 20, 1S69.

2d wife, Mrs. Susan Teague, b. June 2, 1811, d. May 3, 1892

Dean Pettibone, born Dec. 12, 1812^ died 1875, in Elgin.

His wife, Lura Skinner, died a few 3^ears ago in Polo.

John B. Peterson, born 1812, died June 27, 1864.

His wife, Oracy WiUard, born 1819, died Sept. 17, 1855.

Charles J. Fox, born 1813, died Jan. 30, 1873.

His wife, Susan Cutter, born Nov. 11, 1812, died Sept. 20, 1894.

Orange Smith, born 1813, died May 1, 1866.

George Feakins, born May 16, 1813, died Oct. 9, 1883.

His wife, Mar}^ Stockle3^ l)orn June 17, 1814, living.

Rev. Silas Jessup, born May 23. 1813, died July 9. 1886.

His wife, Mary Calender, born April 25. 1814, died April 13, 1883

Isaac Adams, born July 23, 1813, died April 15, 1883.

His wife, Lucia, l)orn June 10, 1821, died Aug. 27, 1868.
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Henry W. Talcott. born Feb. 13, 1814, died Dec. 9, 1870.

His wife, Emeline McConnell, b. Dec. 10, 1817, d. Aug. 25, 1894.

Thomas M. Coons, born July 22, 1813, living.

His 1st wife, Rebecca Reed, 2d w^ife. Mrs. Maria Fairchild, born

May 24. 1819, died March 2, 1896.

Samuel Hersey, born July 27, 1811, died Sept. 26. 1879.

His 1st wife, Hannah Cole, died April 29, 1853. 2d wife, Pru-

dence Talcott.

R. H. Comstock.born June 14, 1815, died Jan. 18, 1894.

His wife, Hannah H. Horton, born March 21, 1828.

W. P. Crawford, born Oct. 23, 1815.

His wife, Thursey M. Watson, died Aug. 24, 1878.

Rowland C. Smith, born 1815, died Jan. 28, 1856.

His wife, Margaret Westlake, died.

Darius Palmer, born April 21, 1815, died Dec. 12, 1853.

William O. Goddard, born Oct. 11, 1516, died Jan. 31, 1847.

His wife, Maria Hooker, born Sept. 29, 1817.

Robert D. L. Montanye, born Jan. 2, 1816, died April 24, 1895.

His wife, Polly Ann Foot, born Nov. 19, 1816.

John Griffith, born Jan. 4, 1816, died June 8, 1898.

His wife, Catherine Webber, born in England.
George W. Springer, born March 4. 1816. died Oct. 25, 1876.

His wife, Rosanda Guptil, born Jan. 2, 1818. died Sept. 13. 1895

Edwin Case, born April 9, 1816. died March 19, 1888.

His wife, Elizabeth Lord, born June 19, 1821, died Jan. 13, 1892

Ainos Blake, born June 11, 1816, died April 9, 1855.

Garrett Clute, born July 19, 1816, died March 21, 1885.

His wife, Minerva Dicks, born April 6, 1819, died May 13, 1890

James L. Gray, born Nov. 17, 1816, died May 5. 1888.

His 1st wife. Sarah Mitchell, born 1812, died Dec. 23, 1862. 2d
wife, Mrs. Frances Lock.

Ansal Comstock. born May 21, 1817, died March 31. 1863.

His wife, Mary Willard, born 1822, died Aug. 6. 1895.

John Clover, born July 1. 1817, died Nov. 23, 1864.

His wife, 2*Iary, born, 1815. died May 27, 1877.

Orvis ShurtHff, born Oct. 29, 1817, died Sept. 18, 1891.

His wife, Sarah Smith, born June 20, 1832.

Henry B. Jones, born Feb. 19, 1818, died July 1. 1895.

His wife, Aurora Parker, born July 31, 1823.

Samuel Talcott, born March 1, 1818.

His wife, Minerva Cody, died Aj^ril 21, 1865.
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William Halley, born June 4, 1818.

His wife, Christian Mackie, born Aug. 1815.

James Swan, born July 9, 1818, died Aug. 27, 1892.

His 1st wife, Elizabeth P. White. 2d wife, Mary Grant, born
Feb. 13, 1823, died June 20, 1889.

Charles C. Smith, born j'uly 16, 1818, died Oct. 12, 1869.

His wife, Mary A., born Jan. 7, 1824, died May 4, 1864.

Walter H, Lord, born Aug. 10, 1818, died Feb. 9, 1857.

Leonard Thurston, born Dec. 17, 1818, died Nov. 24, 1898.

His 1st wife, Sarah Jane Thompson, born 1834, died Apr. 1, 1858

Elbridge Gammon, born Aug. 15, 1818, died April 1, 1872.

His wife, Esther Bisbee, born Oct. 29, 1823.

George H. Josl3'n, born Jan. 27, 1819, drowned Aug. 26, 1892.

His 1st wife, Eunice, born May 9, 1823, died Sept. 13, 1881. 2d

w^ife, Mrs. Weatherhead.

J. W. Winsor, born June 6, 1819, died Oct. 20, 1892.

His 2d wife, Chloe Harrison, born May 3, 1819, d. Nov, 12, 1881.

Jonah Forward, born June 10, 1819.

His wife, Jane E. Stantial, born Dec. 9, 1825.

F. W. Merrill, born Aug. 20, 1819, died Feb. 14, 1898.

His wife, Harriet S. HoUister, born March 31, 1825.

Silas White, born Dec. 4, 1819.

His wife, Catherine, born Sept. 23, 1825.

Abram Coller, born 1819, died Jan. 1, 1883.

Sylvester Stevens, born 1820, died Nov 27, 1892.
.

His wife, Louisa Shores, born 1834.

William Warren, born 1,820, died Feb. 16, 1859.

Mary D. Thayer, born April 12, 1820, died Aug. 13, 1895.

Caleb Carr, born July 18, 1820.

His wife, Cinderella Lewis, born, Nov. 6, 1820, d. March 3, 1892

E. L. Stiles, born Aug. 8, 1820.

His wife, Marantlia Capron, born Aug. 16, 1818.

Henry W. \Y. Talcott, born Aug. 22, 1820, died April 10, 1847.

Alonzo N. Mellen, born Nov. 1, 1820.

His 1st wife, Sophia Hall, born June 13, 1821, died June 18, 1890

2d wife, Emma McConnell, born Jan. 1, 1851.

A. T. Hart, l)orn Feb. 12, 1821.

His wife, Phebe B. Cole, born March 7, 1829.

C. L. R. Manning, born Feb. 19, 1821, died April 8, 1891.

His wife, Jane Baker, born Dec. 4, 1821, died Aug. 14, 1896.

George Koyden, born April 25, 1821.
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His 1st wife, Jane R. Collier, born March 16, 1820, died Feb. 9.

1893 2(1 wife, Sarah Lally, born June 20, 1849.

Edwin Martin, born April 25, 1821.

His wife, Caroline Wheelock, born July 2, 1826.

Robert Hunt, born May 2, 1821.

His wife, Jane, born Aug. 19, 1819, died Sept. 11, 1898.

Henry Fa'ckrell, born June 13, 1821, died Jan. 25, 1893.

William R. Axe, born July 22, 1821.

His wife, Olive P. Marshall, b. Nov. 15, 1822, d. April 7, 1891.

W. F. Packard, born July 31, 1821.

His wife, Julia Adams, born Sept. 13, 1824.

H. D. Dewey, born Aug. 21, 1821, died June 2, 1892.

G. H. HoUister, born Dec. 14, 1821, died Nov. 2, 1890.

His 1st wife, Elizabeth Pettibone, died Sept. 20, 1860. 2d wife
Fannie E. Hooker, born Sept. 13, 1838.

Henry Shibley, born 1821, died Sept. 27, 1865.

His wife, Ruth Slighter, born 1823, died Feb. 4, 1891.

F. J. r^entley, born Jan. 3, 1822, died Sept. 3, 1888.

His wife, Sarah Crandall, Iwrn Feb. 17, 1823.

Austin D. Bliss, born Jan. 26, 1822.

His 1st wife, Betsey Adams, 1)orn 1823, died May 23, 1865. 2d
wife, Mrs. Ellen Estes, born Aug. 9, 1841.

Dr. David V. Waite, l)orn March 2, 1823.

David Hudson, born March 13, 1823.

His wife, Amelia E. Bryning, l)orn March 9, 1832.

Dr. Joseph G. Veness, born May 18, 1823, died Feb. 4, 1893.

His wife, Katherine Butler, born May 31, 1825.

Machael Morrison, born Dec. 8, 1823.

His wife, Joanna Hickey, born Aug. 10, 1832.

Henry Graham, born Dec. 20, 1823, died.

His 1st wife, Melissa Shurtliff, born 1830, died 1856. 2d wife,

Ellen Foster, born March 8, 1831.

Dorson Xewell, born Feb. 9, 1824.

His wife, Elizabeth A. Phelps, born July 26, 1832.

V. A. Lake, born Fel). 9, 1824. died Oct. 5^ 1878.

His wife xMiss S. M.Taft, born Feb. 26, 1826.

\V. A. Plielps, born April 6, 1825.

His wife, Mary Jane Lippitt, born Sept. 2, 1826.

James \V. Veness, born May 22, 1825, died Aug. 15, 1896.

His wife, Susanna Legg, born Oct. 8, 1830.

Ivewis Fairchild. born A tig. 7. 1S25.
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His 1st wife, Mrs. Lucinda Quinn, born Oct. 24, 1824, died April

10, 1892. 2d wife Mrs. Laura J. Boone.

John Morse, born April 25, 1826, died Feb. 21, 1885.

John Lally, born June 24, 1826. died Feb. 17, 1883.

His wife, Ann Rogers, born Aug. 15, 1830, died Oct. 2, 1897.

RoUin C. Orr, born Oct. 2, 1826, died Jan. 17, 1883.

His wife. Adelia Horan, born April 29, 1835. died Jan. 8, 1892.

Henry W. Conklin.born June 24, 1827.

His wife, Al valine Grower, born Feb. 24, 1833.

Rufus D. Stanton, born Jan. 12, 1828, died Feb. 2, 1858.

Alfred Hull, born April 16, 1828, died May 19, 1892.

J. C. Truman, born Nov. 25, 1828.

His wife, Mary A. HoUister, born Sept. 28, 1832.

Caleb Bentley, born Feb. 14, 1829.

His 1st wife, Janet Gibson, born June 13, 1840, died Jan. 7, 1864.

2d wife. Flora Pollard, born Dec. 5, 1845, died Nov. 15, 1896

John B. Taylor, born July 24, 1830.

His wife, Anna M., died July 22, 1882.

Machael Hennesy, born Sept. 26, 1830, died.

His wife, Bridget Everets, born June 24, 1831.

Edmund W. Moody, born Oct. 1, 1830, died.

His wife, Charlotte Fader, born in Canada.
Marshal Mellen, born Dec. 3, 1830, died Jan. 25, 1890.

His 1st wife, Phila Perham, born Oct. 3, 1837, died Jan. 25, 1872.

2d wife, Hattie Fox, born Feb. 10, 1844.

James E. Chase, born Dec. 25, 1830.

His 1st w^ife Polly Jane Newton. 2d wife, Matilda Vanderburg
Joseph B. Merritt, born Dec. 27, 1830.

His wife, Frances Mellen, born April 11, 1839.

Samuel Widdowson, born Feb. 26, 1831.

His wife, Elizabeth Marson, born July 2, 1832.

Edson I. Carr, born Sept. 11, 1831.

His wife, Mary A. Ward, born Jan. 16, 1834.

Andrew J. Young, born Oct. 8, 1831, died Aug. 10, 1898.

His wife, Anna Hunt, born March 10, 1836, died March 10, 1884

C. B. Martin, born July 18, 1832.

His wife. Mary Cardell, born 1835, died Dec. 29, 1889.

B. B. Gates, born Nov. 7, 1832.

His wife, Nellie Bingham, born Jan. 17, 1832.

William Cowen, born Aug. 25, 1833, died Oct. 29. 1890.

His wife, Helen Seaver, born Oct. 30, 1837.
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G. B. Goodfellow, born 1833, died May 28, 1888.

His wife, Esther, born 1833, died Sept. 2, 1896.

James N. Douglas, born March 11, 1834.

His wife, Charlotte Veness, born.

Edgar J. Forrester, born June 18, 1834.

His wife, Sabina R. Ranne^^ born Ma}^ 4, 1840.

S. P. Jenison, born March 2, 1835.

His wife, Arvilla P. Davison, b. Jan. 27, 1836, d. Sept. 13, 1897.

William W. McKay, born March 17, 1835, died March 15, 1894.

His wife, Amanda J. Felt, born Oct. 12, 1842.

Charles Hyatt, born Sept. 17, 1835.

His 1st wife, Drewe}^ Smith, born Oct, 12, 1849, died April 15,

1874. 2d wife Mary Bacon.

James S. Cowen, born Dec. 15, 1835.

His 1st wife. Miss Phillips. 2d wife, Mrs. Sarah Lester.

0."T. Bartholomew, born June 2, 1836.

His wife Mary Atwood, born June 3, 1838.

George R. Hooker, born Sept. 24, 1836, died Aug. 18, 1871.

His wife, Minnie Martin, born 1842, died Dec. 19, 1876.

Sherman Aspland, born Oct. 4, 1836.

His wife, Elizabeth McNutly, born July 3, 1845.

E. J. Veness, born Jan. 1, 1837'.

His wife, Mary Sterns, born Feb. 3, 1841.

Thomas M. Carpenter, born Feb. 18, 1837.

His 1st wife, Ida L. Humphrey, died Aug. 2, 1874. 2d wife,

Sophia Martin, born June 15, 1857.

Andrew Bingham, born June 10, 1837.

His wife, Emma Collins, born Jul}^ 1, 1839.

Valentine Gleasman, born March 2, 1838, died Sept. 29, 1893.

His wife, Mar^^ette L. Gridle}-, born Dec. 29, 1841.

John J. Clover, born Jan. 21, 1839.

His wife, Emily Shores, born April 5, 1840.

R. B. Meech, born Jan. 2, 1840.

His wife, Alice Bentley, born Jan. 26, 1849.

Olney E. Shufelt, born Jan. 30 1840.

His wife, Anna Briggs, born Aug. 8, 1842.

J. W. Fisk, born Oct. 15, 1840.

His wife, Sarah E. Rudy, born Aug. 13, 1848.

George Gleasman, born 1840, died Jan. 1, 1890.

His wife, Sarah A. Lake.
William W.Austin, born April 29, 1841.
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His wife, Josephine A. Dewry, b. Dec. 24, 1842, d. Feb. 3, 1896.

William H. Baker, born March 30, 1842.

His wife, Charlotte M. Shamiour, born Jan. 13, 1846,

Roscoe Gammon, born March 7, 1843.

His 1st wife, Clarinda M. Reynolds, b. June 2, 1846, d. May 3,

1894. 2d wife, Mrs. Gertrude Wellington, b. Aug. 14, 1862

George W. Warren, born 1844, died Aug. 16, 1874.

His wife, Mary Shibley, born 1847, died March 13, 1882.

Albert H. Toal, born Aug. 29, 1844.

His wife, Jenette, born Feb. 1, 1843, died Sept. 12, 1896.

Byron B. Hill, born Oct. 19, 1846.

His wife, Lydia M. Kerr, born Feb. 23, 1847.

Calender Jessup, born May 25, 1850, died March 11, 1894.

His wife, Caroline Packard, born April 24, 1854.

O. A. Anderson, born July 19, 1854.

His wife, Melva McConnell, born Oct. 20, 1854.

J. R. Rummell, born April 29, 1856. died July 10, 1892.

His wife, Bva J. Sprague, Ijorn July 23, 1859.

Charles E. Shufelt, born June 21, 1860.

His 1st wife, Nettie M. Jones, born July 24, 1864, died July 18,

1883. 2d wife, Fannie Lally.

Marriagks.

Capt. William Talcott and Dorothy Blish, married 1805.

Joseph Lord and Chloe Moulton, married Dec. 1, 1814.

Horace Case and Anna West, married April 9, 1815.

A. S. Newton and Polly Prentice, married May 3, 1818, 2d

wife, Eunice Palmer, married July 13, 1831.

Rev. William M. Adams and Sophia C. Farnsworth married
March 11, 1819.

John Bentoti and Climena Poter, married March 20, 1822.

Elder James Veness and Charlotte Garrish, married May 19,1822

Dorus Pettibone and Eliza Ann Pettibone, married Thanks-
giving day, 1822.

John McConnell and Arleta Marvin, married Oct. 1, 1825.

Dr. Harley Hooker and Mary Beadslee, married Feb. 1827.

Thomas Glover and Ann Collier, married Jan. 1828.

Alpha Bligh and Elniira H. Wiard, married Jan. 27, 1828.

William M. Thomas and Eliza Conklin, married Nov. 13, 1828.

J. C. Gridle}^ and Sarah Root, married Nov. 18, 1828. 2d wife,

Calista A. Talmage, married Nov. 26, 1837.
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William Webber and Mary Hake, married May 3, 1832.

John M. Hulett and Lucinda Ja}^ married June, 1832.

Wait Talcott and Elizabeth Ann Norton, married Feb. 5, 1834,

Alvah McKay and Elizabeth Bennett, married May 3, 1834.

Sylvester Bartholomew and Calista Johnson, m. June 11, 1835.

Henry S. Austia and Eliza Packard, married Nov. 10, 1835.

David Carpenter and Julia Pettibone, married March 7, 1836.

Charles J. Fox and Susan Cutter, married April 16, 1837.

Robert Logan and Eliza Blake, married July 19, 1837.

John Bacon and Ermina Seaver, married Aug. 1837.

John F. Thayer and Elizabeth M. Thurston, m. Dec. 12, 1837.

James L. Gra}^ and Sarah I. Mitchell, married 1837. 2d wife,

Mrs. Frances Lock, married Jan. 10, 1864.

C. W. Robertson and Mary Fairbank, married April 29, 1839.

George W. Springer and Roanda Guptil, married May 26, 1839

George Feakins and Mary Stockle3% married Sept. 10, 1839.

Dean Pettibone and Lura Skinner, married Nov. 20, 1839.

Harrison H. Young and Mar}' B. Bachelor, m. Jan. 15, 1840.

Walter H. Lord and Mary Taylor, married Feb. 2, 1840.

Thomas Groute and Ann Carjienter, married April 2, 1840.

Elbridge Gammon and Esther Bisbee, married June 4, 1840.

Stephen Mack and his Indian wife, Ho-no-ne-gah, m. Sept. 14,

1840. 2d wife, Mrs. Isabella Daniels, m. Feb. 24, 1848.

William Carlton and Melissa I. Austin, married Sept. 23, 1840.

Luther Lawrence and Adelia Loomer, married 1841, 2d wife

Mrs. Susan Teague, married May 16, 1877.

Julius Keeney and Hester Ann Seaton, married Jan. 7,1841.

Porter Bellows and Angeline Hinman, married Jan. 26, 1841.

David Briggs and Mar}' Pettibone, married Feb. 11, 1841.

Seth Higby nnd Adelaid Gibson, married April 14. 1841.

Calvin Comstock and Harriet Beard, married April 15, 1841.

E. L. Stiles and Marantha Capron, married June, 1841.

Sylvester Talcott and Mary Westlake, married June 10, 1841.

William M. Cristy and Eliza Jones, marrried June 17, 1841.

William O. Goddard and Maria Hooker, married Nov. 1841.

Wadlcy Favor atid Mar}- Br3'ning, married April 11, 1842.

Elijah Austin and Louisa Gibson, married April 18, 1842.

Samuel Hersey- and Hannah Cole, married Sept. 2, 1842. 2d

wife. Prudence Talcott, married May 17, 1854.

R. D. L. Montanye and Polly Ann Foot, married Feb. 14. 1843.

Tliomas B. Talcott atid S()i)hia WiHard, married June 5, 1843.
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F.J. Bentley and Sarah Crandall, married June 9, 1843.

Silas Jessupand Mary Calender, married Aug. 25, 1843.

Charles Wright and Harriet N. Talcott, married Oct. 10, 1843.

Austin D. Bliss and Betsey Adams, married Nov. 29, 1843, 2d
wife, Mrs. Ellen Estes, married Jul}^ 5, 1866.

Samuel Briggs and Almira Pettibone, married Feb. 8, 1844.

Henry Shibley and Ruth Slighter, married April 2, 1844.

Albert Hulett and Eleanor Blake, married June 6, 1844.

Alonzo N. Mellen and Sophia Hall, married June 11, 1844.. 2d
wife, Emma McConnell, married July 7, 1891.

F. W. Merrill and Harriet S. HoUister, married Aug. 20, 1844.

John Logan and Rachel Blake, married Dec. 11, 1844.

Moses W. Allen and Minerva Fletcher, married June 18, 1845.

Simon Young and Mary Cutler, married Oct. 9, 1845.

Henry W. Talcott and Emeline McConnell, m. Oct. 11. 1845.

Samuel B. Hayes and Olive M. Gibson, married Dec. 1845.

Edwin Martin and Caroline Wheelock, married Jan. 1, 1846.

George Royden and Jane Collier, married 1846. 2d wife Sarah
Eally, married Nov. 28. 1893.

James Swan and Elizabeth P. White, married March 17, 1846

2d wife, Mary W. Grant, married June 30, 1861.

Howard N. Adams and Eliza A. Smith, married March 18, 1846

Amasa B. Herrick a:id Lydia A. Young, married April 3, 1S46.

Edwin Case and Elizabeth C. Lord, married April 8, 1846.

Israel H. G. Densmore and Albina Merrill, married Oct. 19, 1846

James L. Sharp and Mar}^ P. Billings, married Nov. 1, 1846.

Joshua S. McDowell and Eleanor Thayer, married Dec. 3, 1846

William Halle^^ and Christian Mackie, married Dec. 4, 1846.

Asa Palmer and Ellen T. Merrill, married April 5, 1847.

B. F. Fletcher and Abigail Cutter, married June 15, 1847.

Edson P. Allen and Fidelia Blake, married June 21, 1847.

Samuel Talcott and Minerva P. Cody, married Sept. 23, 1847.

Lewis Fairchild and Mrs. Lucinda Quinn, m. Oct. 10, 1847. 2d
wife, Mrs. Laura J. Boone, married Sept. 8, 1894.

Ansel Comstock and Mar}" L. Willard, married Oct. 14, 1847.

Caleb Carr and Cinderella Lewis, married Nov. 1, 1847.

William R. Axe and Olive P. Marshall, married 1848.

Jonah Forward and Jane E. Stantial, married Jan. 6, 1848.

R. H. Comstock and Hannah Horton, married Jan. 10, 1848.

W. A. Phelps and Mary Jane Lippitt, married Jan. 13, 1848.

Solomon Densmore and Fidelia Teed, married April 5, 1848.
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Dr. J. G. Veness and Katherine Butler, married Aug. 12, 1848.

John I^all}' and Ann Kogers, married Sept. 1848.

A. T. Hart and F^hebe B. Cole, married Jan. 4, 1849.

David Hudson and Amelia*E. Br^-ning-, married Feb. 10, 1849.

Charles Havens and Julia A. Young, married March 22, 1849.

Henry S. Westlake and Juan Frenandez Teed, m. April 24, 1849

James H. Jones and Paulina P. Atistin, married June 27, 1849.

Thomas M. Coons and Mrs. Maria Fairchild, m. Nov. 7, 1849.

Henr}' Graham and Melissa Shurtliff, married 1850. 2d wife,

Ellen Foster, married 1858.

Dorson Newell and Elizabeth A. Phelps, married Sept. 12, 1850

V. A. Lake and xMiss S. M. Taft, married Oct. 25, 1850.

J. C. Truman and Mar}- A. Hollister, married March 12, 1851.

Michael Morrison and Joanna Hickey, married Nov. 1851.

H. S. Northrop and Mrs. Althe Freed, married Nov. 2, 1851.

Dr. Nathanael F^. Prentice and Miranda C. H^-att, married,

Nov. 20, 1851.

William Thompson and Elizabeth Davis, married Jan. 1, 1852.

G. H. Hollister and Elizabeth Pettibone, m. Sept. 18, 1852. 2d

wife, Fannie E. H(joker, m. Dec. 11, 1861.

James Wall and Ann yuinn, married Nov. 26. 1852.

J. W. Veness and Susanna Legg, married Feb. 3, 1853.

Edson I. Carr and Mary A. Ward, married March 3, 1853.

Thomas Jordan and Diana Holmes, married April 19, 1853.

Mark McConnell an<l Mary Beecher, married Oct. 13, 1853.

Leonard Thurston and vSarah Thompson, married Oct. 31,1853

2d wife, Diana Stiles, married Oct. 8, 1858.

Orvis Shurtliff and Sarah Smith, married June 25, 1854.

Samuel Widdowson and Elizal)eth Marson, ni. Sept. 6, 1854.

B. B. Gates and Nellie Bingham, married Jan. 9, 1855.

James N. Douglas and Charlotte Veness, married Jan. 25,1855

C. B. Martin and Mary C. Cardell, married Oct. 1855.

S. P. Jenison and Arvilla F. Davison, married March 6, 1856.

Fvdmuiid W. Moody and Charlotte Fader, married April 3, 1856

Albert Hulett and Kachel Lake, married May 1, 1856. 2d wife,

Minerva Feakins, married Oct. 17, 1889.

Samuel U. Baker and Mary M. Bruner, married May 22, 1856.

William Coons and Melissa Wheeler, married Sept. 29, 1856.

A. J. Young and Anna Hunt, married Oct. 4. 1S56.

K'oUin C. Orr and Adelia Horan, married Nov. 11,18.56.

Henry W. Conklin and Alvaline (howor, married Nov. 28, 1856
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E. J. Jones and Luciiia Colby, niG'-. 1 Jasi. 13, 1857.

John G.Taylor and Frances Gleasors married April 19, 1857.

Thomas Stickler and Mrs. Nancy Taylor, married June 11, 1857

R. C. Sweet and Lucinda M. Southworth, m. Oct. 29, 1857.

Henry B. Jones and Aurora Parker, married Jan. 9, 1858.

Henry W. Phelps and Alta Mason, married Jan. 20, 1858.

John B. Holmes and Anna S. Gibson, married Jan. 28, 1858.

Joseph B. Merritt and Frances E. Mellen, married Dec. 1, 1858

William H. Baker and Charlotte M. Shamiour, m. Jan. 22, 1859

Olne}' E. Shufelt and Anna Briggs, married Aug. 7, 1859.

Valentine Gleasman and Maryetta L. Gridle}^, m. Dec. 21, 1859

John Griffith and Catherine Webber, married March 1, 1860.

William Webber, jr., and Mary E. Smith, married Aug. 13, 1860

Andrew J. Loveless and Deborah Brown, married Sept. 29, 1860

Edwin Kinsley and Jennie Glover, married Oct. 7, iStO.

Caleb Bentley and Janet Gibson, married Oct. 30, 1860. 2d wife

Flora I. Pollard, married April 1, 1875.

William H. Kendig and Elsie A. Crawford, m. March 3, 1861.

William W. McKay and Amanda J. Felt, m. June 16, 1861.

George S. Ellis and Ruth Knapp, married July 4, 1861.

Moses Pennock and Mary A. Crandall, married Nov. 28, 1861.

Michael Hennesy and Bridget Everet, married Dec. 29, 1861.

Marshall Mellen and Phila Perham, married March 10, 1862. 2d
wife, Hattie Fox, married Oct. 30, 1872.

E. S. Waite and Kate Veness, married May 1, 1862.

E. Po^well and Nancy Gary, married Aug. 5, 1862

C, B. Spurling and Mary E. Kelley, married July 8, 1862. 2d
wife, Philena Marlette, married Dec. 2, 1886.

John J. Clover and Emily Shores, married Oct. 2, 1862.

Eleazer J. Veness and Mary V. Stearns, married Nov. 5, 1862.

William W. Austin and Josephine A. Dewry m. Dec. 24, 1862.

Truman Holmes and Amanda Springer, in. Nov. 26, 1863.

C. B. Richardson and Emroy P. Gra}', married Jan. 10, 1864.

C. T. Roe and Clara E. Manard, married July 21, 1864.

Henry Lampman and Helen M. Lundy, married Oct.lO, 1864. 2d
wife, Celora May Davis, m. 1870. 3d wife, Mrs. Ida Park-
ins, married April 15, 1894.

George D. Peck and Anna White, married Oct. 22, 1864.

J. W. Fisk and Sarah E. Rudy, married Dec. 3, 1864.

Sherman Aspland and Elizabeth McNutly, m. Jan. 1, 1865

John Webber and Susan Aplin, married March 7, 1865.
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Charles Brj'den and BulahE. Sharp, married June 23, 1865.

Kufus Baker and Seville V. Bartholomew, m. June 29, 1865.

Frank Alton and Permelia Kennell, married Dec. 10, 1865.

Koscoe Gammon and Clarinda M. Reynolds, m. Dec. 18, 1865.

2d wife, Mrs. Gertrude Wellington, m. Oct. 7, 1897.

Charles Hyatt and Drewey Smith, married April 10, 1866. 2d
wife. Mar}" Bacon, married Sept. 12, 1876.

H. A. Webber and Mrs. Sarah Kennedy, married June 26, 1866.

E. Smith Waite and Lucinda B. Robertson, m. Dec. 21, 1866.

O. T. Bartholomew and Mar^^Atwood, married Dec. 25, 1866.

George Gleasman and Sarah A. Lake, married Jan. 2, 1867.

W. H. Graves and Clara E. Farnsworth, married Jan. 21, 1867.

Chauncey Newton and Mar}' E. Towne, married Feb. 27, 1867.

John Watts and Esther Riley, married April 12, 1867.

C C. Coons and Rebecca Hunt, married June 13, 1867.

C. M. Crawford and Matilda J. Holdeman, m. Nov. 20, 1867.

N. B. Kincaid and Mrs. Ruth Curtess, married 1868. 2d wife,

Flora Parker, married Feb. 24, 1883.

Chauncey Wilmot and Amelia Keene}, married March 2, 1868.

E. J. Forrester and Salina R. Ranney, married Jul}' 6, 1868.

William H. Farmer and Alma Martin, married Oct. 15, 1868.

R. B. Meech and Alice H. Bentley, married Jan. 20, 1869.

Oscar Favor and Mary L. Bligh, married March 8, 1869.

Lorenzo D. Kincaid and Esther E. Taylor, m. March 12, 1869.

William Cowen and Helen M. Seaver, married April 29, 1869.

B. B. Hill and Lydia M. Kerr, married Aug, 10, 1869.

David Harper and Mrs. Rebecca Osgood, m. vSept. 7, 1869.

Dwight Talcott and Emily A. Robertson, m. Oct. 12, 1869.

James Aspland and Minnie Zinnerman, married Oct. 16, 1869.

J. J. Crawford and Minnie S. Young, married Oct. 21, 1869.

William Seaman and Hattie Smith, married Nov. 4, 1869.

H. J. Webber and Clara Piper, married Nov. 17, 1869.

A. A. Snyder and Cora Lee Stiles, married Nov. 18, 1869.

Martin Kelley and Ada Taylor, married March 18, 1870.

J. W. Hudson and Zelia A. Loonier, married May 14, 1870.

Arthur (r. Stiles and Alice Thayer, married July 9, 1870.

H. I). Hopkins and Hannah Moore, married Dec. 22, 1870.

T. H. Webber an<l Kethura Piper, married May 4, 1871.

H. B. Freed and Emma Royden, married June 28, 1871.

Peter Hanson and Katherine Philips, married July 28, 1871.

Oscar T. Stiles attd Emma Hardv, married Oct. 29, 1871.
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T. M. Carpenter and Ida L. Humphrey ni. 2d wife, Sophia C.

Martin, married June 20, 1877.

Daniel Fairchild and Diema Springer, married Feb. 11, 1873.

George \Y. Aspland aud Nancy Gifford, married Oct. 19, 1873.

R. C. Jenkins and Ada L. Cleinent, married Nov. 17, 1873.

John Q. Chatsey and Jane Carr, married Nov. 17, 1873.

A. E. Crawford and Mrs. Martha Smith, married Jul^^ 20, 1874.

S. Iv. Jenkins and Azuba Clute, married Nov. 11, 1874

R. C. Gridlej' and Nettie Briggs, married Nov. 24, 1875.

H. L. Baker and Mrs. Mary Reynolds, married F'eb. 19, 1876.

H. W. Young and Alta Comstock, married March 13. 1876.

Charles E. l^urdy and Josie Conner, married April 4, 1876.

Robert Bauch and Flora E. Springer, married April 22, 1876.

William Smith and Mrs. Melissa Rockwell, m. Maj' 15, 1876.

Albert E. Nichols and Clara Chase, married Sept. 30, 1876.

J. W. Armstrong and Martha C. Wishop, married Nov. 15, 1876.

William Forward and Alice Veness, married Nov. 23, 1876.

Frank R. Elej^ and Catherine M. Harsh, inatried Dec. 24, 1876.

William W. Comstock and Sarah Winsor, m. Feb. 15, 1877.

T. W. Graves and Frances Druj^nois, married April 21, 1877.

William H. Merrill and Sarah E. Cowen, married May 9, 1877.

Joseph Atwood and Lizzie Gleasman, married Sept. 5, 1877.

Edward Palmer and Ella Carr, married Nov. 19, 1877.

C. Pettibone and Emma Whipple, married Nov. 26, 1877.

James Crosby and Kate \'eness, married Jan. 17, 1878.

Frank Kent and Nettie Cowles, married Feb. 6, 1878.

William Kinsley and Sophia Peterson, married Feb. 14, 1878.

Charles F. Clover and \ iola D. Shores, married Feb. 21, 1878.

H. E. Clift and Bertha A. Newell, married April 4. 1878.

B. T. Ripley and Sarah L. Burdick, married April 16, 1878.

John Curry and Kate Hawkins, married May 12, 1878.

David N. Grant and Marietta Clark, married Oct. 11, 1878.

Charles E. Brown and Maggie Hart, married Feb. 4. 1879.

W. C. Loomerand Adeline L. Hart, married April 15, 1879.

E. O. Gridley and Hanora A. Wall, married April 22, 1879. He
married Flora U. Baker, April 10, 1889.

Nathan Sarver and Ella Fisher, married, July 3, 1879.

John Lighthart and Mar}- Boyle, married Dec. 31, 1879.

B. C. Truman and Rhoda Weed, married Feb. 26, 1880.

Hiram S. Baker and Sarah J. Thompson, married July 31, 1880

N. R. Comstock and Maggie Hickey, married Sept. 1, 1880.
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George \V. Conner and Hattie Merrill, married Sept. 30, 1880.

J. W. Sheppard and Mary D. Manning, married Dec. 25, 1880.

J. R. [ones and Kmma Stevens, married Dec. 29, 1880.

J. W. Forward and Annie Royden, married March 3, 1881.

Henr}' Knutson and Melissa h. Walker, married Sept. 3, 1881.

E. A. Bliss and Mary Kimball, married Sept. 22, 1881.

Calender Jessnp and Caroline Packard, married Oct. 12, 1881.

Charles E. Shufelt and Nettie M. Jones, married Nov. 30, 1881.

2d wife, Fannie Lally, married Sept. 26, 1887.

William Osborn and AUie McCue. married Feb. 28, 1882.

F. J. Bentley and Clara Hunt, married March 7, 1882.

Elmer Kenned}^ and Mary J. Hurell, married June 27. 1882.

J. E. Wooler}^ and Mariette Stickler, married Aug. 9, 1882.

Clinton Fisher and Ella Malone, married Aug. 20, 1882.

Quincy A. Curtess and Anna M. CoUer, married Aug. 30, 1882.

Alfred Hull and Mrs. Mary Chapman, married Oct. 1882.

J. A. Darcus and Jennie Wallace, married Nov. 7, 1882.

H. F. Stevens and Mary Baron, married Dec. 25, 1882.

Charles H. Osgood and Mary A. Murray, married Dec. 31, 1882.

Jaiues A. Merrill and Minnie Comstock, married Ma3' 29, 1883.

Clinton J. Lester and Flora Shible}', married Nov. 15, 1883.

Tohn P. Butler and Alice Hogan, married Nov. 28, 1883.

E. A. Damon and Mar}- S. Griffith, married June 11, 1884.

W. M. Axe and Alice Hunt, married April 13. 1885.

Lloyd E. Veness and Jessie Smith, married Ma}- 7, 1885.

Edward Shotlift and Lena Ellis, married Ma\ 20. 1885.

O. A. Anderson and Melva McConnell, married June 27, 1885.

Patrick Wall and Mary Hennesy, married June 29, 1885.

George Curr}^ and Kate Smith, married Sept. 29. 1885. 2d wife

Kittie Hennesy, married Oct. 28, 1891.

Cliarles W. Clarage and Athalia E. Jenison, m. Jan. 27, 1886.

Edgar Austin and Nellie Richardson, married Feb. 1886.

B. E. Collins and Hattie CJuinn, married April 30, 1886.

N. S. Kocker and Grace Benton, married >hiy 14, 1886.

C. E. Phelps and Nettie G. Trimmer, married Sept. 10. 1886.

Chnrles E. Cooper antl Antui Wilford. married Sept. 16. 188(5.

W. C. H< llister and Carrie Coller, married Oct. 12. 1886.

G. W. Martin and Lizzie Winsor. married Oct. 13. 1886.

Eugene Helmer and I^Iiza Aspland. married Oct. 19. 1886.

J. R. Rummeil and l{va J. Sprague, married Nov. 18, 1886.

W. H.Phelps and Cora D. Crandall, married Jan. 26. 18S7.
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Fred M. Coons and M. Etta Bordner, married Feb. 16, 1887.

Charles Taylor and Anna L. Benton, married June 23, 1887.

M. H. Cornell and Cora Stickler, married June 23, 1887.

. Leonard Newell and Nellie Wall, married July 2, 1887,

W. W. Weld and Arneta C. Loveless, married Aug. 12, 1887.

Frank Clover and Mabel Crawford, married Sept. 15, 1887.

Thomas Stickler, jr.,and Abbie Hendee, married, Oct. 11, 1887

Rev; R. C. Bedford and Mrs. Sarah Comstock, m. Oct. 13, 1887.

James Aspland, 2d, and Maggie Kelley, inarried Jan. 1, 1888.

Leander Jordan and Adie Wilford, married May 22, 1888.

William R. Webber and Maggie Westlake, married Oct. 4, 1888

Edgar I. Carr and Mary A. Glover, married Feb. 17, 1889.

Adren Loveless and Victoria Kincaid, married Sept. 25, 1889.

Leland Fisk and Anna O'Brien, married Sept. 25, 1889. 2d wife

May Snyder, married Oct. 11, 1898.

William Ellis, and Carrie Chatse3^ married Sept. 27, 18S9.

Willis B. Carr and Sophia Wilford, married Nov. 11, 1889.

Asa Peck and Ellen Cozzens, married Dec. 25, 1889.

S. S. Brown and Debbie Fisk, married Dec. ol, 1889.

G. D. Cooper and Jennie Shears, married Feb. 19, 1890.

Dr. C.'L. Sutherland and Susie Thomas, married Sept. 4, ISCO

Neil D. Hough and Marj' Morrison, married Oct. 14, 1890.

G. F. Graves and Clara A. Douglas, married Oct. 26, 1890.

Fred Chatsey and Dora Shamiour, married Feb. 27, 1891.

Frank Benton and C3"nthia Shears, married Aug. 20, 1891.

George Houston and Alta. Clover, married Sept. 24, 1891.

Nathanael Manley and Emeline A. H3'de, married Oct. 20, 1891

John Ta^dor and Mar^^ Seaverson, married Dec. 24, 1891.

Lewis L. Briggs and Jessie M. Hart, inarried June 30, 1892.

Frank Aspland and Nellie Chatse3^ married Feb. 4, 1893.

Frank H. Cooper and Mar3' T. Westlake, married March 20, 1893

E. J. Pollock and Addie E. Norris, married June 15, 1893.

Willis G. Stevens and Editli O. Bootli, married June 15, 1893.

Fred Mellen and Grace Austin, married Aug. 8, 1893.

William Butler and Josephine Morrison, married Sept. 21, 1893

Arden Liddle and Nora Chatse3^ married Sept. 21, 1893.

Orville B. Houston and Nellie Smith, married Oct. 5, 1893.

Rev. W. B. Doble and Mina Gleasman, married Nov. 30, 1893.

W. C. Webster and Mabel C. Coons, married F^eb. 28, 1894.

W^. V. Graves and Amy Brown, married Ma3^ 29, 1894.

Charles A. Stevens and Delia Forrester, married Aug. 1, 1894,
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Albert D. Harper and Bertha Partch, married Sept. 14, 1894.

Frank Newell and Lula J. Wright, married Nov. 21, 1894.

Merritt H. Carr and Phebie M. Jenkins, married Dec. 24, 1894.

Charles Kelley and Rose Aspland, married April 18, 1895.

Abraham Mendelsohm and Hattie L. McKa^', m. Aug. 7, 1895.

Thomas R. Harper and Hannah M. Christson,m. Sept. 12, 1895

H. E. Erdahl and Maud Carpenter, married Ma^^ 6, 1896.

E. W. Houston and Anna J. Watts, married Ma^^ 20, 1896.

Harry Kocker and Maud Brown, married June 4, 1896.

Edward Jenkins and Mary E. Kocker, married July 22, 1896.

W. P. Loveless and Jessie C. Morehouse, married Oct. 19, 1896

Luther Hopkins and Eva Cowen, married Nov. 26. 1896.

Charles Griswold and Hattie Lampman, married Dec. 24, 1896

Amos A. Loveless and Minnie Wintz, married Dec. 25, 1896.

Fred Forrester and Susie Loveless, married Jan. 3, 1897.

Edward M. Lone and Fannie Bentley, married June 8, 1897.

William A. Taylor and Carrie E. Ide, married June 15, 1897.

E. S. Waite, jr., and Mattie Holmes, married Oct. 14, 1897.

William Trimmer and Belle Wilford, marrietl Oct. 22, 1897.

Frank Forrester and Kittie Dean, married Nov. 17, 1897.

Alanson Griswold and Ida Black, married Nov. 24, 1897.

Gust Gnakow and Lizzie Stevenson, married Jan. 1, 1898.

Charles Seigle and Flora Ellis, married Feb. 23, 1898.

George D. Mood^-and Lucy A. Crandall, married Feb. 24, 1898.

Jay Liddle and Maud Webber, married Feb. 25, 1898.

John Rosander and Nellie Palmer, married March 28, 1898.

George Gleasman and Lillian J. Wilder, married June 8, 1898.

George Osborn and Fannie Pennock, married Aug. 18, 1898.

William Cowen and Olie Toal, married Sept. 22, 1898.

Warren H. Gleasman and Nellie Johnson, married Sept. 25, 1898

Oeorge Baker and Anna May Gillen, married Nov. 24, 1898.

Arland M. Randall and Nellie Meech, married Dec 7, 1898,

GoLDKx Weddings.

Mr. and MrsAVilliam M. Thomas, celebrated Nov. 13, 1878.

Mr. and Mrs. William Web])er, celebrated May 3, 1882.

Mr. and Mrs. Sylvester Bartholomew, celebrated June 11, 1885.

Mr. and Mrs. Henry S. Austin, celebrated Nov. 10, 1885.

Mr. and Mrs. David Carpenter, celebrated March 7, 1886.

Mr. and Mrs. E. L. Stiles, celebrated June 16. 1891.

Mr. and Mrs. R. D. L. Montanye, celebrated Feb. 14, 1893.
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Mr. and Mrs. Edwin Martin, celebrated Jan. 1, 1896.

Mr. and Mrs. William Halley, celebrated Dec. 4, 1896.

Mr. and Mrs. Jonah Forward, celebrated Jan. 6, 1898.

Mr. and Mrs. William A. Phelps, celebrated Jan. 13, 1898.

Deaths.

Thomas Parker, died April 10, 1868, aged 47 years.

William Coons, died March 26, 1877,

Abbie Fletcher, died Dec. 11, 1877.

Mary Jessup, died in Polo. May 6, 1878.

John Gleasman, died August 12. 1878.

Jesse F. Stevens, died Sept. 11, 1878, aged 47 years.

Edward Collier, died April 18, 1880, killed in a cj^clone.

Allen Bingham, died Jul}' 19, 1880,

E. W. Gitchell, died August 13. 1880.

Mary Mallams, died Feb. 20, 1881.

Robert Spencer, killed b}" the cars, Feb. 22, 1881.

Mrs. Sarah Craige died Dec. 17, 1881.

Edgar J. Davis, died Februar}^ 1882.

Ella Curtess, died Angus 10, 1884.

Robert Mallams, died Feb. 14, 1887.

Mrs. Flora Lester, died June 17, 1888.

Mrs. Mary DeLee, died March 9, 1889.

John Webb, died August 1, 1889.

Alard D. Carr, died August 13, 1889.

H. W. Harvey, died Dec. 2, 1889.

Fred Truman, died Sept. 15. 1890.

Charles Stiles, died Nov. 3, 1890.

Irena Carr, died Januar^^ 4, 1891.

Clarence J. Lester, died April 4, 1891.

Mrs. George Hyde, died Jan. 14, 1892.

George Hyde, died Jan. 19, 1892.

George Benton, died Jan. 24. 1892.

H. H. Hehner, died Dec. 30, 1892.

Cyreuus Boone, died Jan. 8, 1893.

Mrs. T. Dickerson, died Jan. 9, 1893.

Mrs. Cooper, died Jan. 18, 1893.

David S. Butler, died May 3, 1894.

Mrs. Mary A. Carr, died Sept. 4. 1894.

Rev. James M. Coulee, died July 17, 1895.

Mrs. Mary 1). Thavcr, died August 13, 1895.
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James S. Withee, died Feb. 8, 1896.

Mrs. Amanda Hamilton, died Feb. 1896.

Frank Liddle, died Feb. 12, 1896.

Charles H. Talcott, died July 17, 1896.

Rev. I. F. Pettibone, died March 8, 1897.

Mrs. James King, died May 8, 1897.

George Johnson, died July 31, 1897.

Henry Sprague, died Dec. 1, 1897.

Miss M. E. Pettibone, died March 14, 1898.

Bert Veness, died June 7, 1898.

Fires ix Rocktox.

Feb. 21, 1876—Bradner, Smith &: Go's paper mill.

April 20, 1877—Thomas H. Webber's dwelling house.

March 25, 1878—Keene}' paper mill run by Booth & Hinman.
April 2o. 1879—Gowles & Gates rye mill.

March 23, 1885—-Cong'l parsonage caught on fire.

June 17, 1886— Old depot burned,

Juh' 16, 1886—Part of Keene^^'s mill burned.

August 23, 1886—\Vm. Cowen's house occupied b}' Dr. Lovesee
Augut 10, 1888—John Feakins' flouring mill,

Sept. 13. 1888—Axe's machine shop burned.

Feb. 19, 1889—A. D. Bliss' house burned,
August 6, 1889—D. Newell's house burned.
Sept. 1, 1893—Webbber's grist mill and fanning mill shop brn'd

Sept. 17, 1893—Andrew Bingham's house caught on fire.

Nov. 8, 1893—John Veness' barn burned.
March 14, 1895—Dr. Waite's house burned.
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C. F. Chamberlain 114

H. N. Chapman 113

Alonzo F. Chase 90

James E. Chase 90

John Clover 81

John J. Clover 14(5

Garritt Clute 141

R. H. Comstock 12, 57

Calvin Comstock 56

Ansel Comstock 59

N. R. Comstock 145

W. W. Comstock 1.53

Cong'l church 117-121

H. W. Conklin 34, 52

M. Connor 106

T. M. Coons 22, 64, 81-82

C. C. Coons 136

F. M. Coons .

^ 148



HISTORY OF KOCKTOX. 187

Count of Honor
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Robert Penman 43

J. B. Peterson 36, 45, 78

Dea. Lunian Pettibone 28, 71

Dorus Pettibone 101

Dean M. Pettibone 115

Mr. Peters 72

Benjamin Phillips 46

John Piper 46

E. Powell 144

Dr. N. F. Prentice 93

Miles Prentice 93

Frank Prentice 93

Railroad bonds 108

Alonzo Rice 85

Gen. Wni. Richardson 110

C. B. Richardson 113

Rockton seminary 88

Rockton lawyers 113

Rockton ph3'sicians 113

Rockton soldiers 129-134

Rockton Gazette 117

Rockton Veterans 135

Rockton Cemeterj'^ 116

Rockton Lime Kiln 155

Rev. C. T. Roe 143

S. Rosebaum 106

George Royden 98

W C Royden 153

Rev. George Rndd 31

Nathaniel Rndd 77

Capt. H. T. Ruger 36

Alonzo Sackett 94

ETisha Sackett 94

J. L. Sharp 80

James Shaw 126

Henry Shibley 111

Shoe Factory 101

Aaron Shores 63, 91

William Shores 62

Orvis Shnrtleft 91

R. C. Smith
Ralph vSmith

Dr. Smith
\Vm, Smith
George Smith

47, 155

93

104

148

105

Soldiers buried in cemetery 134

Soldiers of Cuban war 135

G. W. Springer 116

i Dudley Spurling 92

C. B. Spurling
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Town officers
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—Dealers in—

Ory ©oods, ©roe^iries, Soots, §)ho6.8

Wall Paper, Crocliery and Glassware.

J|@°"A11 Goods guaranteed, and Prices the lowest made.

JE<OCIi:TOIV, ILL*?;,

GEORGE ROYDEN,
Dealkk tx

Our TEAS, COFFEES and SPICES cannot be beat.

Also a splendid line of Cigars and Tobacco. Our motto is to

sell the Best Goods at the Lowest Possible Prices. Call on us

and see for yourselves.

B.0C1ST01T, ILLS.

s ^^ n:>s,

Akk Rkliable Dealers ix

fiardv^are:, ©ram A]^ Cive Stoei^.

Garland Stoves their line.

Motto: ^'Eveuything Kight."

H . ¥. BAKER, ~
IXSUIMXCE.

J'^epresents First Class Companies. K'ates Right.

KocUton, 111^.
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Houston Bkothrks,
—Dealers in

—

^::^©roe6:rie8, Saii^cry ©oods,^^^
Smoked and Salt Meats, Tobacco and Cigars,

and Fine Confectionery.

Fresh Fruit and Vegetables in season. All kinds of Farm
Produce taken in exchange. The celebrated ''Jersey Lil}'/'

Flour a specialty. James' Building, south side Main street,

JE^^OCIiTOTV. ILLS?;,

~E^^.^WAITeTJZ
J)eai.er IX

HARDWARE, STOVES AND TINWARE.
Paints and Oils, Steel Roofing and Woven

Wire Feiniciug.

B-OCHTO^, ILI-S.

• B. H
Dealer in

HrlRNESS anS SrlDDLE5,
And all kinds of Horse Furnishing Goods, also Machine Oil

Kerosene and Gasolene.

J. A. Darcus,
Dealer in

^;^(^arriage5 and Baggi6.8,^^
A.lso W'ttg-ons for* sSale-

GENERAL BLACKSMITHING.
ll^ua']£.ioxt$i lUg.
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R. A. THONPSON,
—AVII.L SELT< YOU

—

©roeeiries, frovisions, ^lotions,

Etc., Etc.

At Low Prices-

Kockton, Ills.

GEOKGE ELLIS,

BLACKSMITHING
-AM>-

Wagon and (^airriage Worlds.

JROCIiTOIV. ILLJ!^,

CUSTOM FEED MILLS.
Feed Ground on Short Notice.

Flour and Feed on Sale at Mill.

H. P. JOHNSON,

H. A. WEBBER,
MainifjicturtT of

llii^ UVhlMM* Coiiibiiiatidii

^ii^ic Sieve (irniii niMl Soeil

Si'|iariil<ir.

For scparatiiii:' ():its I'i-oim Icirlcy luitl

wlit-at.

IMXK'I'i ).\. II.I.S.
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Meat Market.
A Good Supply of Fresh and vSalt Meats

always on hand. Give them a call.

E. J. COLE,

Homeopathic 'Physician and Surgeon.*

Residence on Center street at the Robertson Homestead.

S. L. JENKINS,

fTire:, I^ightning and ^ornado

IlTS"CrR.iilTOE iiCEITT.

Office with Bradner, Smith & Co.,

JE^OCI^TOIV, ILLS,

G

£:@t£i.l3li@lxec3. ±X3. 1875.

Published by Edsoii 1. Carr,

Hoclstoxi, Ills.
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E. J. Pollock & Co,

SHELF HARDWARE.
JE^OCI^TOIV. ILL!!^,

C. BENTLEY,

AND

COLLECTING AGENT.
Office North Side of Main Street.

HiOClstozi, Ills.

C, M, CRAWFORa
o^c> f CI J Tk^ n I i lilt nc|, GFCor.^c.^hocinq,

cm b (?j c n c c ci I c^\ c p ci i t i n c|

All Worl< Promptly Done.

"S. P. JENISON^

POLICE MAGISTRATE,
NOTARY PUBLIC,

AND

(^olleetmg Agent.
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O. T. Bartholomew, Rockton, Ills.

•^"s

;^ ^^^ ^^ ..^" .- ^^•

e)^ A ^ ^o Ji? ^

HEAD QUARTERS FOR
Thorough-bred Registered Poland China

Swine.

^^ Ten Varieties of Prize-Winning
/c .^^ Land and Wat er Fowls.

^J^^ B. H. LIDDLE,
^^-^^IP^M Oak Lawn Stock Farm.^ ROCKTON, ILLS.

EDWARD PALMER,
Painting and

faper {hanging.

DAVID HUDSON & SON,

BLACKSMITHS.
Horse Slioeiiig a Specialty.

Xloclstoxi, Ills.



HISTORY OF ROCKTON. 197

E. LIPMAN,
Dealer in

iDry ©oods, Sili^s and (Carpets.
One of the Oldest Dr}' Goods Ho ses in Beloit.

Established in i88i.

West Bridge Street,

Beloit, Wis.

GEO. H. CRAM
IS THE

of BELOIT, WIS.

GIVE HIM A CALL.

Beloit, Wisconsin.

\3r^S3 Goods SlOcA ,S\\V<3.

A. L. HOWARD,
The Jeweler

and Optician,

State Street, Beloit, Wisconsin.
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BORT, BAILEY & CO.,
-Dealers in

—

Ksttil^llshed in ISSO.

—THE—

OF

Beloit, Wis.

CORNELIUS BUCKLEY.

(^oansellor at X^aw,

Beloit, Wisconsin.

Keeler Lumber Co.,
Dealers in

Lumber, Coal, Lime, Cement, Brick, Etc,

Yards at

BELOIT, and ROCKTON.
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H. H. WALDO, ~
Boof(5-e{''fer and .^i'atioi:'er.

Dealer in

RocKFORD, Ills.

WHEN IN WANT OF

-Shoes-
CALL ON

X^oa. :f^aQbenhe.ime:r,

One of the Largest Stocks in Soutliern Wisconsin.

Beloit,

Cunningham Brothf:hs,

(^ontraetors

and Sciilders,

AND MAXUFACTURERS OF

Doors, Sash, Blinds, Mouldings and all kinds of wood wor

Beloit, Wisconsin.

DAUGHERmUVM
Beloit, - Wisconsin.

Always First OlfLss Livery Rigs.

Stables at West End St. Paul Avenue



200 HISTORY OF ROCKTON.

Gof3er2 Eagfe Gfotfimcj Hoajse

Beloit, Wis.

Established in i88i.

EDWIN KINSLEYT
Manufacturer of

All >\ind5 of (^arriage.5.

Panneled Top Delivery Wagons a

Specialty-

Beloit, Wisconsin.

L. W. LYMAN,
Dealer in

^^ V^aLrAovj Orvj Goods.
I3eloit, - Wis.

U. S. Clothing House,
On. th.e Bridge,

BEliOIT, WIS.
M. REITLER & CO.,

I*i*<>prietoi*s.
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